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JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The United States of America appeals from judgments

entered on September 12, 2023, in the United States District Court for

the Eastern District of New York (Chen, J.), granting the motions of

defendants Hernén Lopez ("Lopez") and Full Play Group, S.A. ("Fu11

Play") for judgments of acquittal pursuant to Rule 29 of the Federal Rules

of Criminal Procedure. (SGA:1-55).l

The district court had subject-matter jurisdiction pursuant to

18 U.S.C. § 3231. The government filed timely notices of appeal on

September 22, 2023. (DE:202'7-28). This Court has jurisdiction pursuant

to 18 U.S.C. § 3731.

"SGA," "GA," "DE," ccTo'Q" "GX," "LX," and "MX" refer to the
government's special appendix, the government's appendix, entries on
the district court's docket, the trial transcript, the government's trial
exhibits, Lopez's trial exhibits, and co-defendant Carlos Martinez's trial
exhibits, respectively.

1
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3

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Whether the district court erred when, following the jury's

guilty verdicts on Counts Nine and Twenty-One of the Third Superseding

Indictment, it entered a judgment of acquittal in favor of Lopez pursuant

to Rule 29 on the ground that the statute prohibiting honest-services wire

fraud does not encompass a conspilratolr's misuse of the U.S. financial

system to defraud an international nonprofit organization-of which all

member countries agreed to a code of conduct prohibiting bribery-

through bribery of the organization's fiduciaries?

Whether the district court erred when, following the jury's

guilty verdicts on Counts Nine, Twenty-One, Twenty-Seven to Twenty-

Nine, and Thirty-Six of the Third Superseding Indictment, it entered a

judgment of acquittal in favor of Full Play on the same ground?
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STATEMENT OF THE CASE

As described in detail below, Lopez, an American media

executive of American media conglomerate Twenty-First Century FOX

("Fox"), worked with middlemen to secretly pay millions of dollars in

bribes to more than a dozen South American soccer executives to secure

for FOX lucrative broadcasting rights to South America's most popular

annual soccer tournament. Two of those middlemen were the owners of

Lopez's corporate co-defendant, Argentine sports marketing company

Full Play. While paying bribes on Fox's behalf, Full Play was also bribing

those same soccer executives and others, including soccer executives

representing a U.S.-based organization, to secure for Full Play other

valuable media rights. Full Play, Lopez, and their co-conspiirators paid

these bribes using U.S. wire transfers of U.S. currency sent through U.S.

banks, which wires were integral to the scheme.

Although the soccer executives were explicitly bound by the

universal documented agreement of the many national federations

belonging to their governing organizations not to accept bribes, they

secretly accepted the defendants' money. exchange, the executivesIn

took various steps that disadvantaged Fox's and Full Play's
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competitors-many of which were U.S. companies-and financially and

reputationally harmed the executives' organizations.

Lopez and Full Play knew they were prohibited from paying

bribes to the soccer executives. Fox's own policies put Lopez on notice

that paying commercial bribes to others was a crime. Full Play's owners

were recorded acknowledging the risk of U.S. criminal enforcement

because the bribes were, in their words, "black" money. Accordingly, both

defendants endeavored to conceal their conduct, and their coverup efforts

grew increasingly sophisticated once they learned that the U.S.

Department of Justice was investigating corruption in international

soccer.

Following a two-month trial in which the government

proved these facts and more-and during which neither defendant

contested that millions of dollars had been paid to numerous soccer

executives-a jury convicted Lopez and Full Play of honest-services wire

fraud and money laundering conspiracies for their roles in these years-

long bribery schemes.

A few months after their convictions, and without full

briefing, the district court acquitted both defendants on the ground that,
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as a matter of law, the honest-services wire fraud statute can never

encompass what the court described as "foreign commercial bribery"-

that is, bribing a foreign employee of a foreign employer. The basis for

its holding was purported "signaling" from the Supreme Court in two

post-verdict opinions that reversed the affirmance of factually distinct,

domestic, public-sector wire fraud convictions: Ciminelli V. United

States, 598 U.S. 306 (2023), and Percoco V. United States, 598 U.S. 319

(2023).

As discussed below, that was error. This case involves an

expressly documented binding obligation on the executives and

employees of an organization with substantial U.S. ties and activities-

agreed to by members from over 200 different countries-not to accept

bribes. The district court (i) disregarded, or did not apply, precedential

case law, including this Coulrt's previous decision rejecting a Rule 29

sufficiency-of-the-evidence challenge made on near-identical grounds in

the same case, (ii) rooted its decision in a misreading of a single sentence

in Percoco, (iii) failed to recognize the existence of precedential bribery

prosecutions involving analogous fact patterns, and (iv) failed to construe

the proven trial facts in the light most favorable to the government, as
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required on a Rule 29 motion. Accordingly, the Court should vacate the

judgments of acquittal as to Lopez and Full Play, reinstate the jury

verdicts as to Lopez and Full Play, and remand for further proceedings.
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STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. Summary of the Corrupt Schemes Proven at Trial

A. Introduction

Lopez and Full Play participated in a years-long conspiracy to

bribe some of the most powerful men in international soccer, using U.S.

wires, to obtain lucrative media rights to the world's most popular sport.

(GA:132-45). The media rights for soccer tournaments were owned by

nonprofit soccer organizations but controlled by a small number of

powerful men who formed the organizations' executive teams. (GA:82-

85, 148-55, 158-59, 174-75). Rather than selling these rights in a fair and

free market to the highest bidder as the organizations expected, the

corrupt soccer executives accepted bribes from the defendants, enriching

themselves personally at the expense of the organizations they were

duty-bound to serve. (GA:1'73-'75, 221-22, 306-08). Indeed, all the

member countries' soccer federations belonging to these organizations

agreed to an ethical code prohibiting bribery. (GA:94-96, 117, 1333 at

A1rt.1, 1336, 1398, 1444, 1640-2224). The defendants' actions benefitted

themselves and the companies on whose behalf they were paying bribes,
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while stymieing legitimate market competition and corrupting the sport.

(4, GA:309-15).

Lopez's and Full Play's conduct was a slice of a much larger,

decades-long, global scheme to corrupt the sport of soccer through bribery

using the U.S. financial system, for which over thirty participants have

pleaded guilty or been convicted at trial of federal crimes. (GA:1-71, 171-

73). For their conduct, Lopez and Full Play were convicted at trial of wire

fraud and money laundering conspiracies. (DE:19(-34). Specifically, Lopez

and Full Play were convicted of engaging in a scheme to bribe soccer

executives for the media rights to the Cope Libertadores, the most

popular annual soccer tournament in South America. ( , GA:153-55,

211-15, 219-22). In addition, Full Play was convicted of engaging in

schemes to bribe soccer executives for the media rights to the Copa

América (an international quadrennial tournament that included a

special edition played in the United States), World Cup qualifier

matches, and international friendly matches. (DE:1964, GA:203-04, 357-

60, 464-68).

As described below, domestic conduct was at the heart of the

defendants' criminal conduct. Lopez, a U.S. citizen, worked on behalf of
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a U.S. company, and relied on foreign intermediaries to handle secret,

corrupt payments that benefitted him and his company. Full Play, a

foreign entity, engaged in business in the United States, working with

U.S. co-conspirators to obtain media rights for soccer matches, many of

which were played in the United States, and relied on the strength and

stability of the U.S. financial system to achieve its criminal ends. In

addition, Lopez, Full Play's principals, and their co-conspiiratoirs met in

the United States, traveled to and from the United States, conducted

business in the United States, maintained bank accounts in the United

States, and aimed to generate profits from the sale of commercial rights

in the United States, all in furtherance of, and essential to, the charged

schemes.

B. Relevant Entities and Individuals

1. The Defendants

a. Lopez

Lopez is an American citizen who resides in Los Angeles,

California. (GA:480, 498). Until 2016, he was a top executive at FOX,

running its Latin American division until he was promoted to run Fox's

entire international division. (GAA98, 709, 712-13, 721-22).
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Although Lopez was not responsible for sports content (which

a separate FOX division handled) (GA:'715-20), he recognized the value of

having exclusive rights to live soccer matches when selling an American

cable channel in South America (GAA99-502, 723, 2277-80, LX-40, LX-

40A). Lopez thus inserted himself into that segment of Fox's business,

which was a joint venture called T&T Sports Marketing, Ltd. and CO-

owned by FOX and an Argentine sports media company (the "FOX Joint

Ventulre") (GA:156-56, 159-62, 287-88, 503-20, 2277-87, 2292-96, 2298-

303), used his high positions at FOX and on the Board of the Fox Joint

Venture to perpetuate and protect the FOX Joint Venture's established

practice of bribing soccer executives for soccer media rights (GA:131-37,

238, 247-52, 261-62, 264, 281-85, 524-25), and used the relationships

cemented through the bribery to grow Fox's business and catapult his

own career (GA:188-40, 239-44, 278-80, 289-90, 294-96, 350-56, 2305-11,

2326-2337).

b. Full Play

Full Play is a private sports marketing company based in

Argentina owned by father-son duo Hugo and Mariano Jinkis. (GA:140).

Full Play bribed top soccer executives from certain South American
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countries and leveraged those corrupt relationships to increase its

market power and enrich its owners. (GA:2l5-18, 358-60, 445-47, 1022-

46, 1177-99, 2451). Though based in Argentina, Full Play conducted

business and banked in the United States, including, as described further

below, by holding meetings in the United States, doing deals with U.S.

companies, owning the media rights to soccer matches held in the United

States, and organizing an international soccer tournament held in

stadiums across the United States. (GA:1054-139, 1200, GX-518C).

The Defendants' Co-Conspirators

The defendants worked with numerous co-conspirators in

2.

their bribery schemes, including employees of the Argentine sports media

company Torneos y Competencias ("Tolrneos"), which co-owned the FOX

Joint Venture (GA:160-62, 173-'74, 487-88, 2253), employees of Full Play

(GA:445-47), employees of FOX (GA:281-85), and the soccer executives

who accepted the bribes and, in exchange, promised to and did take

actions benefitting the Fox Joint Venture and Full Play (GA:135, 144,

211-15, 535-37).

Many of the defendants' co-conspiratoirs testified at trial,

including Toirneos' former Chief Executive Officer, Alejandro Buirzaco,
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the bookkeeper of the FOX Joint Venture, Jose Eladio Rodriguez, who kept

a secret bribe ledger, Full Play's Chief Financial Officer, Santiago PeNa,

who kept a separate secret bribe ledger, and the former President of the

Colombian soccer federation, Luis Bedoya, who was one of the executives

paid millions of dollars in bribes by both the FOX Joint Venture and Full

Play (GA:221-22, 535-37).

FIFA and its Constituent Organizations

The Fédération Internationale de Football Association

3.

("FIFA") is the international body governing organized soccer. (GA:82-

83). FIFA is a nonprofit entity registered under Swiss law and

headquartered in Zurich, Switzerland. (Id.). FIFA is composed of more

than 200 member associations, each representing organized soccer in a

particular nation or territory, including the United States and four of its

overseas territories. (GA:84). FIFA hosts and owns the rights to the

wolrld's most popular televised event, the World Cup, which is played

every four years and features teams from across the globe. (GA:10l-02).

FIFA has greater international participation than the United Nations,

thus imbuing its executives with an amount of global power and influence

equaled in many countries only by governmental officials and royalty.
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(GA:129-30, 148). As a condition of membership in FIFA, all of FIFA's

member countries agreed that they, and their soccer executives, would

be bound by FIFA's statutes and code of ethics, thus unifying the

international soccer world under a common set of governing rules.

(GA:92-99, 110, 1726-809).

FIFA first instituted a written code of ethics in 2004, which it

periodically updates. (GA:110-11, 127-28, 1829-483). The code governed

the conduct of soccer "offlicials," defined by the FIFA statutes to include

executives of FIFA, its continental confederations, and member

associations. (GA:94-96, 1333 at Art. 1, 1640-2224). The code prohibited

officials, such as these executives, from accepting bribes or otherwise

abusing their positions for personal gain. (GA:113-22, 1336, 1398, 1444).

Soccer executives owed a duty of "absolute loyalty" to FIFA, among other

fiduciary duties. (GA:114-15, see GA:1336, 1397, 1441). The code was

translated into multiple languages and distributed annually. (GA:9'7,

112-13, 562-63).

Each of FIFA's member associations was also a member of one

of the six continental confederations, including the Confederacién

Sudamericana de Flitbol ("CONMEBOL"), which is the South American
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soccer confederation, and the Confederation of North, Central American,

and Caribbean Association Football ("CONCACAF"), which was

headquartered in the United States during the scheme and of which the

U.S. Soccer Federation is a prominent member. (GA:84-85, 1047-53).

Under FIFA's statutes: (a) no association could become a member of FIFA

without first joining one of the six confederations, and (b) the

confederations had certain rights and obligations, including compliance

with and enforcement of FIFA's ethics code. (GA:125-26, 1640-2224).

Many of FIFA's constituent entities also instituted their own

ethics codes, modeled after the FIFA code. For example, in 2013,

CONMEBOL adopted a code that, among other things, prohibited bribery

and corruption. (GA:563-64, 2233 at Art. 21). The CONMEBOL code

unambiguously stated that "[t]he persons subject to this code must act

with absolute loyalty, particularly to CONMEBOL, FIFA, the

confederations, the associations, the leagues and the clubs." (GA:567,

2231 at Art. 15). These regional codes augmented and reiterated, but

expressly did not replace, the duties imposed by FIFA on the constituent

executives. (GA:563, 2229 at Art. 5 § 1).



Case: 23-7183, 01/02/2024, DktEntry: 36.1, Page 26 of 160

16

The six continental confederations worked closely with FIFA

and one another to organize international soccer competitions:

O CONMEBOL organized the Copa América tournament for the
region's men's national teams (and non-CONMEBOL teams
invited to participate) and the Copa Libertadores tournament
for the region's men's club teams. (GA:100-01, 211).

O CONMEBOL and CONCACAF jointly organized a special
edition of the Copa América to commemorate its centennial,
the Copa America Centenario (the "Centenalrio"), which was
played in the United States in 2016. (GA:540-41).

O The six confederations organized World Cup qualifier
matches, in which countries' teams qualified to compete in the
World Cup. (GA:463).

O National associations also worked together to organize
exhibition soccer matches between national or club teams,
known as "friendlies." (GA:463). Friendlies took place in
venues throughout the United States, as well as in other
locations worldwide. (GA:2257).

Such tournaments and games were and are tremendously valuable,

especially for entities that secure the rights to market their coverage.

(GA:104'7-53, 1200, 2305-11).

FIFA, CONCACAF, CONMEBOL, and their individual

member federations typically executed contracts with sports marketing

companies to commercialize the media and marketing rights to soccer

events, including those described above. (GA:15'7-59, 203-04, 356, 736-
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1021, 2254-56). The companies either sold these rights to television and

radio broadcast networks, sponsors, and licensees, or-as in Fox's case-

broadcast the games on their own channels, making money through the

sale of advertisements or cable subscriptions. (GA:157-58, 166, 181-89,

473-'79, 1054-139). The billions of dollars in revenue generated by the

commercialization of the soccer media and marketing rights constituted

an essential source of revenue for the soccer organizations and sports

marketing companies, and the United States had an increasingly

important and lucrative market for the commercialization of these rights.

(4, GA:10'7-08, 231-32, 460-64, 544-45, 588-89, 1200, 1484-639).

C. The Defendants' Roles in the Schemes

The practice of bribing soccer executives for market

advantage stretched back decades and predated both defendants'

involvement in the schemes. (GA:171). As described below, the evidence

proved that both defendants knowingly and intentionally joined in the

corruption and used it to gain power and influence and to enrich

themselves.
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Full Play

Full Play wedged its way into the South American soccer

a.

industry in the mid-2000s by developing corrupt relationships with six

soccer executives. (GA:203-04, 465-66). These presidents came from

historically underdog soccer countries: Paraguay, Bolivia, Columbia,

Venezuela, Peru, and Ecuador (i.e., presidents not from Brazil,

Argentina, or Uruguay). (GA:212).

Initially, Full Play bribed these six presidents-known as the

"Group of Six"-in exchange for their selling Full Play the media rights

to their respective federations' World Cup qualifiers and friendlies.

(GA:203-04, 1177-99, 2451). Full Play paid bribes in U.S. dollars and

opened nominee U.S. bank accounts to send the money to the presidents,

including using wire transfers that traveled through the Eastern District

of New York. (GAA53, 480, 1237-38, see also GX-518B, GX-508B, GX-

511C). Many of the friendlies to which Full Play procured rights by

bribery were played in the United States, including in the New York

metro area. (E.g., GA:1177-99, 2451 (recording bribes for various friendly

matches using code names for the Group of Six members), GA:225'7
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(noting several Columbian friendlies played in Red Bull Arena in

Harrison, New Jelrsey)).

Based on these corrupt relationships, Full Play moved onto

bigger tournaments. (GA:457-58). Although it held no rights to the Cope

Libertadores, Full Play positioned itself as a middleman between the

Group of Six and the Fox Joint Venture when the latter's rights were

under threat. (GA:215-18, 222-30). Using Full Play's help, the Fox Joint

Venture transmitted millions of dollars in bribes to the six soccer

presidents and procured their loyalty in its favor. (GA:204-05, 222-30,

1177-99, 2273-76).

Full Play also bribed soccer executives in connection with the

Copa América. (GA:358-60, 457-58, 464-69, see GA:1177-99, 2451).

Besides bribing the Group of Six for the rights to that tournament, Full

Play promised a $10 million bribe to the head of CONCACAF in

connection with the Centenario edition played in the United States in

2016. (GA:483-84). Full Play's owners were indicted before they could

complete the payment. (GA:368, DE:1).

Full Play's CFO, Santiago Pe13a, who kept a detailed secret

bribe ledger, testified at trial. The ledger was admitted in evidence and
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corroborated extensively by IRS agent testimony tracing the bribe

payments. E.., GA:612-24, 1177-99, 2451). It included evidence of the

corrupt Copa Libertadores relationship with FOX. (GA:1193 (referencing

"5-Dec Delivered Cash in Santiago FOX CL 2018")). The bribes reflected

in Full Play's ledger were paid by wire transfers, many of which traveled

to and through U.S. bank accounts. (GA:291-692, GX-5l8C, GX525C,

GX525D, MX-3000-MX-3007).

In recognition of their illegality, Full Play took various steps

to hide its bribes from U.S. authorities, including by using code names on

the bribe ledger and encouraging certain bribe recipients to move their

bank accounts from U.S. banks to banks overseas when scrutiny of Full

Play's practices increased. (GA:561, 1177-99, 2451 (tabs referring to code

names for Group of Six membelrs)). The company settled a lawsuit

brought by a competitor in Florida state court out of concern that

discovery would expose the corruption in international soccer to U.S. law

enforcement authorities. (GA:361-62, 1235-36). Full Play's owners also

discussed with some of their co-conspiirators the possibility that U.S. law

enforcement would prosecute them for paying bribes, and strategized

about how to make their "black" money payments appear "white.79
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(GA:2258). The recording had been made surreptitiously by a since-

deceased cooperating witness without the knowledge of the other

participants in the conversation. (GA:146, 376-382). Notably, this

conspiiratoirial meeting describing Full Play's "black payment[s]" occurred

in the United States, as did numerous others. (GA:378).

A11 these bribes were promised and paid in violation of the

soccer executives' express duties set forth in the codes of ethics not to

accept bribes. (GA:564-'70, 1329-483). In addition to the recording

described above, the government presented additional overwhelming

evidence of Full Play's knowledge and intent to deprive FIFA,

CONMEBOL, and CONCACAF of their executives' honest services.

(GA:447-449, 450-51, 481-82).

Lopez

Since 2002, FOX had owned the FOX Joint Venture alongside

b.

Torneos, the Argentine media company run by Alejandro Burzaco.

(GA:160-61, 2253). The sole purpose of the Fox Joint Venture was to

purchase the Copa Libertadores media rights from CONMEBOL and

resell them to FOX at cost, for no profit to the FOX Joint Venture. (GA: 166,

2256). FOX, in turn, made tremendous profit on these rights. (GA:299-



Case: 23-7183, 01/02/2024, DktEntry: 36.1, Page 32 of 160

22

300). The rights were secured through bribery of certain CONMEBOL

executives, with FOX being the principal beneficiary of the defrauded

soccer organizations' undervalued sale of their rights. (Id., GA:133-38,

1177-99, 2451). Buirzaco and Eladio Rodriguez handled paying the bribes

(with Full Play's help), while FOX funded the bribes from its U.S. bank

account. (GA:195, 593-611). These bribes were recorded on both Pe13a's

and Rodlriguez's bribe ledgers. (GA:11'7'7-99, 1201-22, 2451). Like Pe13a's

ledger, Rodriguez's bribe ledger was admitted in evidence at trial and

extensively corroborated by financial tracing and other evidence.

(GA:59'7-602).

Fox's sports division had been Toirneos' historic partner in the

FOX Joint Venture. (GA:160-61, 2253). Lopez was an executive in Fox's

international division and was focused on growing its Latin American

business. (GA:202, 714). Lopez began his media career in Argentina

selling TV advertisements, and thus was well-acquainted with the

market. (GA:235, 531). Lopez identified the Fox Joint Venture as an

acquisition target for his segment of the company. (GA:196-201, 500-01,

723). He studied the FOX Joint Venture's historic Copa Libertadores

contracts and, as early as 2008, understood that the FOX Joint Venture
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was likely paying bribes to secure the Copa Libertadores broadcasting

rights. (GA:22'7'7-91, LX-65, LX-65A). Specifically, he identified that the

contracts were considerably undervalued and secured the rights far into

the future, terms indicative of bribery. (GA:192, 2277). Lopez wrote

extensive internal memoranda analyzing the Copa Libertadores

contracts and detailing the benefit of acquiring the Fox Joint Venture

(and, thereby, the rights to the Copa Libertadores) to sell American cable

channels in South America. (GA:2281-85, LX-65, LX-65-A). During this

time, Lopez became professionally friendly with Buirzaco. (GA:196-98,

2297, 2382-91).

In 2010, as head of Fox's Latin American division, Lopez

asked Burzaco to confirm Lopez's belief that the Copa Libertadores rights

were secured through bribery. (GA:220, 234-35). After Lopez confirmed

that bribes were the lifeblood of the Fox Joint Venture ( ) Lopez's

division of Fox proceeded to acquire 75% of the economic rights to the Fox

Joint Venture in late 2011, although its Argentine partner handling the

bribes retained operational and governance control of the venture

(GA:161-62, 2253). However, when the auditors conducting due diligence

on the deal identified red-flag contracts (which were, in fact, sham
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services contracts papering over the bribes), follow-up due diligence did

not occur because of Lopez's intervention, he and a co-conspirator pushed

to get the deal done quickly. (GA:520-21, 560, 2392-450).

The acquisition occurred following an unrelated scandal that

was exposed in late 2011, which moved FOX to publicly announce its

purported focus on anti-bribery reforms throughout the entire company,

including Lopez's portion of the business. (GA:260-61, 1171-76 (warning

FOX employees they could face criminal penalties for commercial

bribery)). Lopez expressed to Burzaco the importance of cleansing from

the books of the FOX Joint Venture any indication of the bribe payments

and sham agreements, given Fox's new focus on internal controls and

anti-bribery measures. (GA:284, 291-93, 316-17).

For the next three years, Lopez perpetuated, protected, and

hid the bribes. While based in Los Angeles, he held several meetings in

the United States (specifically, in New York, Los Angeles, and Miami)

with his co-conspiiratoirs to further the bribery scheme. (GA:233, 236-37,

255-58, 277, 389-91, 427, 556). The bribes continued to be funded with

FOX money (GA:593-611, GX-5l4C), and Lopez protected them from

detection within FOX (GA:281-82). Lopez had a subordinate, Carlos
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Martinez, execute an economically senseless contract to move ongoing

bribe payments off Fox's books. (GA:318-40, 357, 1140-70). When

Lopez's CFO Marcela Martin-who was compelled to testify at trial

under a grant of immunity-questioned this "strange" contract, Lopez

tried to assuage her concerns. (GA:337, 341-47, 522-23, 525, 528-29,

2313-25). After Martinez executed the contract, there were no longer

bribe payments flowing directly from FOX, through the FOX Joint Venture,

to the soccer executives under the guise of sham contracts, instead, the

payments flowed from a third-party shell company based in the

Netherlands that was not subject to Fox's internal controls (the

"Netherlands Shell"), and those payments continued on Fox's behalf.

(GA:318-19, 1140-70, 1177-99, 1215-22, 2451).

Lopez also used the loyalty of the soccer executives procured

by the bribes to benefit FOX and his own career. For example, in late

2011, Lopez leveraged the bribe-paying relationship with a top FIFA

executive to obtain from the executive inside information about

incumbent rightsholder ESPN's bid for U.S. broadcasting rights to the

2018 and 2022 World Cups. (GA:265-'76, 585-87, 697-98, 2304). Lopez

shared the inside bid information within FOX, which successfully outbid
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ESPN. (GA:2'73-'74, LX-148). Lopez later met privately with that same

corrupt FIFA executive for assistance in getting "leverage" over the

Indonesian soccer leagues in a business dispute. (GA:2335, see GA:350-

56). Both episodes-which appeared as significant business successes for

Fox-further burnished Lopez's standing among Fox's top executives.

(GA:2'75, 289-90, 2326-34, 2337). Lopez also used the bribe-procured

Copa Libertadores rights as the anchor to launch a Fox sports channel in

Brazil, a marquee achievement of Lopez's tenure. (GA:724, 2305-11).

But scrutiny of the soccer industry intensified over time as

various public scandals involving FIFA executives accumulated, and

accusations of corruption grew louder. (GA:303-05, 382-84, 393-94, 397,

400-03, 542-44, 546-52). In June 2014, many corrupt FIFA executives

and media executives, including Lopez, traveled to Brazil for the 2014

World Cup. (GA:385, 388, 552-53, 1223-34, 2378-79). By that time,

rumors were swirling among the soccer and media elite that the U.S.

Department of Justice was investigating corruption in soccer. (GA:382-

83, 543-44, 549, 695-96, 2375-76).

Immediately upon his return to the U.S. from the World Cup,

Lopez orchestrated a private lunch meeting with a FOX competitor who,
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over a year earlier, had made allegations of bribery against the FOX Joint

Venture and Burzaco. (GA:1239-41, 2348, 2375-77, 2380). Although

Lopez's own emails established that he had long known about these

bribery allegations (GA:2338-47, 2373-74), immediately after the lunch

meeting, Lopez pretended that he learned about these bribery allegations

for the first time during the lunch. (GA:2351-53). Lopez then feigned

being a whistleblower within FOX and called for an audit of the Fox Joint

Venture. ( , GA:405). Lopez successfully controlled aspects of the

resulting audit, including by telling a series of lies to Fox's internal

auditors, redirecting the auditors' efforts away from Lopez and his

subordinate Martinez, participating in audit strategy meetings (although

he was a director of the entity being audited), and feeding Buirzaco

answers to the auditors' questions. (GA:406-09, 411-12, 433, 2354-59).

When the lead auditor began inquiring about the Netherlands Shell and

the economically senseless contract, Lopez criticized the auditor to his

boss. (GA:491-95, 727-28, 729-30, 2360).

Lopez, Martinez, and Burzaco then strategized about how

finally to cleanse Fox's books of the bribes. (GA:413-15). Their solution

was to execute a long-term contract, the effect of which would further
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eliminate the paper trail of bribes while ensuring their continuing long-

term payment to the soccer executives. (GA:2363-72). Thirteen days

before the government unsealed its first indictment in this case, Martinez

emailed Burzaco a draft of this coverup contract. (Id.).

II. Procedural History

A. The First Indictments

On May 20, 2015, a grand jury in the Eastern District of New

York returned an indictment charging 14 defendants, including Burzaco

and Full Play's owners Mariano and Hugo Jinkis (but not yet Lopez or

Full Play) with various crimes, including racketeering conspiracy,

honest-services wire fraud, and money laundering, all relating to the

corruption of international soccer. (DE:1 (the "Original Indictment")).

The Original Indictment was unsealed days later, and many of the

defendants were arrested in Switzerland while attending a FIFA

Congress. The Jinkises remain at large.

Several defendants, including Burzaco, soon pleaded guilty,

and multiple other then-uncharged individuals-including Bedoya, who

was a FIFA official and president of the Colombian soccer federation-

voluntarily admitted their participation in the crimes. (GA:426, 571-72).
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Six months after the Original Indictment, the grand jury

returned a First Superseding Indictment that charged 16 additional

defendants. (DE:102). The First Superseding Indictment was unsealed

on December 3, 2015, following the arrests of additional defendants.

B. The 2017 Trial

The first trial in this case began on November 6, 2017 (the

"2017 Tlrial"), resulting in the conviction of former CONMEBOL

President and Paraguayan soccer executive Juan Angel Napout and the

former president of the powerful Brazilian national association, José

Maria Marin. (DE:8'73). Manuel Burma of Peru was acquitted on the

single racketeering count on which he was extradited. (DE:8'74).

C. The 2017 Trial Defendants' Unsuccessful Appeal

Napout and Marin appealed their convictions, arguing that

they lacked constitutional '"failr notice' that the fiduciary duty they, as

foreign employees, owed to their foreign employers, FIFA and

CONMEBOL, could qualify as a 'source of the fiduciary obligation,' whose

breach, if committed by a fraudulent scheme using American wires,

would constitute honest[-]se1rvices wire fraud." United States V. Napout,
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963 F.3d 163, 181 (2d Cir. 2020) (quoting Skilling V. United States, 561

U.S. 358, 417 (2010) (Scalia, J., concurring in the judgment)).

This Court held that Napout and Marin failed to preserve the

vagueness argument and thus reviewed it for plain error, ultimately

rejecting the argument. This Court noted that federal courts "typically

will not find such [plain] error where the operative legal question is

unsettled," id. at 183, and observed that the relevant authorities

undercut the defendants' argument and some of those authorities "have

gone further" in the govelrnment's favor than even what the government

was seeking in the FIFA case, id. at 184 (citing United States V.

Milovanovic, 678 F.3d 713, 724 (9th Cir. 2012) (en bane) (holding that a

"fiduciary duty extends to a trusting relationship in which one party acts

for the benefit of another and induces the trusting party to relax the care

and vigilance which it would ordinarily exercise")). Thus, this Court held

that "whether a foreign employee's duty to his foreign employer qualifies

as an actionable element under § 1346[-was] a question that remains

unsettled, at best," indicating this Coulrt's view that the relevant

authorities were arguably settled against the defense position. Id.
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Concuirring, Judge Hall expressed his willingness to go

further and reject the argument on de novo review. See id. at 190-92

(Hall, J., concurring). The other members of the panel clarified that they

would not have "disaglree[d]" with Judge Hall had the argument been

preserved. Id. at 184 n.19.

This Court also rejected a Rule 29 sufficiency-of-the-evidence

argument nearly identical to the one at issue here, holding that the

evidence supported jury findings that the bribery scheme contemplated

a violation of "the fiduciary duty [the soccer officials] owed to FIFA and

CONMEBOL under the organizations' codes of ethics," and that "the

'fiduciary duty' ... arose from [the officials] acceding to FIFA and

CONMEBOL's rules," which expressly provided for a fiduciary duty of

loyalty. Id. at 185.

Neither appellant sought certiorari in the Supreme Court.

D. Co-Defendants' Resolutions

To date, over 30 defendants have pleaded guilty to their

involvement in the various racketeering, wire fraud and money

laundering offenses charged, and the government has collected over $ 200
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million in ill-gotten proceeds and returned much of the money to the

victim organizations .

E. The 2023 Trial

On March 18, 2020, a grand jury returned the Third

Superseding Indictment, which included the 13 previously charged

defendants (excluding the defendants who had already pleaded guilty or

been convicted at trial) and added four new defendants, including Full

Play, Lopez, and Martinez. (GA:1-'71 (the "Indictment")). Trial began2

on January 17, 2023 (the "2023 Tlrial") and lasted approximately two

months.

1. Relevant Pretrial Rulings

Before trial, the defendants moved to dismiss the Indictment

on the grounds of vagueness, extraterritoriality, and failure to state an

offense. (DE:1594, 1595). By written decision issued on October 29, 2021,

In addition to the conspiracy counts presented at trial, the
defendants were charged with substantive wire fraud counts, and Full
Play was charged with racketeering conspiracy. Before trial, the
government informed the defendants and the district court that to
streamline the case in the COVID-19 era it did not intend to proceed at
trial on the racketeering and substantive wire fraud counts. (DE:1'756).

2
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the district court denied the defendants' motions in their entirety.

(DE:1645).

2. The Govelrnment's Proof at Trial

At trial, the government called 13 witnesses and entered 473

exhibits (excluding translations) into evidence. The witnesses included:

O The four above-described co-conspirators: Burzaco (see
generally To. 325-1408), PeNa (To. 3358-3369, 3392-3497),
Rodriguez (Tr. 3624-3675, 3681-3697), and Bedoya (Tr. 4855-
4883), who testified, pursuant to agreements with the
government, about their and the defendants' involvement in
the conspiracies,

O A FIFA lawyer who explained the FIFA ethics code and the
fiduciary duties that the code established (GA:81-122),

O The former FOX CFO who testified under compulsion about
how she questioned the economically senseless contract and
held up its approval before Lopez and Martinez pressured her
to approve it (Tr. 4021-4140, 4146-69, 4179-88),

O The lead auditor of the 2014 FOX audit that was initiated by
Lopez's fake whistleblowing (Tir. 3855-3948, 4803-46),

O The former president of ESPN, who corroborated key aspects
of how Lopez received inside information from a bribed FIFA
executive, which enabled Fox to successfully outbid
incumbent rightsholder ESPN for the World Cup
broadcasting rights in the United States (GA:5'75-90),

O An IRS agent who traced the bribes through numerous U.S.
bank accounts and corroborated the Full Play and Fox Joint
Venture bribe ledgers kept by PeNa and Rodriguez (GA:591-
692, Tr. 5215, 5319-23, 5329-33),
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O A representative of the New York Federal Reserve, who
described important aspects of the U.S. financial system that
the co-conspirators relied on in their scheme (Tr. 4614-49),
and

O A government analyst who read aloud to the jury dozens of
Lopez's emails-including early emails in which Lopez
analyzed and identified key aspects of the historical bribe
contracts, emails between him, Burzaco, Martinez, and others
regarding various aspects of the conspiracy, emails showing
Lopez's early knowledge of bribery allegations against the Fox
Joint Venture, emails of Lopez using his bribery-secured
connections to bolster his position within Fox, emails in which
he set up the meeting with the Fox competitor under false
pretenses and afterward pretended he had learned about
corruption allegations for the first time, and emails in which
he lied to the auditors in various respects regarding the Fox
Joint Venture (Tr. 5480-5562).

3. Post-Trial Motions, the Defense Case, and the Verdict

After the government rested, the defendants orally moved for

acquittal under Rule 29(a). (GA:'70l-05). The district court reserved

decision. (GA:706).

The defendants then presented robust defense cases, after

which the district court charged the jury. The court's instructions largely

repeated the jury charges that were provided in Napout and largely

mirrored those requested by the defendants. (Compare DE:19(-33, with

DE:8'72, see DE:17'7'7 (Full Play proposed jury instructions), DE:18'71

(Lopez proposed jury instlructions)). The jury deliberated for
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approximately three days before returning a verdict of guilty as to all

tried counts against Lopez and Full Play, and acquitting Martinez on

both counts against him. (DE:1964).

4. Post-Verdict Proceedings

a. Defense Motions

In post-verdict proceedings, the defendants orally reiterated

their Rule 29(a) motions under Rule 29(c). (GA:734-35). The court

invited them to file written submissions by April 21, 2023. Lopez did so

(DE:198'7-1), while Full Play did not. Full Play had filed a brief in

support of its Rule 29(a) motion during trial. (DE:1946-1) .

b. Cirninelli and Percoco

After Lopez filed his opening brief, and shortly before the

deadline for the govelrnment's response to both motions, the Supreme

Court issued Ciminelli and Percoco, two cases targeting public corruption

related to New York State-funded projects.

In Ciminelli, the Supreme Court rejected the "right to control"

wire fraud theory because the wire fraud statute, 18 U.S.C. § 1343,

requires that the object of the scheme be "money or property," and the

right to control did not qualify as money or a "traditional property
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interest." 598 U.S. at 308, 314-16. Ciminelli did not address honest-

services wire fraud under § 1346, other than to distinguish it as a viable

intangible-rights wire fraud theory based on that statute. Id. at 315.

Percoco, in contrast, addressed honest-services fraud. It

reversed an honest-services wire fraud conviction based on improper jury

instructions. Percoco was a former governor's aide who temporarily

resigned from his public position for eight months. During this hiatus, a

real estate developer paid him to successfully lobby the state government

to drop an onerous requirement for the developer to receive state funding

on a project. A jury convicted Percoco of honest-services wire fraud

conspiracy based on the standard set forth in United States V. Margiotta,

688 F.2d 108 (2d Cir. 1982), a pre-McNally case articulating the

applicable test when the bribed person alleged to owe a fiduciary duty to

the public was a "private person" with "no elective office." Peircoco, 598

U.S. at 322, 329-33 (quoting Margiotta, 688 F.2d at 113).

The Supreme Court reversed this Court's affirmance and

remanded, finding that the Margiotta-standard jury instructions were

"too vague." Percoco, 598 U.S. at 830. The Court noted that "[t]he

intangible right of honest services must be defined with the clarity typical
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of criminal statutes and should not be held to reach an ill-defined

category of circumstances simply because of a smattering of pre-McNally

decisions." Id. at 328-29. The Mairgiotta standard provided an "ill-3

defined threshold" for when a private citizen holds a duty of honest

services to the public and thus created a substantial risk of prosecuting

private individuals for legitimate political activity, such as the work of

"well-connected and effective lobbyists." Id. at 331. Concurring in the

judgment, Justice Gorsuch, joined only by Justice Thomas, would have

gone further and found that § 1346 is unconstitutionally vague on its

face. See id. at 333-38 (Gorsuch, J., concurring in the judgment).

The Supreme Court declined to hold that private citizens may

never hold a duty of honest services to the public. Id. at 329. Rather, the

Court found that a private individual may owe the public "the necessary

fiduciary duty" that might sustain a prosecution if he or she agrees to act

as an "actual agent[]" for the government. Id. Accordingly, Percoco

rejected a bright-line rule that categorically excluded certain

When quoting cases, unless otherwise noted, citations,
internal quotation marks and footnotes are omitted, and all alterations
are adopted.

3
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relationships from the ambit of § 1346, which would have precluded

prosecution in the case of an honest-services fraud scheme involving a

bribe recipient who was an "actual agent[]," but not an "employee" of the

organization. Id. at 329. Such a prosecution would not "stretch § 1346

past heartland cases," the Court concluded. Id. at 330.

The Govelrnment's Opposition

The government filed its opposition to the Rule 29 motions

c.

shortly after these cases were issued, rebutting the defendants'

vagueness arguments and citing Percoco for the proposition that the

Supreme Court eschewed a bright-line rule in determining which

fiduciary duties are covered by the honest-services wire fraud statute.

(DE:1999). The government did not cite Ciminelli because it did not

address honest-services fraud.

Replies

The defendants' replies relied on Ciminelli and Peircoco. Full

d.

Play cited them to "plreselrve[]" its "vagueness" challenge. (DE:2003 at 9-

10 (arguing lack of "fair notice")). For his part, Lopez used the cases to

raise for the first time a "statutory" argument: that "§ 1346 cannot be

flexibly construed to reach novel theories that are not firmly rooted in the
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pre-McNally 'colre' of honest[-]selrvices precedents." (DE:2002 at 4 & n.2) .

As to Percoco, Lopez argued that § 1346 "must not reach 'ill-defined'

categories." @ at 5 (quoting Percoco, 598 U.S. at 328)).

III. The District Court's Rule 29 Decision

On September 1, 2023, the district court granted the Rule 29

motions, reversing the jury's verdicts on grounds first raised in Lopez's

reply brief without seeking responses from the government to the reply

arguments or granting the parties' requests for oral argument. (SGA:1-

55 ("Olrdelr")). The court concluded that, in light of Ciminelli and Percoco,

"foreign commercial blribelry"4 cannot be the basis for any honest-services

fraud conviction as a matter of statutory interpretation. (SGA:29). In

Categorizing this case as "foreign commercial bribery," as the
district court did, is a misnomer given the U.S.-based conduct throughout
the scheme, Lopez and Fox's U.S. citizenship, the U.S. Soccer
Federation's membership in FIFA and CONCACAF, FIFA and
CONCACAF's operations in the United States, and the co-conspirators'
extensive abuse of and reliance on the U.S. financial system for the
payment and concealment of their bribes. Nor is it accurate to refer to
the bribe recipients as mere "employees," because they were the lead
executives and decision-making agents of their organizations, who had
agreed to a code of ethics, to which the many nations that joined FIFA
expressly consented, that explicitly prohibited them from accepting
bribes. For clarity and simplicity, however, the government refers to the
court's terminology throughout this brief.

4
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doing so, the court held that it was adopting Lopez's new statutory

argument on reply as to both defendants. (SGA:29 n.15, 43 n.22, 53).

A. The District Court's Flawed Factual Recitation

The district court's recitation of the facts proven at trial relied

almost exclusively on the testimony of one witness and largely overlooked

the evidence and testimony presented through the government's other 12

witnesses and 473 exhibits (excluding translations). The recitation was

also inaccurate in several material respects. For instance, as relevant

here:

O The court's description of the Indictment and trial proof
omitted that one of the victims of Full Play's Cope America
scheme was U.S.-based CONCACAF. (Compare DE:133'7 at
51-52 (Indictment identifying CONCACAF as victim of Copa
America scheme), with SGA:5 (omitting CONCACAF when
describing charges)) .

O The court misstated the timing and reason for the 2014 FOX
audit-which happened because of Lopez's false
whistleblowing following his orchestrated lunch meeting with
a Fox competitor, not merely "in the wake of the ... [s]candal"
three years earlier. (Compare SGA:22, with GA:261-62, 281-
84 (testimony that in wake of July 2011 scandal, parties
agreed to "tidy up or clean things up" to avoid detection of
bribes), and GA:2351-53 (Lopez memorandum dated August
3, 2014 claiming that he asked Fox to "start an investigation"
following meeting with Fox's competitors, during which he
claimed to have first learned of corruption)).
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As discussed in Point Four below, the coulrt's misapprehension of certain

facts resulted in the court improperly overturning two counts of

conviction related to the scheme to defraud CONCACAF. The coulrt's

analysis ignored trial proof of those counts, which would survive even

under the court's new, post-verdict erroneous legal rule.

B. The District Court Held that Honest-Services Wire
Fraud Can Never Encompass Foreign Commercial Bribery

In its legal ruling, the district court held that, "after the

Supreme Coulrt's decisions in Percoco and Ciminelli, [it] must hold that

§ 1346's scope does not extend to foreign commercial bribery"-which the

court defined as "bribery of foreign employees of foreign non-government

employers." (SGA:29, 48). On that basis, the court vacated all eight

counts of conviction against Lopez and Full Play, including the money

laundering conspiracy convictions because they were "predicated" on the

honest-services fraud. (SGA:53).

Although neither Ciminelli nor Percoco addressed commercial

bribery, foreign or otherwise, the district court understood the cases to

be "signaling limits on the scope of the honest[-]se1rvices wire fraud

statute." (SGA:2). As evidence of this "signaling" the court quoted

extensively from Justice Gorsuch's Percoco concurrence, which argued for
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striking down § 1846 in its entirety on vagueness grounds and, as the

court described it, "criticized the courts and prosecutors for exacerbating

the statute's uneven application." (SGA:41-42, 49).

C. Because of Procedural Constraints, the
District Court's Holding Is Based on
Sufficiency of the Evidence and Not Vagueness

Recognizing that it would be procedurally impermissible to

decide a vagueness challenge on a post-trial Rule 29 sufficiency-of-the-

evidence motion, the district court reconsidered the defendants'

vagueness arguments-which the court had rejected pretrial-as a

sufficiency-of-the-evidence argument based on the court's new, narrowed

interpretation of the statute. (SGA:29 n.15, 43 n.22, see also SGAA9).

Put another way, because, in the district coulrt's view, the

honest-services fraud statute can never encompass foreign commercial

bribery-a limitation on the scope of the statute the court announced

after the jury rendered verdicts-the court found that the evidence at

trial was insufficient to sustain the wire fraud and money laundering

convictions. The court neither criticized any of its jury instructions nor
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articulated on which properly instructed element the jury made

irrational factual findings as per the Rule 29 standard.5

D. The District Court Imposed a Requirement of
Pre-McNally Precedent for Foreign Commercial Bribery

The reason, according to the district court, that the honest-

services fraud statute can never encompass foreign commercial bribery

boils down to a single sentence in Peircoco: "[T]he intangible right of

honest services must be defined with the clarity typical of criminal

statutes and should not be held to reach an ill-defined category of

circumstances simply because of a smattering of pre-McNally decisions.79

(SGA:40-41, 47-48 (quoting Percoco, 598 U.S. at 328-29)).

The district court read Percoco to now require at least a

"smattering of pre-McNally decisions" addressing the source of the

fiduciary duty at issue for a bribery scheme to fit within the scope of

§ 1346. (SGAA8 (emphasis omitted)). Because the court did not identify

a pre-McNally honest-services fraud case involving what it termed

"foreign commercial bribery" (and faulted the government for failing to

The district court also did not revisit its pretrial holding that
this case presents a domestic application of § 1346. (SGAA3 n.22).

5
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point to any, although the argument was not raised until Lopez's post-

trial reply brief), the court held that § 1346 "does not apply" to foreign

commercial bribery at all. (SGA:48-49) .

The district court acknowledged that the government proved

at least two concrete sources of a fiduciary duty: the FIFA and

CONMEBOL codes of ethics, both of which explicitly prohibited their

executives from accepting bribes or kickbacks . (SGA:23-

24). Nevertheless, it held that this prosecution "cannot overcome the

basic fact that there is no precedential authority to support the

application of this federal criminal statute, § 1346, to foreign commercial

bribery, which the Supreme Court has now made clear in Percoco is

required." (SGA:50).

Finally, the district court buttressed its conclusion by

pointing to Napout's statement that "whether a foreign employee's duty

to his foreign employer qualifies as an actionable element under § 1346

is a question that remains unsettled, at best," for the proposition that

this Court believes the law to likely be unsettled against the government.

(SGAA5-46, 48). Instead, as explained in Point One below, the use of "at
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best" in fact reflected this Court's expressed view that the relevant

authorities likely are settled against the defense position.

The government timely appealed.
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SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The district court entered judgments of acquittal, holding that

as a matter of law, based on its reading of "signaling" from the Supreme

Coulrt's decisions in Ciminelli and Percoco, honest-services wire fraud can

never encompass "foreign commercial bribery." But neither Ciminelli nor

Percoco addressed that issue, let alone considered facts analogous to this

case. Ciminelli invalidated an unrelated legal theory. Percoco rejected

the very sort of bright-line rule the court created. In straining to

interpret "signals," the court committed multiple layers of error:

First, the district court disregarded substantial precedent

from this Court and the Supreme Court. This includes this Court's

decision in United States V. Napout, 963 F.3d 163 (2d Cir. 2020), which

rejected a Rule 29 sufficiency-of-the-evidence challenge made on near-

identical grounds in the same case, in the context of defendants who were

bribe recipients in the same conspiracies at issue here. The court did not

mention Napout's Rule 29 analysis at all.

Second, the district court rooted its decision in a misreading

of a single sentence in Percoco. Percoco indicated that courts should

identify more than a "smattering" of cases predating McNally V. United
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States, 483 U.S. 350 (1987)-which struck down application of the mail

fraud statute to the deprivation of honest services before Congress

responded by passing § 1346-when faced with interpreting § 1346 in

"ill-defined" circumstances. The court incorrectly found that Percoco now

mandates the identification of an identical pre-McNally fact pattern,

even in a case involving a well-defined and internationally agreed

prohibition against employees accepting bribes, for a prosecution to fall

within the permissible scope of § 1346. But this reasoning is contrary to

this Coulrt's decision in United States V. Avenatti, 81 F.4th 171 (2d Cir.

2023), where it rejected a similar argument only two days before the court

issued its decision in this case.

Third, even if the district court were correct that Percoco

alters binding caselaw and demands a new legal test, the court

misapplied it. Numerous pre-McNally cases support the proposition that

the conduct here violated the recipients' fiduciary duty not to accept

bribes, thereby exposing them to a § 1346 prosecution.

Fourth, the district court did not construe the proven trial

facts in the light most favorable to the government, as it is required to do

on a Rule 29 motion. The coulrt's opinion failed to even acknowledge that
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one of the schemes involved Full Play bribing a soccer executive who

violated his fiduciary duty to a U.S.-based soccer organization for the

rights to a tournament played in the United States. Even under the

court's erroneous new rule categorically excluding all foreign commercial

bribery from the ambit of § 1346, Full Play's convictions on this scheme

should still stand. In addition, the court erroneously granted a judgment

of acquittal rather than ordering a new trial where, even assuming its

new legal test were correct, the government could offer additional

evidence to satisfy that test.

This Court should vacate the district coulrt's judgments of

acquittal, reinstate the julry's verdicts against Lopez and Full Play, or,

alternatively, if it adopts the district court's new rule, remand for a new

trial.
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ARGUMENT

POINT ONE

THE DISTRICT COURT FAILED
TO FOLLOW BINDING PRECEDENT

The district coulrt's principal holding-that "§ 1346'3 scope

does not extend to foreign commercial bribery" (SGA:29)-is unsupported

by precedent. Accordingly, the coulrt's decision should be vacated.6

1. Applicable Law

A. Overview of Honest-Services Fraud

The mail and wire fraud statutes criminalize use of the mails

and wires in furtherance of "any scheme or artifice to defraud." 18 U.S.C.

§§ 1341, 1343. Under 18 U.S.C. § 1346, the term "scheme or artifice to

As the district court acknowledged, Lopez made the statutory
argument for the first time in its reply brief (SGA:29 n.15)-nearly two
months after his deadline for filing an acquittal motion (SGA:2'7). Full
Play never made the statutory argument below. See Booking V. Gen. Star
Mgmt. Co., 254 F.3d 414, 418 (2d Cir. 2001) (leaving unanswered under
what circumstances district courts may consider reply arguments but
noting that appellate courts "generally do not consider arguments raised
for the first time in reply briefs" in part because "if an appellant raises a
new argument in a reply brief an appellate may not have an adequate
opportunity to respond"), United States v. Harris, 104 F.3d 1465, 1471
(5th Cir. 1997) ("[T]he objection of one defendant, in and of itself, does
not preserve the appellate rights of other defendants.").

6
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defraud" is defined as including schemes and artifices to "deprive another

of the intangible right of honest services.79

In 1988, Congress enacted § 1346 to "overrule" the Supreme

Coulrt's decision in McNally V. United States, 483 U.S. 850 (1987), which

held-contrary to the prior decisions of every Court of Appeals

addressing the issue-that the mail and wire fraud statutes did not reach

honest services or other intangible rights. See United States V. Rybicki,

354 F.3d 124, 134-36 (2d Cir. 2003) (en bane) (discussing statutory

history). enacting § 1346, Congress reinstated the intangible rightsIn

doctrine as to honest services.

B. Rybicki

In Rybicki, this Court sitting en bane held that depriving a

victim of the right to honest services included bribing an "employee of a

private entity," and thus affirmed the conviction of lawyers who bribed

insurance adjusters to expedite claim settlements for the lawyers' clients,

contrary to "a written policy that prohibited the adjusters from accepting

any gifts or fees." Id. at 127, 141-42 & n.1'7, 146-47. While this Court

"distilled" the "pre-McNally private-sector cases" to develop a "well-

settled meaning" for the statute "at the time that Congress enacted [it]
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in 1988," this Court observed the pre-McNally caselaw was instructive

but not binding:

We do not think that earlier ease law is, after the
intervening occurrences of McNally and section
1346, "precedent" in the sense that it sets forth
rules of law that we are bound to follow.... The
pre-McNally case law is "pertinent," even though
we are not bound by it in the stare decision sense.

Id. at 136-37, 142, 145.

C. Skilling

Seven years later, the Supreme Court in Skilling V. United

States, 561 U.S. 358 (2010), rejected a vagueness challenge to § 1346. "To

preserve the statute without tiransgiressing constitutional limitations,79

the Supreme Court held that "§ 1346 criminalizes only the blribe-and-

kickback core of the pre-McNally case law." Id. at 408-09. That included

commercial bribes and kickbacks. Id. at 401, 413 n.45, see also id. at 404-

05 (describing Rybicki as this Coulrt's "leading analysis of § 1346").

Having SO construed § 1346, Skilling categorically held that "[a] criminal

defendant who participated in a bribery or kickback scheme, in short,

cannot tenably complain about prosecution under § 1346 on vagueness

grounds." Id. at 413.
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Justice Scalia criticized the majority for upholding the statute

and found hopelessly indeterminate "the nature and content of the

fiduciary duty central to the 'flraud' offense," as well as "the source of the

fiduciary obligation-whether it must be positive state or federal law, or

merely general principles." Id. at 417-19 (Scalier, J., concurring in part

and concurring in the judgment). But the majority rejected his concern,

noting that inter-circuit "debates" about the "source and scope of

fiduciary duties" were "rare in bribe and kickback cases." Id. at 407 n.4l.

The majority explained that the "existence of a fiduciary relationship"

was "usually beyond dispute," and that "examples include public official-

public, employee-employer, and union official-union members." Id.

D. Babel

Following Skilling, this Court decided United States V. Babel,

662 F.3d 610 (2d Cir. 2011), which has considerable factual overlap with

this case. There, the defendant-a foreign national who was an employee

of the U.N. and subject to U.N. fiduciary regulations-accepted secret

bribes from a family who controlled a corporate foreign vendor with

business before the U.N. As here, the obligations agreed upon by the

organization's international members and set forth in its rules
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"inflolrm[ed] the contours of the duty [the defendant] owed to his

employer." Id. at 617. The defendant argued, among other things, that

because "[n]one of [the pre-McNally] cases extended an honest[-]selrvices

theory of fraud to an international setting involving foreign nationals,

Rybicki means that he, as a foreign national, cannot be prosecuted for

honest-services fraud under Section 1346." Id. at 632. This Court

disagreed, holding that "Rybicki, like Skilling, stands for the proposition

that fraud actionable under Section 1346 is limited to the nature of the

offenses prosecuted in the pre-McNally cases (i.e., bribery and kickback

schemes)-not the identity of the actors involved in those cases." Id.

E. Napout

As discussed in the Statement of Facts above, in 2020, this

Court in Napout, 963 F.3d 163, rejected similar arguments as those

presented here, in the same case regarding the same conspiracies proven

against Lopez and Full Play:

O This Court rejected the argument that the government
presented insufficient evidence of fiduciary source and duty,
holding that the duty "arose from [the officials] acceding to
FIFA and CONMEBOL's rules," which expressly provided for
a fiduciary duty of loyalty. Id. at 184-85.

O On plain error review, this Court rejected Napout and Marin's
claim of vagueness as applied to a "fiduciary duty a foreign
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employee owes to his foreign employer through the nature of
their private employment relationship rather than a duty
arising from specific law"-that is, the source of the fiduciary
duty. 963 F.3d at 183.

In its analysis of the sufficiency of the evidence, the district court adopted

these rejected arguments in vacating Lopez and Full Play's convictions.

11. The District Court Ignored Precedent
Supporting Affirmance of the Defendants' Convictions

Because the district court found the jury was properly

instructed and did not dispute the trial evidence establishing quid pro

quo bribery of employed executives who had "acced[ed] to FIFA and

CONMEBOIJs rules" prohibiting bribery, the court was required to

follow Skilling, Rybicki, Babel, and Napout, and affirm the julry's verdict.

Napout, 963 F.3d at 184-85. The court erred by instead relying on Justice

Gorsuch's concurring opinion in Percoco, in which only one other Justice

joined, and the court's prediction of how the Supreme Court might rule if

it were presented with a case like this one.

A. The District Court Failed to Follow Rybicki and Skilling

Rybicki and Skilling established that § 1346 criminalizes

committing wire fraud through bribing employees in breach of their

fiduciary duties to their employers. See Skilling, 561 U.S. at 401, 413
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n.45, Rybicki, 354 F.3d at 127, 141-42 & n.1'7, 146-47 ("[T]h€ bulk of pre-

McNally honest-services cases involved employees ...."). Although the

district court classified these cases as "domestic" (SGA:51), neither case

contemplated a domestic/foreign distinction or placed any such limitation

on its holdings.

The district court attempted to distinguish Skilling by

observing that it addressed only the "type of conduct that can give rise to

honest[-]selrvices fraud," not the "source of the fiduciary duty that was

breached ... by the fraud scheme." (SGA:42-43). This is incorrect. Both

Skilling and Rybicki observed that the fiduciary nature of the employee-

employer relationship has always been a "core" principle that is "beyond

dispute." Skilling, 561 U.S. at 407 n.41, Rybicki, 354 F.3d at 141-42 &

n.17, see also United States v. Nouri, 711 F.8d 129, 137 n.1 (2d Cir. 2013)

("The 'existence of a fiduciary relationship' between an employee and

employer is 'beyond dispute,' and the violation of that duty through the

employee's participation in a bribery or kickback scheme is within the

core of actions criminalized by § 1346." (quoting Skilling, 561 U.S. at 407

& n.4l)). That observation retains relevance in a case like this, which

involves duties imposed by the international membership of
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multinational organizations with substantial ties to and activities in the

United States.

But the district coulrt's decision contained no meaningful

discussion of Rybicki. (See SGA:51 (mentioning Rybicki only in

parenthetical description of Judge Hall's Napout conculrlrence)). This

omission was significant because Rybicki is this Coulrt's en banc decision,

which the Supreme Court described as a "leading analysis of § 1346.99

Skilling, 561 U.S. at 404. The omission is particularly notable given that,

in Rybicki, similar to here, the duty arose from a private employee-

private employer relationship, and the breached duties were

memorialized in a code of conduct that explicitly prohibited the

employees from accepting bribes. See Rybicki, 354 F.3d at 127.

B. The District Court Failed to Follow Babel

To the extent that the district court viewed Skilling and

Rybicki as entirely precluding an honest-services fraud prosecution in a

context involving an international organization, this Coulrt's decision in

Bahel showed otherwise more than a decade ago. Babel expressly

rejected the defense argument in that case that a prosecution is

precluded by the lack of pre-McNally precedent applying § 1346 "to an
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international setting involving foreign nationals"-that is, bribery of a

foreign national working for an international nonprofit organization on

behalf of a foreign corporate vendor. 662 F.3d at 632.

The salient facts of Babel are remarkably similar to those in

this case. In both cases, the bribe recipient was a foreign-born executive

of a multinational nonprofit organization-in Babel, the U.N., here, FIFA

and its constituent organizations. See id. In both cases, the defendants

engaged in substantial U.S.-based misconduct, although the objects of

the bribe schemes were mostly located abroad (in Babel, overseas

infrastructure projects, here, media rights to soccer tournaments played

mostly overseas). See id. at 618, 641. Most importantly, the evidence of

the fiduciary source in Babel is virtually indistinguishable from that

presented in this trial. In both cases, the bribe recipients were employees

who had a duty not to accept bribes that was agreed upon by their

employers' international members and clearly articulated in their

employers' codes of conduct-the reach of which was explicitly

international such that all employees from the various countries of the

world were expressly bound by the same prohibition on bribery. See id.

at 617.
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Suggesting that Percoco was the first precedent to address the

"source of the fiduciary duty," the district court attempted to distinguish

Babel by holding that the latter case involved two other legal "issues":

(i) the "defendant's identity," and (ii) the "location of the bribery scheme,79

classifying Babel as a '"domestic' bribery scheme" because the U.N. is

headquartered in New York. (SGA:42-43 (emphasis omitted), 52 n.32).

As explained below in Point Two, Percoco did not abrogate Bahel. In any

event, both distinctions drawn by the district court fail.

As to (i), the district court untethered Babel from its facts.

The defendant there argued that the duty at issue was "grounded in the

international relationship between a foreign-service officer and the

international body," and that none of the pre-McNally cases "extended an

'honest[-] services' theory of fraud to an international setting involving

foreign nationals." Appellant's Br. 70-72, United States V. Babel, 662

F.8d 610 (2d Cir. 2011) (No. 08-3327), 2008 WL 8583762, at *70-'72,

Quoting this argument, Babel focused not on the defendant, but rather

on all the "actors involved." 662 F.3d at 632. This Court then rejected a

narrowing of § 1346 based on the "identity of the[ose] actors." Id. Yet

here, the district court's question of whether the fiduciary source in an
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employee-employer relationship is "foreign" is necessarily a question of

the identity of the actors. (See SGA:48 (defining "foreign commercial

bribery" as "bribery of foreign employees of foreign non-government

employers")). The court thus misinterpreted Babel and disregarded its

true import.

As to (ii), this Court has already held that the location of the

bribery scheme here is domestic because of the use of the U.S. wires. See

Napout 963 F.3d at 180-81 (rejecting extraterritoriality argument). By

focusing instead on the U.N.'s location, the district court disregarded

Bahel's determination about the "actors involved." 662 F.3d at 632. And,

importantly, as international organizations with global operations

comprising hundreds of member countries, the U.N. and FIFA are

materially indistinguishable in employee-employer operations and the

fiduciary source. The U.N. is "an international body established by

treaty" and maintains a "comprehensive set of rules" governing its

employees' conduct. Appellee's Br. 4, 60, United States V. Babel, 662 F.8d

610 (2d Cir. 2011) (No. 08-3327), 2009 WL 8170843, at *4, *60. The rules

prohibit U.N. executives from "us[ing] their offices ... for private gain"

and "accept [ing] any gift or remuneration without first obtaining [higher]
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approval." Id. at *4. FIFA, similarly, is the international body governing

organized soccer, comprised of over 200 national federation members

(more than the U.N.), and its employees' conduct is governed by a code of

ethics that explicitly prohibits bribery. (See GA:1336, 1398, 1444). That

the U.N. is headquartered in New York and FIFA is headquartered in

Switzerland is a distinction without a difference, given that both have

global operations, their member countries agreed to be bound by a code

of ethics with explicitly global reach, and both conduct substantial

activities in the United States.

Just as in Babel, FIFA's express condemnation of bribery in

its code of ethics-to which its multi-national soccer federation members

acceded-takes this case out of the concerns the district court channeled

about vagueness and lack of fair notice. There can be no lack of fair notice

about a fiduciary duty not to accept bribes where high-level soccer

executives from all member national federations agree to a code of

conduct that is explicitly global in application and that prohibits

employees from accepting bribes. And this case raises no concerns about

the reasonable expectations of foreign employees being haled into U.S.

courts based on ill-defined duties to their employers: FIFA is an
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international entity with wholesale agreement by its participating

members that bribery-the core of honest-services fraud-is prohibited.

See Napout, 963 F.3d at 184-85 (finding that the duty arose from the

officials acceding to FIFA's and CONMEBOL's rules, which provided a

duty of loyalty). Each federation and their executives voluntarily agreed

to be bound by the prohibition against bribery as a condition of

participating in FIFA-sanctioned international tournaments. The

district court erred in failing to consider or rule on the particular facts of

this case and instead declaring a new rule prohibiting all prosecutions of

honest-services wire fraud when an employer andjor employee is

"folreign."

Other similarities to Babel abound. As in Babel, the bribery

scheme itself had significant U.S. ties and relied on the U.S. financial

system to accomplish the scheme. And, as discussed below, although it

was not acknowledged by the district court, one of the victim entities in

the Copa América scheme, CONCACAF, was headquartered in the

United States, like the U.N.
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C. The District Court Failed to Follow Napout

The precedential caselaw disregarded by the district court

was not limited to Skilling, Rybicki, and Babel. In 2020, this Court in

Napout rejected a Rule 29 challenge to the factually identical fiduciary

duty at issue here. Napout already held that evidence of "acceding to

FIFA and CONMEBOIJs rules" through the codes of ethics presented in

this trial was "easily sufficient" to demonstrate a fiduciary duty for

purposes of Rule 29. 963 F.8d at 184-85. The district coulrt's acquittal

decision did not address Napout's Rule 29 analysis.7

The "domestic" facts here are at least as compelling against
these defendants as those in Napout. The defendants there were South
American soccer officials who received bribes flowing through U.S.
accounts and traveled to the U.S. in furtherance of their crimes. Napout,
963 F.8d 172-77. In contrast, as proven here and discussed above, Lopez
is an American citizen who worked on behalf of an American media giant
and whose criminal conduct principally occurred within U.S. borders.
Full Play was a foreign bribe payer that: (i) used the bribe-procured
media rights to enter commercial relationships with U.S. companies and
market events, including some held in the U.S., (ii) paid those bribes, and
(iii) chose to conduct much of its general business in U.S. dollars using
U.S. wire transfers through U.S. bank accounts. Both defendants also
performed coverup activity in the United States, including creating a
false whistleblower memo in California (Lopez) and eliminating a
scheme-related bank account in Florida (Full Play). See supra at 20-21
(Full Play), 27 (Lopez).

7
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The district coulrt's omission of the Napout Rule 29 analysis

had the impermissible effect of undoing Napout's Rule 29 holding during

the second trial in the same case. Cf. United States V. Stanley, 54 F.8d

103, 107 (2d Cir. 1995) ("The mandate rule ... bars the district court from

reconsidering or modifying any of its prior decisions that have been ruled

on by the court of appeals"), Dobbs V. Anthem Blue Cross & Blue Shield,

600 F.3d 1275, 1279 (wt. Cir. 2010> ("[I]f the first appeal decided the

issue then the district court was bound by its determination under the

law of the case doctrine and under the general rule that a district court

is bound by decisions made by its circuit coulrt."). Under the mandate

rule, the district court "1ack[ed] discretion" to reach a different result in

the face of duty-related "trial evidence that is not substantially different"

from the first trial. Kerman V. City of New York, 374 F.3d 93, 110 (2d

Cir. 2004).

In addition to omitting discussion of Napout's Rule 29

analysis, the district court also cited a key observation made by this

Court in Napout for an opposite (and incorrect) proposition. The court

repeatedly referenced the following statement from Napout for the

proposition that the caselaw is settled against the govelrnment's position
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on the issue of fiduciary duty: "[W]hethe1r a foreign employee's duty to his

foreign employer qualifies as an actionable element under § 1346 is a

question that remains unsettled, at best." (SGAA6 n.26 (quoting Napout,

963 F.8d at 184)). But the court misunderstood this Coulrt's statement.

This Court was asserting that the relevant authorities likely

are settled against the defense position as to the issue of fiduciary duty.

Napout reviewed the defendants' vagueness challenge for plain error

because they failed to preserve the issue. This Court observed that courts

"typically will not find such error where the operative legal question is

unsettled." Napout, 963 F.3d at 183 (quoting United States V. Whab, 355

F.3d 155, 158 (2d Cir. 2004)). Because cases supported the conviction

(and in fact went further than the govelrnment's position), this Court held

that the question "whether a foreign employee's duty to his foreign

employer qualifies as an actionable element under § 1346[-was] a

question that remains unsettled, at best" for the defendants. Id. at 184

(emphasis added). Put another way, even in a best-case scenario for the

defendants, the most they could possibly hope for was a conclusion that

the law was unsettled-but, as Judge Hall observed in his concurrence,
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the law was, in his view, already settled against the defendants. See id.

at 191.

The district coulrt's conclusion here is inconsistent with

Napout and refuted by the facts of this case. As this Court already

recognized in Napout, and as proven at trial here, the soccer executives

were fiduciaries of the soccer organizations for which they worked subject

to the bribery prohibitions written into codes of conduct agreed to by all

member national federations. (See SGA:23-24, 50 (noting govelrnment's

numerous supporting sources in the "common law, state law, civil law,

foreign law, [and] codes of conduct," and acknowledging that a soccer

president-Bedoya-testified that he and other CONMEBOL officials

were aware of conduct codes prohibiting bribery and were required to

work with absolute loyalty to CONMEBOL and FIFA)), see also Napout,

963 F.8d at 184-85 (holding that evidence of fiduciary duties during first

trial was "easily sufficient" to prove honest-services fraud under Rule 29).

In short, the district court failed meaningfully to distinguish

Skilling and Babel from this case. It did not address this Coulrt's en bane

decision in Rybicki or its Rule 29 analysis in Napout, which analysis is

identical to that in this case on the issue of duty. The court mistakenly
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cited a key observation made by this Court in Napout for its opposite

proposition. A11 of this requires vacate of the court's order and the

reinstatement of the julry's verdict .
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POINT TWO

PERCOCO AND CIMINELLI DID
NOT ABROGATE PRIOR PRECEDENTS

1. Introduction

Contrary to the district court's reasoning, Ciminelli and

Peircoco did not abrogate Rybicki, Skilling, Babel, or Napout. As an

initial matter, neither Ciminelli nor Percoco says anything about foreign

bribery or commercial bribery (let alone the court's new and sweeping

concept of "foreign commercial bribery"). The coulrt's reading of Ciminelli

and Percoco SO broadly as to sweep away those precedents in this context

was erroneous.

II. Argument

A. Ciminelli Involved a Different Legal Theory
that Lacked Statutory Authorization, Unlike § 1346

Ciminelli does not apply to this case because it involved a

court-created intangible-rights theory of traditional wire fraud that was

not presented here. The district court found Ciminelli "relevant" because

it "criticized" the right to control theory "for 'vastly expand[ing] federal

jurisdiction without statutory autholrization."' (SGA:38, 46-47 & n.2'7

(quoting 598 U.S. at 315)). But this case did not involve the right to
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control theory. Indeed, Ciminelli repeatedly recognized the distinction

between the right to control and the right to honest services. Unlike the

right to control, the right to honest services is based upon "statutory

authorization," i.e., § 1346. See Ciminelli, 598 U.S. at 315.

Ciminelli also observed that the right to control theory

"place[d] under federal superintendence a vast array of conduct

traditionally policed by the states." Id. at 316 (quoted in SGA:38, 46-47

& n.2'7). By contrast, the prosecution of international bribery using U.S.

wires does not implicate federalism concerns. See United States V. No

Lap Send, 934 F.3d 110, 137 (2d Cir. 2019) (federalism concerns "do not

pertain" to the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act ("FCPA"), which "prohibits

bribery with respect to officials of foreign governments or public

international organizations, whose structure is no part of our

constitutional concelrn") .

Protecting the U.S. financial wires from abuse by corrupt

actors engaged in international bribery is core federal enforcement

territory. See, e.g., Napout, 963 F.3d at 179-81, see also, e.g., 18 U.S.C.

§§ 1341, 1343 (providing for enhanced punishment where fraud "affects
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a financial institution"). Section 1346, like the traditional mail and wire

fraud statutes, vindicates this substantial federal interest.

B. Percoco Did Not Mandate a New Categorical Rule

The district coulrt's Peircoco analysis proceeded in two parts,

both of which were flawed.

First, contrary to the district coulrt's analysis, Peircoco did not

identify a new category of doctrinal distinctions based on the "source of

the fiduciary duty." (SGAA3). The question of "what sources of law may

give rise to that duty" is distinct from the question of "who owes a duty

of honest services." Percoco, 589 U.S. at 334 (Gorsuch, J., concurring in

the judgment). The Margiotta standard rejected in Percoco involved the

latter question.

Accordingly, Percoco merely continued the dialogue the

majority and Justice Scalia had in Skilling: Although the courts of

appeals sometimes debated "who is a fiduciary" in bribery cases, Skilling,

561 U.S. at 418 n.1 (Scalia, J., concurring in part and concurring in the

judgment), the question is "usually beyond dispute," including in the

public official-public and employee-employer contexts, id. at 407 n.41



Case: 23-7183, 01/02/2024, DktEntry: 36.1, Page 80 of 160

'70

(emphasis added). Percoco merely involved a challenge to the assertion8

of a fiduciary relationship different from the identified public official-

public example (in that Percoco involved a private individual who the

government alleged owed a duty to the public) .

Second, the district court misread a single sentence in Peircoco

to require a significant number of pre-McNally cases containing a factual

twin fiduciary source. In striking down the Margiotta jury instructions,

Percoco explained that "[t]he intangible right of honest services must be

defined with the clarity typical of criminal statutes and should not be

held to reach an ill-defined category of circumstances simply because of

a smattering of pre-McNallydecisions." 598 U.S. at 328-29. The sentence

sets forth two necessary conditions: If (1) a "category of circumstances"

is "ill-defined," and if (2) only "a smattering of" (or no) pre-McNally

honest-services fraud cases support criminalizing that category, then

§ 1346 may not cover those circumstances. Id. As relevant to the jury

Indeed, the petitioner in Percoco recognized that those two
Skilling examples were "solid core" fiduciary relationships. Pet'r Br. 32,
Percoco V. United States, 143 S. Ct. 1130 (2023) (No. 21-1158), 2022 WL
4010057, at *32, accord Pet. for Writ of Certiorari 27-28, Percoco V.
United States, 143 S. Ct. 1130 (2023) (No. 21-1158), 2022 WL 542882, at
*27-28.

8



Case: 23-7183, 01/02/2024, DktEntry: 36.1, Page 81 of 160

'71

instructions in Percoco, a smattering of this Coulrt's pre-McNally cases,

including Margiotta, applied a particular legal test for which private

individuals owe a duty to the public. Although a few such cases existed

pre-McNally, reliance on them did not save the Percoco jury instructions

because that test was "ill-defined." The Supreme Court indicated that,

for example, the Margiotta-standard jury instructions implicated

lobbyists acting legally within the bounds of their profession. Id. at 331.

Thus, despite the existence of some supporting pre-McNally cases, the

Supreme Court reversed the relevant convictions.

Thus, while Percoco found both the amorphous bribe-recipient

definition and limited precedential support as two necessary conditions

for reversal, the district court here read Percoco as requiring vacate

when only one of those conditions-limited precedential support-is

present. (See SGAA8 ("Here, there is not even a 'smattering of pre-

McNally decisions' ... that support the application of § 1346 to foreign

commercial blribelry.")) .

But Percoco itself illustrated that the other condition-the

amorphous bribe recipient definition-is necessary. Percoco rejected a

bright-line rule proposed by the petitioner that no private person may
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hold a fiduciary duty to the public covered by § 1346. Instead, the

Supreme Court recognized that private individuals "may enter into

agreements that make them actual agents of the government"-a matter

of evidentiary proof at trial-even though the Court noted that the

majority of pre-McNally caselaw involved "actual public officials.79

Percoco, 589 U.S. at 329-380. Such a common-law, agency-based duty

was a "well-established principle" that "did not stretch § 1346 past

heartland cases." Percoco, 589 U.S. at 329-330. Percoco cited to a legal

treatise, not a pre-McNally case, for this proposition. Id. Accordingly,

Peircoco was consistent with the teachings of Rybicki, in which this Court

sitting en bane emphasized that pre-McNally cases are instructive but

not binding. See Rybicki, 354 F.8d at 145.

C. The District Court Erred in Relying on Justice
Gorsuch's Concurring Opinion in Percoco Instead of the
Binding Decisions of the Supreme Court and this Court

The district court also erred in relying on a nonbinding

concurrence as a basis for its ruling. The court repeatedly invoked

Justice Gorsuch's Percoco concurrence, joined by only one other Justice,

lamenting the majolrity's refusal to declare § 1346 unconstitutionally
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vague. (SGA:31 (quoting Percoco, 598 U.S. at 333 (Gorsuch, J.,

concurring in the judgment)).

But Justice Gorsuch never suggested that the convictions at

issue fell outside § 1346's statutory scope, or that the government failed

to demonstrate a Margiotta duty at trial. Justice Gorsuch instead argued

that the trial-proven convictions violated due process. Cf. Jennings V.

Rodriguez, 583 U.S. 298 (2018) ("Spotting a constitutional issue does not

give a court the authority to rewrite a statute as it pleases."). The opinion

is thus inapposite to the Rule 29 context.

In any event, the majority declined to adopt the concurring

Justice's vagueness reasoning. And it is not the role of a district court to

base its decisions on predictions of how the Supreme Court might rule on

issues that have not yet been presented, particularly where there is

already binding caselaw from this Court addressing factually analogous

or identical cases, such as Babel and Napout. Cf. Picard V. Magliano, 42

F.4th 89, 105 (2d Cir. 2022) ("But to the extent that the standard in [later

Supreme Court decisions] may be thought to call the reasoning of [a prior

Supreme Court case] into question, it is for the Supreme Court, and not
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for us, to decide if and when its precedential force has been undermined

by those cases.").

D. This Court in Avenatti Deemed Ciminelli and
Percoco Inapposite to a Commercial Bribery Case

Two days before the district court issued its opinion reversing

Lopez and Full Play's convictions, this Court in Avenatti found Ciminelli

and Percoco inapplicable to a commercial-bribery case. Avenatti, 81

F.4th at 194 n.2'7. There, attorney Michael Avenatti sought, on the basis

of Ciminelli and Percoco, to overturn his honest-services wire fraud trial

conviction for soliciting a commercial bribe in exchange for finalizing a

settlement between his client and an adverse party. This Court affirmed,

finding that Ciminelli and Percoco "do not pertain" to Avenatti's claims.

Id. Ciminelli "has no bearing on Avenatti's sufficiency challenge" since

it addressed "tlraditional, not honest-services, fraud." Id. Percoco was

deemed inapposite because it addressed public, not commercial, bribery,

and because Avenatti "cannot[] argue that he lacked notice that, as an

attorney, he owed a fiduciary duty to this client." Id.

This Court accordingly cited a post-McNally plurality opinion

concerning Rule lob-5 securities fraud, rather than a pre-McNally

decision. See id. (citing United States V. Chestman, 947 F.2d 551, 568
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(2d Cir. 1991) (en bane) (plurality opinion)), see also id. at 198 n.30

(articulating duty based in part on United States V. Schwarz, 283 F.3d

76 (2d Cir. 2002), which was a case involving civil rights violations, not

honest-services fraud). Similarly, in discussing fiduciary duties, Skilling

itself cited to a case outside the honest-services context. See 561 U.S. at

407 n.41 (citing securities-law case Chiarella V. United States, 445 U.S.

222, 233 (1980), which in turn cited to a legal treatise, see Chiarella, 445

U.s. at 228 n.9).

Indeed, in attempting to account for Avenatti, the district

court itself relied on non-wire fraud, pre-McNally cases observing that

lawyers owe fiduciary duties to their client, undermining its own

interpretation of Percoco to preclude consideration of such precedents.

<sGA:44-45 & n.24).

The district court additionally attempted to distinguish the

attorney-client relationship as "a 'holrnbook' fiduciary duty," while, in

contrast, "the Circuit has expressly held that whether a foreign employer-

employee relationship is a source for a fiduciary duty under § 1346 is a

question that remains unsettled, at best[]." (SGA:45-46 & n.26). As

discussed above, the court took this Coulrt's statement out of context and
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cited it for its opposite proposition. And the coulrt's categorical rejection

of an honest-services prosecution on the facts here conflicts with this

Coulrt's observation that the agent-principal fiduciary relationship, too,

is hornbook law. See, e.g., Chestman, 947 F.2d at 568.

In sum, Ciminelli and Percoco did not abrogate Rybicki,

Skilling, Babel, or Napout, as illustrated by Avenatti. The district court

committed reversible error by treating them as having done otherwise.
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POINT THREE

EVEN IF PERCOCO CHANGED THE LAW, THE DISTRICT
COURT MISAPPLIED THE NEW TEST AND IGNORED

PRE-MCNALLY CASES THAT SUPPORT THE CONVICTIONS

1. Introduction

Even if the district court were correct that Percoco abrogated

longstanding Second Circuit and Supreme Court precedent and

prescribed new limitations on honest-services fraud, the court misstated

the relevant test by requiring a pre-McNally factual twin for the

particular fiduciary relationship at issue. But even if Percoco required

the charges in this case to be supported by precedent specifically

involving international fact patterns, sufficient authority exists to satisfy

that requirement. The court did not consider any such pre-McNally9

cases, all of which support the convictions here.

The district court appeared to fault the government for not
presenting precedents relevant to the court's new bright-line test. (See.
e.g., SGA:50 ("[N]one of the Government's appeals ... overcome[s] the
basic fact that there is no precedential authority to support the
application of this federal criminal statute, § 1346, to foreign commercial
bribery[] ....")). But-as the court acknowledged-Lopez presented a
vagueness, not statutory, challenge in his opening brief (SGA:29 n.15),
and the government thus responded with "anti-vagueness arguments"
(SGA:49). The statutory argument did not emerge until the reply brief.

9
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II. Applicable Law

In general, "it is the principle" articulated in prior caselaw

"which controls and not the specific facts upon which the principle was

decided." United States V. LaBinia, 614 F.2d 1207, 1210 (9th Cir. 1980)

(quoting Walker V. Georgia, 417 F.2d 5, 8 (5th Cir. 1969)). Legal

principles, not fact patterns, control across all areas of law, including

constitutional interpretation 0 and retroactivity.I I Cf. Rogers V.

Tennessee, 532 U.S. 451, 471 (2001) (Scalier, J., dissenting) ("Many

criminal cases present some factual nuance that arguably distinguishes

them from cases that have come before, a court applying the penal statute

to the new fact pattern does not purport to change the law."). Federal

(See SGA:29 & n.15 (citing Lopez's reply brief)). Full Play never pressed
the statutory argument below.

10 See, e.g., Trump v. Vance, 140 S. Ct. 2412, 2425-29 (2020)
(rejecting argument that, because history revealed a longstanding
practice of the President responding to federal criminal subpoenas but no
precedent of the President doing so for state criminal subpoenas, the
factual "distinction makes all the difference" and President should be
"categorically" protected from responding to the latter) .

II See, e.g., Gaines V. Kelly, 202 F.3d 598, 603 n.1 (2d Cir. 2000)
(rejecting argument that deemed as "new rule" the "mere application of
prior precedent" to new case with jury-charge language "distinct from the
specific language" analyzed in that precedent).
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courts regularly hold that "new applications" of statutory standards "may

arise in light of changes in the world." Wise. Cent. Ltd. V. United States,

138 S. Ct. 2067, 2074 (2018).

III. Argument

The district court was incorrect in viewing pre-McNally

caselaw as devoid of foreign or international precedent. Although it is

difficult to parse categorically through particular mail or wire fraud

theories advanced in the pre-McNally era because § 1346 did not yet

exist, foreign commercial bribery was clearly contemplated in traditional

fraud cases. See, e.g., United States V. Groves, 122 F.2d 87, 89-91 (2d

Cir. 1941) (scheme involving kickbacks to Argentine employees of

Argentine companies related to sale of certain Argentine securities to

defendant's company), see also, e.g., United States V. Sindona, 636 F.2d

792, 795-96, 802 (2d Cir. 1980) (schemes involving, in part, bribes to Bank

of Montreal executive who was board director of domestic bank co-owned

by foreign defendant and who was induced by those bribes to falsify

bank's records and cause bank to enter into fraudulent foreign-exchange

transactions), Sindona V. Grant, 619 F.2d 167, 171-72 & n.5 (2d Cir. 1980)

(defendant bribed general manager of Italian bank in scheme to transfer
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funds from domestic bank to defendant-controlled Italian bank). Other

criminal cases involved private-sector bribes with significant foreign ties.

See, e.g., United States V. Olin Matheson Chem. Corp., 368 F.2d 525, 526

(2d Cir. 1966) (per curia) (conviction of 18 U.S.C. § 1001 involving

concealment of foreign commercial kickbacks), United States V. Austin

Co., 273 F. Supp. 360, 361-62 (s.D.n.y. 1967> (same).

Government attention to foreign bribery escalated in the

1970s because such "widespread" bribery had been only "recently

discovered." United States V. Kay, 359 F.3d 738, 746 (5th Cir. 2004)

(addressing enactment of FCPA). The bribes became "high-profile" years

before McNally. Id. at 749. Wire fraud prosecutions involving such illicit

overseas payments became plentiful and pervaded the public

consciousness. See, e.g., Charles R. Babcock & Jerry Knight, U.S. Fines

Control Data $1.3 Million, Control Data Gets Record Fine in Bribery

Scheme, Record Penalty is Levied in Foreign Bribery Scheme, The

Washington Post, 1978 WLNR 227289 (Apr. 27, 1978) (reporting guilty

pleas in two separate wire fraud prosecutions involving foreign bribery

of foreign government officials by Control Data Corp. and the Williams

Cos.), John F. Berry, Food Co. Guilty of Conspiracy; United Brands
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Admits to Paying Honduras Official, The Washington Post, 1978 WLNR

223927 (Jul. 20, 1978) (reporting that United Brands Co. pleaded guilty

to conspiring to pay $2.5 million bribe to a Honduran government official

to lower export tax on bananas and noting that a U.S. task force is

investigating 40 cases of questionable foreign payments by American

companies), Charles R. Babcock, Guilty Plea is Entered By Lockheed,

Lockheed Pleads Guilty To Bribery in Japan, Firm Admits Making Illegal

Payments to Japanese Officials, The Washington Post, 1979 WLNR

265433 (Jun. 2, 1979) (reporting that Lockheed Corp. pleaded guilty to

wire fraud and false statement charges in connection with its having paid

over $2.6 million in bribes to Japanese officials in connection with the

sale of a commercial jetliner), Charles R. Babcock & Timothy S. Robinson,

Four Aircraft Executives Indicted, 4 at McDonnell Douglas Indicted in

Bribe Probe, The Washington Post, 1979 WLNR 296311 (Nov. 10, 1970)

(reporting that four McDonnell Douglas Corp. executives were indicted

on fraud and conspiracy charges and accused of making $1.6 million in
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secret commission payments in the sale of DC10 Jetliners to Pakistani

government-owned airlines) .12

The government was not given the opportunity to point the

district court to this precedent, nor did the court consider this history in

circumscribing § 1346'3 scope contrary to the plain language of its text.

This was error that mandates reversal and remand.

The government has gathered the relevant court filings for
the McDonnell Douglas, Lockheed Corp., Control Data Corp. and The
Williams Cos. prosecutions and will make those available to the Court
upon request.

12
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POINT FOUR

THE DISTRICT COURT FAILED TO
CONSTRUE THE EVIDENCE IN THE LIGHT
MOST FAVORABLE TO THE GOVERNMENT

1. Introduction

Even assuming the district court were correct in its legal

analysis-which it is not for all the reasons described above-the court

failed to acknowledge the govelrnment's evidence at trial that established

at least one scheme that would meet the coulrt's new test. This too was

reversible error.

11. Relevant Facts

One of the three schemes proven at trial was the Cope

América scheme, in which Full Play conspired with its business partners

to pay $10 million in bribes to the President of CONCACAF, Jeffrey

Webb, for the media rights to the Copa América Centenario, a special

100th anniversary edition of the tournament that was played across the

United States. (See GA:363-70, 373-'75, 392-98, 416-25, 464, 535-36, 538-

41, 1047-53, 2312, see also GA:27-28). CONCACAF was headquartered

in the United States. E.., GA:104'7-53 (contract identifying

CONCACAF's headquarters in Florida), GA:l25'7 (identifying
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CONCACAF headquarters as "Miami, USA"), GA:88-89, GA:397-98

(CONCACAF Secretary Genelral's offices located "on 5th Avenue on

Trump Tower" (in New Yolrk)), GA:5). More specifically, during a meeting

in March 2013, Full Play's co-owner Mariano Jinkis agreed that Full Play

and its business partners would pay Webb a $10 million bribe so that

Webb would arrange for CONCACAF to "participate in this joint venture

feature bringing CONMEBOL and CONCACAF to organize Cope

América Centenario" in the United States. (GA:368). Full Play and its

partners later discussed the mechanism by which they would pay the

bribe. (GA:392-96). Webb owed a fiduciary duty to CONCACAF and

FIFA not to accept bribes. (GA;92-96, 110, 114-15, 118-21, 1305-28, 1424-

83, 1726-809). Webb executed the Copa America Centenario contract

with Full Play two months after this corrupt agreement was reached.

(GA:3'74-'75, 1047-53). Although Lopez and Martinez were not charged

in the Copa América scheme, the evidence established that they

leveraged their corrupt relationship with Full Play, established during

the Copa Libertadores scheme, to assist FOX in obtaining the

broadcasting rights to the Copa América Centenario. (GA:416-25, 2361-

62).
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The jury convicted Full Play on one count of honest-services

wire fraud conspiracy and one count of money laundering conspiracy in

connection with this scheme. The indictment alleged that CONCACAF

was based in the United States and a victim of the Copa America scheme,

facts which the government proved at trial. Had the government been

on notice that the district court intended to impose a new rule limiting

the scope of § 1346, it would have offered even more such evidence at

trial. As the record reflects, the government considered calling Webb to

testify. (GA:434-40). The government ultimately declined to do SO in

order to streamline a long trial during the COVID-19 pandemic but would

have called Webb as a witness had the government been on notice of the

district court's new interpretation of the scope of § 1346.

III. The District Court Erred in Dismissing the Copa América Counts

The district court erred by overturning the Copa America

counts against Full Play without any discussion or consideration of the

govelrnment's evidence that Full Play conspired to bribe the official of a

U.S.-based organization in violation of his fiduciary duty to that

organization. When undertaking a Rule 29 analysis, the district court is

duty-bound to determine:
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whether, after viewing the evidence in the light
most favorable to the prosecution, any rational
trier of fact could have found the essential
elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt.
This familiar standard gives full play to the
responsibility of the trier of fact fairly to resolve
conflicts in the testimony, to weigh the evidence,
and to draw reasonable inferences from basic facts
to ultimate facts. Once a defendant has been
found guilty of the crime charged, the faultfinder's
role as weigher of the evidence is preserved
through a legal conclusion that upon judicial
review all of the evidence is to be considered in the
light most favorable to the prosecution. The
criterion thus impinges upon "jury" discretion only
to the extent necessary to guarantee the
fundamental protection of due process.

Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 319 (1979).

The trial evidence proved that CONCACAF was based in the

United States. Even applying the district coulrt's new rule cabining the

scope of § 1346, CONCACAF is a domestic organization whose intangible

right to honest services from its employees can still be vindicated under

§ 1346. Just as the defendant in Babel was a foreign national owing an

agreed-upon duty not to accept bribes to an international organization

headquartered in the United States, SO too was Webb.13 But the court, in

There is little or no record evidence of Webb's residence or
citizenship. Had the government been on notice of the district court's

13
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describing the Copa América Scheme charges in its Rule 29 opinion,

entirely omitted that CONCACAF was one of the victims deprived of the

right of honest services. The court then failed to even acknowledge the14

evidence presented at trial regarding CONCACAF and Full Play's

scheme to bribe its top executive using the U.S. financial system. Indeed,

the court mentions "CONCACAF" only four times and "Webb" only once,

none of which is in the legal analysis. (SGA:1, 22, 23, 25). Ignoring

swaths of admitted evidence in their entirety that prove the domestic

connection the court required under its new rule is not viewing evidence

in the light most favorable to the prosecution. The court's failure to

new rule pretrial, the government would have presented evidence
regarding Webb's U.S. residence.

(Compare SGA:5 ("As to the Copa América Scheme, the S-3
Indictment alleged that between 2010 and 2015, Full Play and others
agreed to pay tens of millions of dollars in bribes to CONMEBOL officials
to secure the media and marketing rights to the 2015, 2019, and 2023
editions of the Copa America, as well as the Copa America Centenario
held in 2016 in the United States."), with I)E:133'7 at 11153 ("FULL PLAY,
... together with others, did knowingly and intentionally devise a scheme
and artifice to defraud FIFA, CONCACAF and CONMEBOL and their
constituent organizations, including to deprive FIFA, CONCACAF and
CONMEBOL and their constituent organizations of their respective
rights to honest and faithful services through bribes and
kickbacks ...."), and DE:19(-33 at 34-86 (instructing jury that
CONCACAF was alleged victim of the Copa America scheme)) .

14
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consider the evidence according to its pronounced legal standard alone

requires reversal.

As to the other counts, the district court erred in granting

judgments of acquittal based on a theory of which the parties lacked

notice during trial and of which the jury was not instructed. As the court

effectively imposed a new element post-trial, the proper course, assuming

the court were correct on what the law required, would have been to grant

a motion for a new trial, especially since the government could offer

additional evidence on this ground at any retrial. See United States V.

Wacker, '72 F.3d 1453, 1463-65 (10th Cir. 1995) (ordering a new trial after

the Supreme Court redefined the element of "use" of a firearm in Bailey

V. United States SO that a properly instructed jury could decide if the

evidence is sufficient and the government could present additional

evidence), of. United States V. Bruno, 661 F.3d 733, 743 (2d Cir. 2011)

(recognizing that appellate courts routinely remand for a retrial to permit

"the government the opportunity to muster evidence sufficient to satisfy

the new standard" that did not exist at the time of conviction, but

analyzing the sufficiency of the evidence under the new standard in

Skilling when the government conceded it would have no additional



Case: 23-7183, 01/02/2024, DktEntry: 36.1, Page 99 of 160

89

evidence to offer at a retrial regarding the quid pro quo now required by

Skilling).
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CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, this Court should vacate the

judgments of acquittal as to Lopez and Full Play, reinstate the jury

verdicts as to Lopez and Full Play, and remand for further proceedings.

Dated: Brooklyn, New York
January 2, 2024

Respectfully submitted,

BREON PEACE,
United States Attorney,
Eastern District of New York.

By: /s/
KAITLIN T. FARRELL
Assistant U.S. Attorney

AMY BUSA,
DAVID C. JAMES,
KAITLIN T. FARRELL,
ROBERT T. POLEMENI,
VICTOR ZAPANA,
ERIC SILVERBERG,
LORENA MICHELEN,
Assistant United States Attorneys,

(Of Counsel).
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

-x

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

against -
MEMORANDUM & ORDER

FULL PLAY GROUP, S.A. and HERNAN
LOPEZ,

15-CR-252 (8-3) (PKC)

Defendants.
-x

PAMELA K. CHEN, United States District Judge:

Defendants Full Play Group, S.A. ("Full Play"), an Argentine sports marketing company,

and Hernén Lopez ("Lopez"), the former Chief Executive Officer ("CEO") of Fox International

Channels ("FIC"), are among dozens of individuals and entities charged in an almost decade-long

prosecution targeting conception in international soccer. The wide-ranging prosecution has

resulted in the convictions of dozens of former officials of the Fédération Internationale de

Football Association ("FIFA") and affiliated continental and regional soccer confederations, such

as la ConfederaciOn Sudamericana de Fu'tbol ("CONMEBOL") and the Confederation of North,

Central America and Caribbean Association Football ("CONCACAF"), as well as executives and

employees of certain sports broadcasting and media rights companies, along with the companies

themselves.

Here, Defendants Full Play and Lopez (collectively, "Defendants") were charged with

being participants in an intricate scheme to pay bribes and kickbacks to CONMEBOL officials for

the purpose of obtaining the broadcasting and marketing rights for popular regional soccer

tournaments. Specifically, Full Play was charged with several wire-fraud and money-laundering

schemes related to the Copa Libertadores and Copa América soccer tournaments, and various

"friendly" matches ("friendlies") and World Cup qualifiers amongst South American national

1
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teams, and Lopez was charged as a co-conspirator in the wire-fraud and money-laundering counts

related to the Copa Libertadores scheme. On March 9, 2023, a jury found Full Play and Lopez

guilty on all counts charged against them after a seven-week trial. l

Defendants Full Play and Lopez now move under Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 29

("Rule 29") for judgments of acquittal. Although before trial the Court rejected some of the same

legal arguments Defendants now renew in their post-trial motions, because of intervening Supreme

Court decisions signaling limits on the scope of the honest services wire fraud statute, the Court

grants Defendants' motions and vacates their convictions.

BACKGROUND

I. Initial Indictments and 2017 Trial

This case began in May 2015 with the indictment of nine FIFA officials and five sports

media executives for their alleged participation in bribery schemes related to international soccer

tournaments. (See generally Sealed Indictment, Dkt. 1.) Six months later, in November 2015, the

grand jury returned a superseding indictment charging additional defendants. (See generally

Sealed Indictment, Dkt. 102.) In the few years that followed, many of the charged defendants

chose to cooperate with the Government and/or plead guilty. United States v. Napout, 963 F.3d

163, 170 (2d Cir. 2020). In June 2017, in anticipation of trial, the Government obtained a second

superseding indictment pertaining only to defendants Juan Angel Napout, Manuel Burga, and José

Maria Marin. (See generally Superseding Indictment (S-2), Dkt. 604, Government Letter re S-2

Indictment, Dkt. 603).)

1 A third defendant, Carlos Martinez ("Martinez"), was charged with the same counts as
Lopez, but was acquitted by the jury on all counts.

2
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On November 6, 2017, Napout, Burger, and Marin proceeded to a jury trial before this

Court. (See 11/6/2017 Minute Entry.) After six weeks of trial, Napout was convicted of the

racketeering conspiracy and wire fraud conspiracy counts, but acquitted on the money laundering

conspiracy counts, and Marin was convicted on all counts, except for one money laundering

conspiracy count. (See 12/22/2017 Minute Entry, Verdict Sheet, Dkt. 873.) Burga was acquitted

on all counts against him. (See Dkts. 871, 874.) Napout and Marin challenged their convictions,

principally arguing that they were convicted based on impermissible extraterritorial applications

of the wire fraud statutes. See generally United States v. Napout,332 F. Supp. 3d 533 (E.D.N.Y.

2018), Napout, 963 F.3d 163. This Court denied their post-trial motions for acquittal and new

trials, Napout,332 F. Supp. 3d at 575, and the Second Circuit affirmed, Napout, 963 F.3d at 190.

II. Third Superseding Indictment

On March 18, 2020, the grand jury returned a third superseding indictment, adding charges

against Defendants Full Play, Lopez, and Martinez. (Sealed Superseding Indictment (S-3) ("S-3

Indictment" or "the Indictment"), Dkt. 1337.) Like the previous indictments, the S-3 Indictment

alleged a wide-ranging racketeering conspiracy, spanning "a period of more than 20 years," that

involved various schemes to solicit, pay, and receive bribes and kickbacks "in connection with the

sale of media and marketing rights to various soccer tournaments and events" around the world.

(S-3 Indictment, Dkt. 1337, ii 63.) Full Play, a South American sports media and marketing

company, was charged in the overarching Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations

("RICO") conspiracy and several of the wire-fraud and money-laundering schemes underlying the

RICO conspiracy, including ones connected with the Copa Libertadores ("Copa Libertadores #2

Scheme"), the Copa América ("Copa América Scheme"), and various friendly and World Cup

qualifier matches ("World Cup Qualifiers/Friendlies Scheme"). (Id. W 19-20, 113-15, 129-35,

146-56.) Lopez and Martinez, both United States citizens who were executives at FIC, a

3
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subsidiary of Twenty-First Century FOX, Inc. ("Fox"), were charged as co-conspirators with Full

Play in the counts related to the Copa Libertadores #2 Scheme-but not in any of the other counts

in the S-3 Indictment, including the RICO count. (See id. W2122, 12935.)

Prior to Defendants' trial, the Government decided not to proceed to trial on the RICO

count as to Full Play (Dkt. 1756) and the substantive wire fraud counts as to Full Play, Lopez, and

Martinez (Dkt. 1864). Consequently, only Defendants' conspiracy counts for honest services wire

fraud and money laundering remained. (See generally Dkt. 1868 (Government's proposed trial

indictment "edited to omit counts from the [Third Superseding] Indictment that are irrelevant to

the trial ....").)

A. Copa Libertadores #2 Scheme

With respect to the Copa Libertadores #2 Scheme, the wire fraud conspiracy charge in the

S-3 Indictment alleged

In or about and between 2000 and 2015, both dates being approximate and
inclusive, within the Eastern District of New York and elsewhere, the defendants
FULL PLAY, HERNAN LOPEZ, and CARLOS MARTINEZ, together with
others, did knowingly and intentionally conspire to devise a scheme and artifice to
defraud FIFA and CONMEBOL and their constituent organizations, including to
deprive FIFA and CONMEBOL and their constituent organizations of their
respective rights to honest and faithful services through bribes and kickbacks, and
to obtain money and property by means of materially false and fraudulent pretenses,
representations and promises, and for the purpose of executing such scheme and
artifice, to transmit and cause to be transmitted by means of wire communication
in interstate and foreign commerce, writings, signs, signals, pictures and sounds, to
wit: wire transfers, telephone calls and emails, contrary to Title 18, United States
Code, Section 1343.

2 The Government produced an S-3 Indictment for Defendants' trial that contained only
the charges remaining against them and the allegations relevant to Defendants and those charges.
(See Tr. Indictment, Dkt. 1868-1.) Other than being edited and renumbered to include only the
defendants going to trial, the language of the relevant counts in the Trial Indictment was identical
to the S-3 Indictment. (Compare, e.g., S-3 Indictment, Dkt. 1337, 11 130 (charging Count Nine,
wire fraud conspiracy related to the Copa Libertadores #2 Scheme against 13 defendants) with Tr.
Indictment, Dkt. 1868-1, 11 34 (charging Count One, wire fraud conspiracy related to the Copa
Libertadores #2 Scheme against Full Play, Lopez, and Martinez).)

4
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(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1349 and 3551 et seq.)

(Tr. Indictment, Dkt. 1868-1, 1i34.)3 The Indictment detailed 11 fraudulent wire transfers between

March 20, 2015 and May 26, 2015 that Full Play, Lopez, Martinez, and their co-conspirators "did

transmit and cause to be transmitted" in furtherance of the alleged scheme. (Dkt. 1337, 1] 133.)

B. Copa América Scheme

As to the Copa América Scheme, the S-3 Indictment alleged that between 2010 and 2015,

Full Play and others agreed to pay tens of millions of dollars in bribes to CONMEBOL officials to

secure the media and marketing rights to the 2015, 2019, and 2023 editions of the Copa América,

as well as the Copa América Centenario held in 2016 in the United States. (See id. W 81-85, 150-

54.) The S-3 Indictment specified six fraudulent wire transfers between April 27, 2015 and May

26, 2015 that Full Play and its co-conspirators "did transmit and cause to be transmitted" in

furtherance of the alleged scheme. (Id. 1] 154.)

Section 1343 of the federal criminal code the wire fraud statute provides that
"[w]hoever, having devised or intending to devise any scheme or artifice to defraud, or for
obtaining money or property by means of false or fraudulent pretenses, representations, or
promises, transmits or causes to be transmitted by means of wire, radio, or television
communication in interstate or foreign commerce, any writings, signs, signals, pictures, or sounds
for the purpose of executing such scheme or artifice," is guilty of a felony offense. 18 U.S.C. §
1343. Notably, § 1343 does not reference schemes and artifices to defraud by depriving
organizations of "their respective rights to honest and faithful services." Id. Rather, as discussed
infra Discussion Section I.A.2, honest services wire fraud was created when Congress enacted 18

U.S.C. § 1346, which provides that the term "'scheme or artifice to defraud' [for purposes of §
1343] includes a scheme or artifice to deprive another of the intangible right of honest services."
18 U.S.C. § 1346. Section 1343 therefore can be violated either through a scheme to deprive an
organization of honest services, or a scheme to obtain the property of another through false
representations. Although the Indictment appears to allege both forms of wire fraud under § 1343
as objects of the § 1349 conspiracy charge (and does not explicitly reference § 1346) (see Tr.
Indictment, Dkt. 1868-1, 1134), the Government sought to prove an honest services wire fraud
conspiracy only at trial (see Dkt. 1869, at 3340 (Government's proposed jury charges defining
"wire fraud" using the "elements of honest services wire fraud")), and does not argue differently
now.

3

5
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c. World Cup Qualifiers/Friendlies Scheme

Lastly, the S-3 Indictment alleged that between 2007 and 2015, Full Play and its owners,

Hugo and Mariano Jinkis, engaged in a scheme to pay bribes and kickbacks to the presidents of

various soccer federations within CONMEBOL in exchange for media rights to certain World Cup

qualifying matches and certain friendly matches. (Id. ii 79.)

III. Pre-Trial Rulings

On July 23, 2021, Defendants Full Play, Lopez, and Martinez filed motions to dismiss the

S-3 Indictment under Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure l2(b)(3). (Dkts. 1594, 1595.)

Defendants moved for dismissal on three grounds: (1) the honest services wire fraud charges were

unconstitutionally vague as applied to Defendants, (2) the Indictment impermissibly sought to

apply the wire-fraud statute extraterritorially, and (3) the Indictment did not sufficiently allege an

offense. United States v. Full Play Grp., SA., No. 15-CR-252 (PKC), 2021 WL 5038765, at *4

(E.D.N.Y. Oct. 29, 2021) (citing Dkts. 1594-1, 1595-1). The Court's previous ruling regarding

Defendants' first argument, the vagueness challenge, is relevant to this Memorandum and Order

and is summarized below.4

By written decision issued on October 29, 2021, the Court denied Defendants' motions in

their entirety. (Id.) At the time, the Court "ha[d] no trouble rejecting Defendants' [] vagueness

arguments" because "although jurists may continue to debate the source and scope of the fiduciary

duties encompassed by § 1346, at least when it comes to bribery and kickback schemes-such as

the ones alleged here[] those debates are academic." Id. at *6. Specifically, the Court disagreed

with Defendants' attempt to differentiate foreign private sector bribery from domestic private

4 Defendants' second argument regarding extraterritoriality is not re-raised in their present
motions and therefore the issue is largely not discussed herein. See also infra Discussion Section
I.C.

6
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sector bribery, in large part, because the Second Circuit had "rejected a substantively

indistinguishable argument" in United States v. Babel. Id. at*7 (citing United States v. Babel, 662

F.3d610, 616-17 (2d Cir. 2011)). The Court explained that in Babel,"a foreign national employee

of the United Nations" "argued that he could not be prosecuted for honest-services fraud under §

1346 because 'none of the pre-McNally cases extended an "honest-services" theory of fraud to an

international setting involving foreign nationals[.]9 99 Id. (quoting Babel, 662 F.3d at 632). But

"[t]he Circuit found this argument unavailing, concluding that § 1346 'is limited to the nature of

the offenses prosecuted in the pre-McNally cases (i.e., bribery and kickback schemes) not the

identity of the actors involved in those cases."' Id. (quoting Babel, 662 F.3d at 632) (emphasis

added). The Court agreed with the Babel panel, id., and denied Defendants' vagueness challenge

along with the rest of Defendants' dismissal arguments, id. at *15 ("Defendants' motions to

dismiss the S-3 Indictment (Dkts. 1594, 1595) are denied in their entirety.").

IV. Trial

Jury selection began on January 12, 2023 (1/12/2023 Minute Entry), and trial started the

following week, on January 17, 2023. Over of the course of the approximately seven-week trial,

the Government called 14 witnesses and introduced voluminous documents concerning

international soccer, FIFA and CONMEBOL, the broadcasting market for international soccer, the

alleged bribery schemes, and Defendants' roles in those schemes. Defendants mounted a vigorous

defense, calling 11 witnesses, introducing voluminous documents in opposition to the

Govelnment's theory of the case, and made numerous trial-dispositive motions. Indeed, between

Full Play, Lopez, and Martinez, the defense made near-daily motions for mistrial and severance

the first two weeks of trial. (See, e.g., Tr. 80 (Martinez moving for mistrial on day one), Tr. 112-

16 (Martinez and Lopez moving for mistrial and severance from Full Play on day one), Tr. 250-

51 (Lopez and Full Play moving for severance and mistrial on day two), Tr. 1435 (Martinez

7
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moving for mistrial on day six), Tr. 1513 (Lopez moving for mistrial on day seven), Tr. 194142

(Martinez moving for mistrial on day eight), Tr. 2389 (Martinez moving to sever from Full Play

on day nine).)

Viewed in the light most favorable to the Government, United States v. Eppolito, 543 F.3d

25, 45 (2d Cir. 2008), the evidence at trial established the following facts.5

A. 1999-2008: The Formation of the Bribery Scheme

In 1999, Tomeos y Competencias ("Tomeos"), a sports media company owned by Luis

Nofal ("Nofal"), and Traffic Group ("Traffic"), a sports media company owned by Jose Hawilla,

formed a company called T&T Sports Marketing Ltd. ("T&T Cayman"). (Tr. 37576, GX 1609,

GX 150-T.) T&T Cayman bought television rights for various South American soccer

tournaments including the Copa Libertadores, the Copa Sudamericana, and the Recopa

Sudamericana from CONMEBOL and resold them. (Tr. 376:7-8.) Around 2002, T&T Cayman

re-negotiated its contract with CONMEBOL and began paying bribes in exchange for rights that

were far cheaper than market value and would be "renew[ed] well before they were going to mature

to involve any competitor." (Tr. 391-92, Tr. 332:7-15, 393:10-17.) Each contract securing the

The centerpiece of the Government's case against Defendants was the testimony of
Alejandro Burzaco ("Burzaco"), a cooperating witness who had pleaded guilty in 2015 to multiple
offenses relating to his extensive role in various bribery schemes involving the television rights
for South American soccer. (See Minute Entry for Burzaco Change of Plea Hr'g, Dkt. 90.) Though

English is not his first language, Burzaco testified without an interpreter. Burzaco was the only
witness who testified about Lopez's knowledge of, and role in, the Copa Libertadores bribery
scheme. Burzaco was on the stand for nearly eleven days. Burzaco was also a key witness in the

Napout trial in 2017. See Napout, 332 F. Supp. 3d at 561 (describing Burzaco as "one of the
government's key witnesses"). While Defendants argue that the jurors could not have credited
Burzaco's testimony, such credibility determinations are for the jury, and not the Court, to make,
United States v. Cote, 544 F.3d 88 (2d Cir. 2008), and here the jury had ample opportunity to
assess Burzaco's testimony over the course of his eleven days of testimony. For purposes of
Defendants' motions, the Court therefore views Burzaco's testimony in the light most favorable
to the Government. United States v. Riggi,541 F.3d 94, 108 (2d Cir. 2008).

5

8
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rights also included a "macroeconomic clause" requiring T&T Cayman and CONMEBOL to re-

negotiate the price of the rights in good faith in the event that macroeconomic conditions in the

region improved.6 (See, et., GX 150-T.)

In 2002, Traffic sold its 50% stake in T&T Cayman to Fox Pan-American Sports ("FPAS"),

a company comprised of three owners: Liberty Media Corporation ("Liberty Media"), Hicks,

Muse, Tate & Furst ("Hicks Muse"), and FOX Sports. (Tr. 380.)7 Thus, as of2002, T&T Cayman

was jointly owned by Torneos and FPAS, each with a 50% stake. Burzaco, who had already been

involved with T&T Cayman as an adviser "putting together the partners in the FPAS" joint venture

in 2001, became Tomeos's CEO in 2006. (Tr. 334:1315, 347:2324.) He was informed of the

bribes by his predecessor, Tomeos-founder Luis Nofal, in 2004. (Tr. 392:2.)

In 2005, FPAS came to own 75% of T&T Cayman, but retained just 50% of the voting

interest, a decision that, according to Burzaco, was intended to limit FPAS's exposure to liability

for T&T Cayman's illegal activities. (Tr. 381:12-15.) Starting in 2005, the Copa Libertadores

tournament was aired on Fox in all of the Spanish-speaking South and Central American countries,

whereas the "two most important matches" of each week were shown in Brazil on a "free-to-air"

channel owned by Tele Globo ("Globo"). (Tr. 38334.)

From the time FPAS acquired a 75% share of T&T Cayman in 2005, until 2009, the flow

of media rights and payments was as follows. T&T Cayman served primarily as a pass-through

6 This so-called macroeconomic clause provided: "The parties agree that if, during the term
of the agreement, through the 2018 edition, the macroeconomic conditions in the region change
substantially from the current conditions (for these purposes, offers from third-parties are not
considered as an improvement), the parties agree to renegotiate, in good faith, the current financial
terms of the agreement." (GX 154-T (emphasis added).) The italicized portion was added to the
macroeconomic clause in 2008.

Liberty Media subsequently sold its small share to Hicks Muse, leaving Hicks Muse with
62% ofFPAS by 2005. (GX 1609.)

7

9
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entity for the rights: it bought the Copa Libertadores rights from CONMEBOL at a relatively low

price and resold them at "a very small or insignificant or no margin" to FPAS. (Tr. 385:15-21.)

Torneos's core business was producing the tournaments so that T&T Cayman would have a "iii11

finished product" to sell to its clients, principally FPAS. (Tr. 402:23-24.) FPAS bought the fully

produced tournaments from T&T Cayman and resold them to other media companies, which aired

the tournaments locally. (Tr. 407.) Additionally, although most Spanish-speaking media rights

were sold to FPAS, the most valuable matches in Brazil-the two weekly, primetime "free-to-air"

matches were sold by T&T Cayman to another company, T&T Sports Marketing B.V. ("T&T

Netherlands"), to be resold at a significant mark-up to Globo. (Tr. 386.) T&T Cayman sold these

Brazilian "free-to-air" rights to T&T Netherlands at an extremely low price-just $900,000 for

rights that T&T Netherlands turned around and sold to Globo for $7.2 million as compensation

for T&T Netherlands's small margins, and as a "break fee" for a merger that never occurred

between FPAS and Torneos. (Tr. 44748.) Despite its name, T&T Netherlands did not have any

corporate relationship to T&T Cayman, and was not a subsidiary of Torneos. Instead, it was a

separate company originally created and wholly owned by Luis Nofal. When Burzaco bought all

of Torneos's shares in 2005, he co-owned T&T Netherlands as a joint venture with Nofal, and

came to own it entirely when Nofal passed away in 2008. According to Burzaco, he primarily

used the money generated by the sale of the Brazilian "free-to-air" rights to Globe to pay bonuses

for Tomeos employees, and to pay certain club teams to participate in the tournaments. (Tr. 409,

417-18, 448.)

Meanwhile, from 2005 to 2008, T&T Cayman paid bribes to the "six most relevant

executives of CONMEBOL" to secure the Copa Libertadores media rights: Nicolas Leoz

("Lenz"), Ricardo Teixeira ("Teixeira"), Julio Grondona ("Grondona"), Eduardo DeLuca

10
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("DeLuca"), Romer Osuna ("Osuna"), and Eugenio Figueredo ("Figueredo"), using two

mechanisms.8 (Tr. 393:20-394:3.) First, the largest share of the bribes was paid via sham

contracts between T&T Cayman and companies called Spoart, Valente, and Somerton (also known

as the "Lazaro contracts") for services that were not actually performed. (Tr. 399, 457.) Second,

a smaller portion of bribes were paid out of CONMEBOL's own treasury. (Tr. 399.) Beginning

in 2008, T&T Netherlands also began paying bribes through a contract with Somerton. (Tr. 452.)

Nofal's close personal relationship with Grondona, President of the Argentine Football

Association ("AFA") and Senior Vice President of FIFA, was crucial to the partnership between

T&T Cayman and the CONMEBOL Executive Committee. (Tr. 361-62, 364:1-3.) When

Burzaco became CEO of Tomeos in 2006, he took "charge of supervising the relationship with ...

the CONMEBOL officials," as well as with Hicks Muse and FOX in their collective management

of T&T Cayman. (Tr. 357.) When Nofal became sick, Burzaco stepped into Nofal's relationship

with Grondona, and took "a more active presence" in paying the bribes to the CONMEBOL

officials. (Tr. 364, 393:57.)

B. The Group of Six

In 2009, the Argentine government pressured Grondona to nationalize the rights, held at

the time by Torneos, for Argentina's first division club soccer league. (Tr. 571-73.) Grondona

obliged and terminated Torneos's rights. (Id.) Burzaco, shaken by Tomeos's substantial loss of

revenue and worried that the Argentine government would use Grondona's influence to threaten

Tomeos's access to the Copa Libertadores, Copa Sudamericana, and Recopa rights, took steps to

Leoz was President of CONMEBOL, DeLuca was General Secretary, Osuna was
Treasurer, and Figueredo was First Vice President. Grondona and Teixeira were included because
they were the presidents of the two largest national football associations in CONMEBOL,
Argentina and Brazil. (Tr. 393:20-394:3.)

8
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reinforce its claim to those lucrative tournaments. (Tr. 574:23-574:12.) Torneos had not been

bribing Grondona for the AFA rights-and understood from a conversation with Grondona one

week before the AFA rights were nationalized that T&T Cayman's bribes to Grondona for the

Copa Libertadores rights could help protect FPAS's claim to those rights against future threats

from the Argentine government. (Tr. 577: 19-580:2.) Even so, Burzaco could not be sure that the

bribes to Grondona were sufficient to keep the CONMEBOL Executive Committee from

nationalizing the Copa Libertadores rights and sought to reinforce T&T Cayman's claim to the

Copa Libertadores rights by establishing a contingency plan. (Tr. 581 :21 582:2.) So, in October

2009, Burzaco and Nofal met with Hugo and Mariano Jinkis, the owners of Defendant Full Play,

a sports media company, looking for help. (Tr. 582:3-583: 17.) The Jinkises had an active bribery

scheme with six members of the CONMEBOL Executive Committee, known as the "Group of

Sixv9 -a different group than the six CONMEBOL officials that T&T Cayman was already

bribing to maintain Full Play's access to various World Cup qualifying and friendly matches.

(Tr. 585:3-7, 595: 1-11.) The Jinkises promised Burzaco and Nofal that they (the Jinkises) would

not seek to buy the Copa Libertadores rights, and further "committed to speak with" the Group of

Six about establishing a bribe scheme with Torneos, "in order to have six votes out of 10

countries[,]" in case Grondona was pressured by the Argentine government to terminate the Copa

Libertadores and Copa Sudamericana rights contracts. (Tr. 595:24-596:3.)

Soon after this meeting with the Jinkises, Rafael Esquivel, President of the Venezuelan

Football Association, told Burzaco that this "Group of Six" members felt left out of the bribe

payments that Grondona, Lenz, and the others had been receiving, and that the Group of Six

The Group of Six was comprised of Luis Chiriboga (Ecuador), Rafael Esquivel
(Venezuela), Luis Bedoya (Colombia), Manuel Burga (Peru), Juan Angel Napout (Paraguay), and
Carlos Chavez (Bolivia). (Tr. 585.)

9
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"would need to start collecting a bribe." (Tr. 603:5 13.) Each of these six presidents began

receiving $400,000 per year in 2010 from T&T Cayman. (Tr. 605.) These officials joined the

other six CONMEBOL officials Teixeira, Leoz, Grondona, DeLuca, Osuna, and Figueredo in

receiving bribes from T&T Cayman. (Tr. 619.) Only two CONMEBOL Executive Committee

members, Harold Mayne-Nicholls of Chile and Sebastian Bauza of Uruguay, did not receive

bribes. (id.)

c. 2009-11: Lopez Joins the Bribery Scheme; Fox Acquires FPAS

Lopez and Burzaco were aware of each other as early as 2003 through Lopez's indirect

involvement with the Copa Libertadores as a senior employee at FIC. (Tr. 524.) In 2008, Lopez

and Burzaco began discussing Fox's plans to acquire Hicks Muse's share of FPAS. (Tr. 525, see,

et., GX 1821.) By 2009, Lopez was elevated to FIC's CEO, and his working relationship with

Burzaco grew.

In 2010, Lopez persisted in pursuing FIC's acquisition ofFPAS and launching a Fox Sports

channel in Brazil. (Tr. 650.) Lopez and Burzaco met numerous times that year. In February 2010,

Lopez approached Burzaco in the lobby of a Fort Lauderdale hotel and told Burzaco that "after ...

so many months already analyzing FPAS, [Lopez determined that] there is some type of special

arrangement with [the] executives" and that Burzaco therefore had "to trust [Lopez] because he

need[ed] that information to solidify [his and Burzaco's] relationship together." (Tr. 651 , 652: 17-

23.) During that conversation, Burzaco disclosed that T&T Cayman was paying bribes to

CONMEBOL executives. On cross-examination, Burzaco clarified that he "didn't ask [Lopez] to

be [his] partner" and did not know what Lopez expected to get by joining the scheme. (Tr. 2032:8-

10.)

Later that year, while in New York City for a T&T Cayman board meeting, Burzaco told

Lopez more about the bribery mechanisms. (Tr. 653:25654:4.) Lopez "said [the bribes were]

13
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benefiting Fox[,] ... that's why they wanted to buy 100 percent of FPAS." (Tr. 655:9-10.) In

June 2010, Lopez replaced Fox executive David Steinberg as an FPAS-appointed director of T&T

Cayman. (Tr. 669:23670:2.) By December 2010, Lopez was aware of the three mechanisms by

which FPAS was paying bribes: (1) by funneling additional bribe money for the Group of Six into

the existing CONMEBOL contract, (2) through the Lazaro sham contracts, and (3) most recently,

through T&T Netherlands. (Tr. 688-89.) In October 2011, as Fox's acquisition of FPAS was

being finalized, Burzaco informed Grondona of his counterpart at Fox, i.e., Lopez, and conveyed

Lopez's request to Grondona for assistance regarding Fox's bid for the English-language rights to

the 2018 and 2022 World Cups. (Tr. 776, 779:24781 :7.) After Fox's successful World Cup bid,

Lopez asked Burzaco whether he could set up a meeting with Grondona so that Lopez could thank

Grondona personally for his help. (GX 1882-T.)

Fox's acquisition of FPAS was finalized in November 2011. With the acquisition came

numerous assurances from FOX executives, including Lopez and his superiors, that Torneos's

business with Fox would continue as it had before, or even grow. (GX 2173, Tr. 821-22.) That

month, Burzaco met with Lopez and Martinez at a Dean & DeLuca coffee shop near Fox's offices

in New York City. (Tr. 815:7-14.) At the meeting, Lopez told Burzaco that Martinez (as head of

FIC in Latin America) would be Burzaco's principal point of contact moving forward. (Tr. 841-

42.) Lopez also asked Burzaco, now that Fox owned the majority stake of T&T Cayman via

FPAS and in light of Fox's increased vigilance regarding bribery following the "News of the

World" scandal in 2011-whether they needed to "tidy up" the bribe-paying mechanisms. (Tr.

816: 18-22.) Burzaco identified cleaning up the sham Lazaro contracts as a priority.

D. The October 2012 CONMEBOL Executive Committee Meeting

Throughout 2012, the relationship between Torneos and Fox-and between Burzaco and

Martinez chilled as Burzaco felt that FOX was marginalizing or undermining Torneos. For

14
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example, Burzaco rebuffed an e-mail from Martinez that indicated that both Lopez and Martinez

wanted Martinez to directly participate in the Copa Libertadores negotiations with CONMEBOL

officials, because Burzaco believed that the CONMEBOL officials would look at him as though

he was "coming from a different planet" if he included the American executives in negotiations

involving bribes. (Tr. 892, 885:20-25.) In addition, instead of the mutual collaboration and

growth between Torneos and Fox that Burzaco had been led to believe would follow Fox's

acquisition of FPAS, Fox was actually reducing Tolneos's business. For example, after Burzaco

relinquished Torneos's exclusive right to produce Fox's soccer broadcasts in Brazil a year

earlier a concession made in exchange for a "promise to produce in other regions and enlarge the

number of hours of production" overall-Martinez asked for a second release of exclusivity. (Tr.

868: 17-869: 19, 922:6-10, 925:4-23, GX 1906-T.) Even worse from Burzaco's perspective, while

Fox relied on Burzaco to negotiate a further extension of their below-market-rate Copa

Libertadores rights with CONMEBOL, Fox would not commit to automatically renewing its

existing service agreements with Torneos business on which hundreds of Torneos employees'

jobs depended. (Tr. 1027:9-10.) To Burzaco, this felt "like a betrayal story." (Tr. 92813, GX

1923-T.)

Burzaco also believed that Fox was taking an unreasonable approach to the extension

negotiations for the Copa Libertadores rights. CONMEBOL was seeking a price increase on the

then-current Copa Libertadores contract pursuant to the macroeconomic clause. While Burzaco

saw granting that increase as a given-especially in light of what he believed to be the deflated

price T&T Cayman was paying for the rights and their skyrocketing value Martinez and Lopez

were only willing to pay the macroeconomic increase in exchange for an extension of the rights

through 2022. (Tr. 982, 1007, 1015.) They also wanted to negotiate a macroeconomic increase

15
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that lasted all the way until 2018, rather than re-negotiating the increase again for the 20 16 through

2018 period, as was standard. (Tr. 2192-93.)

Burzaco thought that Fox's unwillingness to grant the macroeconomic increase without the

extension opened T&T Cayman up to competition. As of August 2012, most of the bribes were

being paid through the Lazaro sham contracts or directly out of CONMEBOL-both of which

came primarily from the money FPAS paid for the Copa Libertadores rights. (Tr. 1035.)

Therefore, FPAS's desire to keep suppressing the price it was paying also reduced the amount of

money available for bribes to the CONMEBOL Executive Committee. At the time, Paco Casal,

CEO of the Uruguayan sports media company GoITV, was actively trying to poach T&T

Cayman's Copa Libertadores rights by organizing meetings with all of the CONMEBOL

executives (Tr. 915-16), outbidding T&T Cayman (Tr. 1074), organizing clubs that felt that they

were being shortchanged by CONMEBOL, and threatening legal action. Luis Bedoya, one of the

Group of Six, did not want to do business with Casal, even though Casal was offering a much

higher price than Fox, because Casal's company, Globe, was having trouble making payments.

(Tr. 4720.)10 Other Uruguayans on the Executive Committee, however, were interested in Casal's

overtures, and the clubs who felt that they were being shortchanged by the Fox deal were also

putting pressure on CONMEBOL officials to consider Casal's proposals. (id.)

It was in the context of this uncertainty that Burzaco took steps to formulate a "Plan B" in

advance of the CONMEBOL Executive Committee meeting ("October 2012 Executive Committee

meeting"). Burzaco sought and received approval from Tomeos's board-in particular, Bruce

Churchill of DirectTV for Torneos to guarantee CONMEBOL's macroeconomic increases from

2013 to 2018, and to secure the 2019-2022 extension for Torneos rather than T&T Cayman. (Tr.

10 Bedoya was the only CONMEBOL official to testify at trial.
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1059-60, 1082.) This would enable Torneos to negotiate with FOX from a stronger position-as

the holder of the lucrative Copa Libertadores rights-for Tomeos's crucial service agreements

with Fox. (Tr. 1060:5 12.) Burzaco still hoped that "Plan A"-i.e., FOX maintaining the status

quo arrangement by either guaranteeing Toineos the service agreements for the 2019-2022 Copa

Libertadores rights extension or putting the extension off for later and simply paying the

macroeconomic increase CONMEBOL was owed would work out. However, Burzaco was also

prepared to enter the CONMEBOL Executive Committee meeting with a contingency plan, i.e.9

"Plan B." (1059:10-1060:12.) Martinez conveyed Fox's final position just days before the

Executive Committee meeting: Fox would "honor the macroeconomic clause" and pay an

additional $77 million between 20 13 and 20 18, but only if CONMEBOL extended T&T Cayman's

exclusive rights to the Copa Libertadores until 2022. (Tr. 1058.) Fox was silent on whether the

service agreements between Fox and Torneos would continue for the 2019-2022 Copa

Libertadores rights extension. (Tr. 1057:23-1058:10.)

Burzaco unilaterally put "Plan B" in motion at the October 2012 Executive Committee

Meeting. He negotiated the macroeconomic increase at the price permitted by Fox and extended

the rights in the name of TyC International, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Torneos. (Tr. 2203.)

Burzaco additionally negotiated an agreement for the Copa Libertadores "international rights"

(broadcasting rights for the Copa Libertadores outside North and South America), that he believed

would strengthen T&T Cayman's position against outside threats from Paco Casal while also

benefiting Fox. (GX 164-T, Tr. 1121-22.) Fox had long desired the Copa Libertadores

international rights, but was unable to contract for them with CONMEBOL due to the "automatic"

extension Jose Hawilla and Traffic had enjoyed with respect to those rights as a condition of the

2002 sale of Traffic's share of T&T Cayman to FPAS. Burzaco also explained to the
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CONMEBOL Executive Committee that Torneos and Full Play would take over international

distribution from Traffic and give 70% of the revenues to CONMEBOL. (Tr. 1096, GX 164-T.)

Now that Torneos and Full Play were going to assume Traffic's rights, Burzaco planned to "sit

down [with Fox] and ... read all the service agreements" in order "to decide on the territories that

Fox [would be] operating internationally outside the Americas with an arm's length negotiation

and give them priority to acquire those rights." (Tr. 1083: 16.)11 Despite this plan, Burzaco had

arranged prior to the October 2012 Executive Committee meeting for DirectTV "to buy the [Copa

Libertadores] rights after 2018 in case Fox would [not] pay whatever the necessary price would

be." (Tr. 2210:7-9.) According to Bedoya, even though Torneos was buying the extension, the

CONMEBOL Executive Committee expected that the arrangement proposed by Burzaco "was just

II On cross-examination, Burzaco reiterated his intention to use the rights extended in
Torneos's name as leverage in subsequent negotiations with Fox:

Q: Plan B was that if Fox didn't agree to keep the services agreements the same
with Torneos, you were going to take the extension for your company and cut Fox
out, right?

A: Incorrect.

Q: That was the plan right?

A: Incorrect.

Q: Well, that's what you did.

A: Incorrect... Incorrect because that you are taking out of the context of
everything we did and how we went to the Board and what was our final intention,
which is reaching an agreement, extending the service agreements, and that Fox
keeps having the very important business of distributing the rights without T&T
having a margin[,] ... the Plan B was meant to purchase the rights directly through
Torneos to have a stronger negotiating power with Fox, and the same way Fox was
using ... the extension request not to honor its obligations under T&T Cayman to
award Torneos the service agreements.

(Tr. 2133: 15-22, 2133:24-2134: 17.)
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to keep the situation as it was" while fostering an agreement that would result in Traffic

withdrawing a lawsuit it had filed against certain CONMEBOL officers the year prior in Miami.

(Tr. 4728-29, Tr. 1185:19-1186:13.) Burzaco and the CONMEBOL officials never discussed

whether Fox or another company would ultimately broadcast the Copa Libertadores games in the

future at the October 2012 Executive Committee meeting. (Tr. 4729.)

Although Burzaco did not extend the rights in the name of T&T Cayman because he felt

"betrayed by our partner Fox" and because of his fiduciary duty to Torneos, he always intended to

exchange the 2019 to 2022 Copa Libertadores rights for the Torneos service agreements. (Tr.

1102-03.) Both Martinez and Lopez wrote Burzaco the next day, October 25, 2012, to approve

the macroeconomic increase after seeing a press release about the agreement. (GX 1952-T.)

Burzaco forwarded an email from Martinez approving the macroeconomic increase to other

Tomeos executives, writing "We are doing well, right? Poker has shown me how to read my

enemies ...." (GX 1954-T.) But Burzaco did not actually view Lopez and Martinez as his

enemies, rather, he saw them as his "counterparties in a business situation that was taking a hard

stance for demanding an extension" in exchange for paying a previously obligated payment. (Tr.

1628.)

It is unclear when exactly Burzaco told Lopez and Martinez that he had extended the rights

in Torneos's name, not T&T Cayman's. He did not do so in response to Lopez and Martinez's

emails approving the macroeconomic increase because he worried that saying so "in black and

white ... would put us at a risk of [a] lawsuit when our final intention was to reach an agreement.99

(Tr. 2208222-24.) Burzaco testified that he informed them at some undefined point in 2013, before

November of that year. (Tr. 1111.) In response, Lopez was "annoyed" and "not happy" (Tr.

1111:24, 1113:2-3.) Martinez did not seem annoyed, and was willing to return to the negotiating
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table regarding the Copa Libertadores rights and related Torneos service agreement extensions

after learning that the rights had been extended under Torneos's name. (Tr. 1112-13.)

E. 2013: Collaborating on the Swap Agreement

Soon after the October 2012 Executive Committee meeting but before Burzaco's Fox

counterparts learned of Tomeos's assumption of the Copa Libertadores 2019-2022 rights

extension Burzaco perceived a thaw in their previously chilly relationship. Burzaco, Lopez, and

Martinez focused on "cleaning up T&T Cayman" by engineering a so-called "Swap Agreement."

(GX 284-T). First, they cancelled the sham Valente and Somerton contracts, retaining only the

agreement with Spoart, which, though also fraudulent, did perform some services and was

therefore "a more digestible vehicle to have in T&T Cayman books." (Tr. 1122.) The loss of the

Valente and Somerton contracts as bribe-paying vehicles was compensated for by eliminating the

$900,000 payment T&T Netherlands had been making to T&T Cayman for the Brazil free-to-air

rights, and using those funds to pay bribes. (Id.) Thus, from the time the Swap Agreement was

executed until the end of the conspiracy, "a hundred percent of the bribes" were paid through T&T

Netherlands. (Tr. l987:8-l 1.) Burzaco also collaborated with Lopez regarding Fox's acquisition

of Asian soccer rights and assisted Martinez with securing worldwide rights for Fox for the Copa

Centenarian soccer tournament. (Tr. 1163-65.) When Traffic initiated a lawsuit in Florida against

CONMEBOL and its officers based on CONMEBOL's termination of Traffic's contract for the

2015 Copa América, Burzaco discussed the lawsuit with Lopez since Burzaco thought that the

lawsuit increased the risk of American enforcement against their bribery schemes. (Tr. 1186-87.)

In 2013, Burzaco, Martinez, and Lopez began discussing an agreement between Fox and

Torneos for transfer of the Copa Libertadores 2019-2022 rights extension to FOX. By November

2013, Burzaco had discussed such an agreement with Martinez. (Tr. 1276:7-11.) Burzaco also

discussed his plan to sell the 2019-2022 Copa Libertadores rights to FOX Sports with Eugenio
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Figueredo, First Vice President of CONMEBOL's Executive Committee. (GX 2000-T, Tr.

393:20-394:3, 1271-75.)

F. 2014-15: Negotiations for the Copa Libertadores 2019-2022 Rights

In the summer of 2014, Grondona passed away, and Juan Angel Napout became President

of CONMEBOL. (Tr. 1315-16.) That September, Lopez-at Burzaco's urging-organized a

meeting of Lopez, Burzaco, Martinez, Napout, and Bedoya at a Greek restaurant in Miami Beach.

(Tr. 1326-27.) The purpose of the meeting was "restructuring the contractual relationship between

CONMEBOL and [T&T Cayman]" to reinforce Tomeos and FPAS's relationship with

CONMEBOL in the aftermath of Grondona's death. (Id., Tr. 1323223-25.) They discussed

eliminating T&T Cayman from the scheme, such that Fox would pay CONMEBOL directly for

the Copa Libertadores rights. (Tr. 1323-24, GX 2024-T, GX 2041-T.) The Brazil free-to-air

rights would continue to be handled as they had been, given by T&T Cayman to T&T Netherlands

to be resold to Globo, while the "international rights" would be exploited in the existing partnership

between Full Play and Tomeos. Burzaco testified that although bribes were not openly discussed

at the meeting (Tr. 2281 :24-2182: 1), they were clearly in the subtext-that is, the Brazilian "free-

to-air" rights, which had become so central to the bribe-paying arrangement, would remain intact

and fully funded by FOX. (Tr. 132425.)

Burzaco spoke with Martinez and Lopez over the phone in advance of this meeting

regarding all of these details: eliminating T&T Cayman, allowing FPAS to contract directly with

CONMEBOL for the Copa Libertadores rights, and maintaining the T&T Netherlands-Globo

arrangement. (Tr. 1327-28.) Burzaco admitted that, at the meeting with Napout and Bedoya, he

"was trying [to get] Fox to pay more money closer to market price [for the Copa Libertadores

extension rights] but not as much money as possible which would be an infinite amount." (Tr.

2284 (citing 3500-AB-31A, at 6).) However, Burzaco testified that he did so for the long-term
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sustainability of the relationship between Torneos, FOX, and CONMEBOL. (Tr. 2285:2325 ("I

thought that this is going to be more sustainable in the long run if Fox pays something closer to

market price."), Tr. 2286: 1142 ("I was trying [to get] Fox to close the deal but not so, not so out

of market conditions.").) During his testimony, Bedoya corroborated that the September 2014

meeting was convened in part to negotiate the rights extensions with Fox. (Tr. 4763-65.)

In January 2015, Martinez met with Burzaco in Buenos Aires to further discuss the audit

being conducted by Fox (in the wake of the News of the World scandal) and the restructuring that

had been discussed at the September 2014 meeting with Napout and Bedoya in Miami Beach.

Martinez was "concerned" because his decision to approve the 2012 "swap agreement" had come

under scrutiny during the audit, and another senior Fox executive, Peter Rice, had heard from a

Globo executive that the real value of the Globo rights T&T Cayman assigned for free to T&T

Netherlands was $16 million per year. (Tr. 1361, 1365-66.) Martinez represented that the

elimination of T&T Cayman was a "must condition" if FOX was to preserve its relationship with

Torneos moving forward. (Tr. 136263.) Crucially, this new arrangement would allow Fox to

"never have to speak about bribes going forward," because the bribes would all be paid out of T&T

Netherlands rather than through a combination of T&T Netherlands and FPAS payments to

CONMEBOL. (Tr. 1363 : 15-16.) T&T Netherlands's budget would be augmented so that it could

pay more bribes: the Copa América rights would be assigned alongside the Brazilian free-to-air

rights to T&T Netherlands rather than shared with FPAS. (Tr. 1362-63.) Further, since Torneos

would lose its 25% interest in T&T Cayman, Martinez "was willing to extend all the service

agreements and even compensate" Tomeos as much as $10 million per year. (Tr: 1361-62.)

In April 2015, Burzaco met Lopez and Martinez at a hotel in the Bahamas, where a

CONCACAF meeting was to occur. At the time, Burzaco thought that Lopez might "be a
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cooperator of the Government in some sort of sense." (Tr. 3305: 17-20 (Burzaco: "I was seeing a

cooperator or someone recording me in many places.").) After hearing for months about mounting

conception investigations, including being questioned as a possible "mole" by FIFA official Jeffrey

Webb, Burzaco "was suspicious of many people at the same time." (Tr. 3306: 1-2.) On May 14,

2015, Martinez sent Burzaco a draft contract for the 2019-2022 Copa Libertadores rights that

reflected their earlier negotiations, including (l) Fox contracting directly with CONMEBOL for

the Copa Libertadores media rights, (2) reasonable production service terms for Tomeos, and (3)

re-assignment of the "international rights" for the Copa Libertadores from Traffic to Torneos. (GX

2100-T, Tr. 138688.)

G. Government's Evidence Regarding Source of Fiduciary Duty

The Government's theory as to the source of the CONMEBOL executives' fiduciary duty

to CONMEBOL is that they were bound by the FIFA Code of Ethics and the later-enacted

CONMEBOL Code of Ethics not to accept bribes. (Tr. 7214:23-7215: 16.) Lara Sian Elliott, legal

counsel at FIFA, testified that, according to the August2010 FIFA Statutes, CONMEBOL officials

were bound by FIFA's Code of Ethics, which was regularly revised and re-issued. (Tr. 269-272,

273:17-19, 27617-9, 28715-28836, GX 1265912 The 2004 FIFA Code of Ethics ("2004 FIFA

Code") was disseminated to FIFA member associations and confederations in November of that

year. (Tr. 288:9-24, GX l2l5.) Specifically, the 2004 FIFA Code established that "[o]fficials

and members of bodies shall discharge their duties especially, with regard to FIFA, its associations

12 The August 2010 FIFA Statutes provide in relevant part that "[t]he bodies and Officials

must observe the Statutes, regulations, decisions and Code of Ethics of FIFA in their activities"
(Art. 7.l), that FIFA members must "ensure that their own members comply with the Statutes,
regulations, directives, and decisions of FIFA bodies" (Art. l3.l(d)), and that each confederation,
including CONMEBOL (Art. 20.l(a)), must "comply with and enforce compliance with the
Statutes, regulations and decisions of FIFA" (Art. 20.3). (GX 1265.)
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and the confederations, with[] absolute loyalty," and explicitly prohibited "[p]ersons bound by

[the] code" from accepting bribes "or any other benefit in return for violating their duties in the

interest of third-parties." (Tr. 28829-29021, 2912-9, 29221-2925, GX 1215.) The 2006, 2009,

and 2012 FIFA Codes of Ethics were also disseminated with the same provisions mandating the

officials' loyalty to FIFA and the confederations, and prohibiting bribery (Tr. 293:2-294:24,

297:21299:1, 314:20315:6, GX 122426), and the more general FIFA Code of Conduct

promulgated in 2012 outlined a "zero tolerance" policy for bribery. (Tr. 295: 1-297:20, GX 1223.)

The Government also introduced evidence that CONMEBOL officials were aware that they

were bound by the FIFA Codes of Ethics. Luis Bedoya testified that he began receiving the FIFA

Code of Ethics from the time he became president of the Colombian Federation of Soccer ("CFS")

in 2006, and that he had a duty to FIFA, CONMEBOL, and the CFS to comply with the code and

not to accept bribes. (Tr. 4669: 1-25, 4868: 13-4869: 16, 5036: 13-24.) Bedoya also testified that

CONMEBOL first promulgated a code of ethics, which included in relevant part: (1) a duty of

"absolute loyalty" to "CONMEBOL, FIFA, the confederations, the associations, the leagues and

the clubs," (2) a prohibition against conflicts of interest, and (3) prohibited CONMEBOL officials

from accepting gifts, money, or bribes of any kind, in December 2013.13 (Tr. 4870:3 876:24,

5038:2-5041:12, GX 1310-T.)

H. Jury Charge Regarding Honest Services Fraud

At Defendants' trial, the Court instructed the jury regarding honest services fraud, in

relevant part, as follows:

13 The Court recognizes that CONMEBOL's code of ethics was promulgated after the
occurrence of many of the scheme's major events. (See Full Play Mot., Dkt. 1946-1, at 5 ("The
[G]overnment introduced evidence regarding the existence of a CONMEBOL Code of Ethics,
which was adopted in December 2013 ... By this time, all three contracts to which Full Play Group
is a signatory with CONMEBOL had been executed."), Tr. 5040325-5041 : 12.)
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I will now define wire fraud, which is alleged to be the object of the conspiracies
charged in Counts One, Three, and Five of the Indictment. The federal wire fraud
statute, Title 18, United States Code, Section 1343 provides that:

Whoever, having devised or intending to devise any scheme or artifice to defraud,
or for obtaining money or property by means of false or fraudulent pretenses,
representations, or promises transmits or causes to be transmitted by means of wire,
radio, or television communication in interstate or foreign commerce, any writings,
signals, pictures or sounds for the purpose of executing such scheme or artifice shall
be [guilty of a crime].

The term "scheme or artifice to defraud" includes a scheme or artifice to deprive
another of the intangible right of honest services. Honest services fraud is limited
to schemes involving bribes or kickbacks. These laws were passed by Congress to
protect against the various fraudulent schemes that could be devised by individuals

through the use of interstate wires.

I will now explain further each element of wire fraud.

First Element: Scheme or Artifice to Defraud

The first element of wire fraud is that the Defendant knowingly devised or
participated in a scheme or artifice to defraud FIFA, CONCACAF, CONMEBOL,
or their constituent organizations, as specified in the relevant charge, of their
intangible right of honest services by means of false or fraudulent pretenses,
representations, or promises. A "scheme" is any plan or course of action formed
with the intent to accomplish some purpose. Thus, to find each Defendant guilty
of this offense, you must find that the Defendant was involved in a fraudulent
scheme to deprive the victim soccer organization of honest services through bribes
or kickbacks. In this case, the Government has alleged that the various soccer
organizations, including FIFA, CONMEBOL, and CONCACAE and their
constituent organizations, were deprived of their intangible right to the honest
services of their o dials through bribes or kickbacks. Therefore, the Government
must prove that a defendant was involved in a fraudulent scheme to deprive these
organizations of honest services through bribes or kickbacks.

"Fraud" is a general term that embraces all the various means that human ingenuity

can devise and that are resorted to by an individual to gain an advantage over
another by false pretenses, suggestions, or suppression of the truth. Such a scheme

includes one to defraud the soccer organization by an ojicer, employee, or person

in a relationship that gives rise to afduciary duty, that is, where the person owes

a duty of honest and loyal service to the soccer organization; in other words, where

there is a trusting relationship in which the person acts for the benefit of the soccer

organization and the organization relied on the individual to carry out his or her

job duties for the benefit of the organization. Whether each soccer o facial had a

fiduciary duty to a soccer organization, the source of thatfduciary duty, and what
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thatfduciary duly required or pronibited, is a question offactforyou to determine.

In determining the source and scope of a fiduciary duly, you may take into
consideration codes of conduct, if any, that would nave applied to the relationsnzp.

In determining the source and scope of a fiduciary duty, you may not take into

consideration general moral or ethical beliefs.

The Government argues that the Defendants in this case knowingly and
intentionally engaged in schemes to have soccer officials breach their fiduciary
duties to FIFA and other specified soccer organizations through the distribution and
payment (by Defendants) and the receipt (by the soccer officials) of bribes or
kickbacks. Bribery and kickbacks involve the exchange of a thing or things of value

for official action by an official, in other words, a quid pro quo (a Latin phrase
meaning "this for that" or "these for those"). Bribery and kickbacks also include
offers and solicitations of things of value in exchange for official action. Bribery
and kickbacks also include the official's acceptance, solicitation, or agreement to
accept a thing of value in exchange for official action, regardless of whether or not
the payer actually provides the thing of value, and regardless of whether or not the
official ultimately performs the official action or intends to do so.

Second Element: Participation in Scheme with Intent

The second element of wire fraud is that the Defendant devised or participated in
the scheme knowingly and with specific intent to defraud. The definitions of
knowingly and intentionally here are the same as the definitions that I gave you
earlier. As I said before, the terms "knowingly" and "intentionally" are distinct and
essential elements under the law.

"Intent to defraud " means to act knowingly and with the specu'ic intent to deceive,
for the purpose of depriving the soccer organization or organizations of their right

to the honest services of their of icials i.e., their right to the o]j9cial's faithful
performance of his or her fduciary duties to the organization, including the duty
to not accept personal payments in exchange for o]j9cial acts on behalf of the
organization. The Government need not prove that the Defendant intended to cause

economic or pecuniary harm or that any such harm actually resulted from the fraud.
Whether a person acted knowingly, intentionally, and with intent to defraud is a
question of fact for you to determine, like any other fact question. The question
involves one's state of mind.

Direct proof of knowledge and fraudulent intent is almost never available. It would
be a rare case where it could be shown that a person wrote or stated that as of a
given time in the past he or she committed an act with fraudulent intent. Such direct
proof is not required.

(Dkt. 1963, at 3688, 41 (emphases added).)
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v. Verdict

At the close of the trial, the jury deliberated for four days, returning a verdict on March 9,

2023, that convicted Full Play and Lopez on all counts and acquitted Martinez on all counts.

(3/9/2023 Minute Entry, Verdict Sheet, Dkt. 1964.) Specifically, the jury found Full Play guilty

of wire fraud conspiracy and money laundering conspiracy related to the Copa Libertadores, Copa

América, and World Cup Qualifiers/Friendlies Schemes, and Lopez guilty of wire fraud

conspiracy and money laundering conspiracy related to the Copa Libertadores #2 Scheme.

(Verdict Sheet, Dkt. 1964.)

VI. Full Play's and Lopez's Rule 29 Motions

On February 23, 2023, Full Play moved for a judgment of acquittal pursuant to Rule 29.

(Full Play Mot. for Acquittal ("Full Play Mot.")., Dkt. 1946.) On April 21, 2023, Lopez filed his

Rule 29 motion for acquittal. (Def. Herman Lopez Mot. for J. of Acquittal ("Lopez Mot."), Dkt.

1987.) In addition to a judgment of acquittal, Lopez requests a "conditional" grant of a new trial

in the event the Court grants his Rule 29 motion and the acquittal is later vacated or reversed.

(Lopez Mot., Dkt. 1987-1, at 18.) The Government filed an omnibus memorandum in opposition

to both Defendants' Rule 29 motions on June 2, 2023. (Govt.'s Mem. Opp'n to Defs.' Mots. for

J. of Acquittal ("Govt. Opp'n"), Dkt. 1999.) Defendants filed their reply briefs on June 16, 2023.

(Def. Heman Lopez's Reply ("Lopez Reply"), Dkt. 2002, Reply Mem. on Behalf of Def. Full Play

Group ("Full Play Reply"), Dkt. 2003.)

LEGAL STANDARD

Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 29 requires the Court to "enter a judgment of acquittal

of any offense for which the evidence is insufficient to sustain a conviction." Fed. R. Crim. P.

29(a). "The test for sufficiency ... is whether a rational jury could conclude beyond a reasonable

doubt that a defendant is guilty of the crime charged." Eppolito, 543 F.3d at 45 (quotation
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omitted). The Court must make this determination viewing "the evidence against a particular

defendant .... in a light that is most favorable to the government ... and with all reasonable

inferences ... resolved in favor of the government." Id.

Defendants challenging the sufficiency of the evidence after they were convicted "face a

heavy burden, as the standard of review is exceedingly deferential to the jury's apparent

determinations." United States v. Khalupsky, 5 F.4th 279, 287 (2d Cir. 2021) (quoting United

States v. Flores, 945 F.3d 687, 710 (2d Cir. 2019). "It is well established that the government is

entitled to prove its case solely through circumstantial evidence, and when the offense at issue is

conspiracy, deference to the jury's findings is especially important ... because a conspiracy by its

very nature is a secretive operation, and it is a rare case where all aspects of a conspiracy can be

laid bare in court." Flores, 945 F.3d at 710 (internal citations and quotations omitted). Still, a

court reviewing a Rule 29 motion "must also be satisfied that the inferences are sufficiently

supported to permit a rational juror to find that [each] element ... is established beyond a

reasonable doubt." United States v. Triumph Cap. Grp., Inc., 544 F.3d 149, 159 (2d Cir. 2008).

"[I]t is the task of the jury, not the court, to choose among competing inferences that can be drawn

from the evidence." United States v. Jackson, 335 F.3d 170, 180 (2d Cir. 2003).

"It is also well established that it is the province of the jury and not of the court to determine

whether a witness who may have been inaccurate, contradictory and even untruthful in some

respects was nonetheless entirely credible in the essentials of his testimony." Flores, 945 F.3d at

710-11 (internal citation and quotation omitted) (emphasis in original). "A jury is entitled to

believe part and disbelieve part of the testimony of any given witness." Id. (collecting cases). "All

issues of credibility, including the credibility of a cooperating witness, must be resolved in favor

of the jury's verdict." Riggi, 541 F.3d at 108. Ultimately, the Court must "uphold the challenged
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convictions if any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond

a reasonable doubt." Khalupsky, 5 F.4th at 287-88 (quoting Flores, 945 F.3d at 710).

DISCUSSION

1. There Was Insufficient Evidence to Convict Defendants Because § 1346 Does Not
Encompass Foreign Commercial Bribery

Lopez argues that after the Supreme Court's decisions in Percoco and CimineIli,14 this

Court must hold that § 1346's scope does not extend to foreign commercial bribery. 15 (See Lopez

Reply, Dkt. 2002, at 2-6.) After extensive consideration, the Court agrees. The Supreme Court's

latest wire fraud decisions-especially Percoco-and the absence of precedent applying honest

services wire fraud to foreign cormuercial bribery, requires this Court to find that § 1346 does not

criminalize the conduct alleged in this case and that therefore the evidence at trial was insufficient

to sustain Defendants' convictions under that statute.

14 Percoco v. United States, 598 U.S. 319 (2023), Ciminelli v. United States, 598 U.S. 306
(2023).

15 Importantly, the Court does not construe this argument as a "vagueness" challenge,
which as the Government correctly points out is not procedurally proper in a Rule 29 motion.
(Govt. Opp'n, Dkt. 1999, at 38 (citing United States v. Kelly, 609 F. Supp. 3d 85, 138 (E.D.N.Y.
2022)).) Although Lopez framed this argument in his opening Rule 29 brief as such (see Lopez
Mot., Dkt. 1987-1, at 10 ("At a minimum, interpreting § 1346 to encompass commercial bribery
of foreign residents employed by foreign organizations would render the statute unconstitutionally

vague.")), Defendants' opening briefs were filed before the Supreme Court's decisions in Percoco
and Ciminelli. (See Dkts. 1987-1 (filed April 21, 2023), 1946-1 (filed February 23, 2023),
Percoco, 598 U.S. 319 (issued May II, 2023), Ciminelli, 598 U.S. 306 (issued May II, 2023).)
Indeed, Lopez predicted that the Percoco decision would likely affect the outcome of his motion.
(See Lopez Mot., Dkt. 1987-1, at II.) The Court does find that Percoco and Ciminelli create the
basis for sufficiency-of-the-evidence challenges that are properly addressed in a Rule 29 motion.
See United States v. Nordlicht,No. 16-CR-640 (BMC), 2023 WL 4490615, at *6 (E.D.N.Y. July
12, 2023) ("The Court grants this motion under Rule 29 rather than Rule 33 because it concludes,
in light of Ciminelli, that the evidence at [the trial] was insufficient to sustain [the defendants']
convictions for conspiracy to commit wire fraud.").
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A. The History of § 1346 is Devoid of Foreign Commercial Bribery

Pre-McNally (pre-1987)

"Before 1987, 'all Courts of Appeals had embraced' the view that" [the federal wire and

1.

mail fraud statutes] proscribe what came to be known as 'honest services fraud."' Percoco, 598

U.S. at 326 (quoting Skilling v. United States, 561 U.S. 358, 401 (2010)) The majority of these

pre-1987 honest services cases involved public employees who "had accepted a bribe or kickback

in exchange for dishonest conduct that did not necessarily cause ... a financial loss[,]" but "was

found to constitute mail or wire fraud because it deprived the relevant government unit (and thus,

by extension, the public) of the right to receive honest services." Id.

2. McNally (1987) and § 1346'5 Enactment (1988)

But in 1987, the Supreme Court "rejected the entire concept of honest-services fraud" in

McNally v. United States and held that the mail fraud statute was "limited in scope to the protection

of property rights." Id. at 327 (citing McNally v. United States,483 U.S. 350 (1987))16 "Congress

16 In McNally, a state public official, Howard P. "Sonny" Hunt, who exercised de facto
control over selecting the state's insurance agent, devised a scheme with an insurance agent
whereby the agent shared its commissions with insurance agencies selected by Hunt, including
one company which was owned partially by Hunt. 483 U.S. at 35253. As a result of this self-
dealing scheme, Hunt, along with the other co-conspirators, were convicted of substantive mail
fraud, based on the theory that § 1341, the "mail fraud statute[,] proscribes schemes to defraud
citizens of their intangible rights to honest and impartial government." Id. at 355. The Sixth
Circuit affirmed the conviction, holding "that Hunt [had a] fiduciary [duty as a public official to
the public] because he 'substantially participated in governmental affairs and exercised significant,
if not exclusive, control over awarding the workmen's compensation insurance contract to [the
insurance agent] and the payment of monetary kickbacks to [Hunt and McNally's company]. '" Id.
at 355-56 (citation omitted). The Supreme Court reversed, reasoning, in part, that "[t]he mail
fraud statute clearly protects property rights, but does not refer to the intangible right of the
citizenry to good government." Id. at 356. Ultimately, the Court concluded, "[r]ather than
construe the [mail fraud] statute in a manner that leaves its outer boundaries ambiguous and
involves the Federal Government in setting standards of disclosure and good government for local
and state officials, we read § 1341 as limited in scope to the protection of property rights. If
Congress desires to go further, it must speak more clearly than it has." Id. at 360.
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responded swiftly" by passing 18 U.S.C. § 1346, clarifying that the term "scheme or artifice to

defraud" in the mail fraud statute, 18 U.S.C. § 1341, and wire fraud statute, 18 U.S.C. § 1343, did

include "a scheme or artifice to deprive another of the intangible right of honest services." Skilling,

561 U.S. at 402 (citing 18 U.S.C. § 1346). However, Congress did not define or elaborate on what

the "intangible right of honest services" encompassed and thus the doctrine's scope remained

ambiguous. See Kelly v. United States, 140 S. Ct. 1565, 1571 (2020) (explaining that "the

vagueness of the] language" in § 1346 compelled the Supreme Court to adopt a subsequent

"limiting construction" to preserve its constitutionality), Percoco, 598 U.S. at 333 ("Honest-

services fraud and this Court's vagueness jurisprudence are old friends.") (Gorsuch, J.,

concurring) .

3. Skilling (2010)

In Skilling,the Supreme Court addressed whether § 1346 was unconstitutionally vague. A

six-Justice majority held that the statute could be "salvaged" by limiting its scope to "criminalize[]

only the bribe-and-kickback core of the pre-McNally case law." 561 U.S. at 40809.17 In doing

so, the Court specifically rejected the government's proposal to include "undisclosed self-dealing

by a public official or private employee" in the honest services doctrine-despite the existence of

Skilling involved an alleged honest services wire fraud conspiracy by Enron
Corporation's ("Enron") chief executive officer Jeffrey Skilling and others to prop up Enron's
stock prices by overstating the company's financial health via public reports. The indictment in
Skilling alleged, inter alia,that the defendants had "'engaged in a wide-ranging scheme to deceive
the investing public, including Enron's shareholders, ... about the true performance of Enron's
businesses by: (a) manipulating Enron's publicly reported financial results, [] (b) making public
statements and representations about Enron's financial performance and results that were false and
misleading"', and (c) that "Skilling and his co-conspirators, ... [had] 'enriched themselves as a
result of the scheme through salary, bonuses, grants of stock and stock options, other profits, and
prestige"', and lastly, (d) that "Skilling had sought to 'deprive] Enron and its shareholders of the
intangible right of [his] honest services."' 561 U.S. at 369 (internal citations omitted). The
Supreme Court held that "[b]ecause Skilling's alleged misconduct entailed no bribe or kickback,
it does not fall within § l346's proscription." Id. at 368.

17
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pre-McNally cases upholding the theory. Skilling, 561 U.S. at 40940, see also id. (noting that

"the Government asserts, 'the pre-McNally cases involving undisclosed self-dealing were

abundant" (citing Br. for United States 2930-31)). The Court reasoned that to meet the

constitutional requirements of due process, § 1346 could not include the "amorphous category" of

non-disclosure cases because the lower courts "had reached no consensus on which [non-

disclosure] schemes qualified." Id. at410. Moreover, "the familiar principle" in which "ambiguity

concerning the ambit of criminal statutes should be resolved in favor of lenity" reinforced

excluding the non-disclosure schemes from § 1346's scope. Id. at 410-11 (quoting Cleveland v.

United States,531 U.S. 12, 25 (2000)). The majority then famously pronounced: "AS to fair notice,

whatever the school of thought concerning the scope and meaning of § 1346, it has always been

as plain as a pikestaff that bribes and kickbacks constitute honest-services fraud[.]" Id. at 412

(citation and quotation marks omitted).

Justice Scalier, writing for three Justices in a concurrence, forcefully disagreed that limiting

§ 1346 to only bribery and kickback schemes would cure the statute of vagueness. See id. at 415-

25 (Scalier, J., concurring). Specifically, he cautioned that merely clarifying "what acts constitute

a breach of the 'honest services' obligation under the pre-McNally law" did not "solve the most

fundamental indeterminacy: the character of the 'fiduciary capacity' to which the bribery and

kickback restriction applies." Id. at 421 (Scalier, J., concurring) (emphasis added). The majority

rejected his concerns, explaining that "[t]he existence of a fiduciary relationship [in pre-McNally

bribery and kickback cases] ... was usually beyond dispute" and further, provided the following

examples of such relationships: public officials to the public, employees to employers, and union

officials to union members. Id. at 407, n.41.
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4. Babel (2011)

Immediately after Skilling, the Second Circuit addressed a challenge to § 1346 determining

whether "honest services fraud is effectively limited to the identity of the actors prosecuted in the

pre-McNally caselaw." Babel,662 F.3d at 632. As previously discussed, in Babel, the defendant-

appellant, Sanjaya Bahel, argued that "Section 1346 c[ould] not apply to foreign employees of the

U.N.... [because in pre-McNally jurisprudence,] Section 1346 ha[d] only been applied to

government or private sector employees, not employees of international organizations ... [and]

the[erefore] he, as a foreign national, c[ould] not be prosecuted for honest services fraud under

Section 1346." Id. at 632. The Second Circuit rejected this argument, ruling that § 1346 is limited

by "the nature of the offenses prosecuted in the pre-McNally cases (i.e., bribery and kickback

schemes) not the identity of the actors involved in those cases." Id. (emphasis added). Thus,

"on the facts of the] case," § 1346 covered Babel's conduct because his kickback scheme "f[ell]

firmly within the ambit of the type of conduct that violates the right to honest services[.]" Id. at

633 (emphasis added).

Bahel also pointed to United States v. Gwen, in which a U.S. citizen was charged with

honest services fraud for bribing a Kazakhstani government official and thus depriving Kazakh

citizens of their government's honest services. Id. at 632 (citing United States v. Gwen, 326 F.

Supp. 2d 497 (S.D.N.Y. 2004)). In Gwen, the district court dismissed the honest service charges

because there was a "total absence of ... precedent supporting the Government's overseas

application of the intangible rights theory." Id. (emphasis added) (quoting G ' e n , 326 F. Supp. 2d

at 506). But the Babel panel distinguished Gwen's holding, explaining that unlike in G'e n , "the

conduct at issue in [8ahel] took place within the territorial United States, and the victim was not

a foreign government's citizen-but the United Nations, an organization headquartered in the
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United States, entitled to defendant's honest services in the United States, and [that] receiv[ed] its

largest financial contributions from the United States." Id.

Napout (20201

Closer to home and more recently, the defendants in the 2017 trial in this case challenged

5.

their honest services wire fraud convictions before the Second Circuit, arguing that (1) § 1346

could not be applied extraterritorially, and (2) that the statute was unconstitutionally vague as

applied to them. See Napout,963 F.3d at 178 ("On appeal, the appellants principally contend that

their convictions for conspiracy to commit honest services wire fraud were based upon

impermissible extraterritorial applications of the wire fraud conspiracy statute."), id. at 181 ("The

appellants next contend that § 1346 is unconstitutionally vague as applied to them."). Regarding

the first question, the Second Circuit, in affirming this Court, held that § 1346's extraterritorial

application was permissible as long as the appellant-defendants used the domestic wires "in

furtherance ofa scheme to defraud," and moreover, that the wire usage was "essential, rather than

merely incidental" to the scheme. Id. at 180 (citing Bascufldn v. Elsaca, 927 F.3d 108, 122 (2d

Cir. 2019)). Accordingly, the Napout panel determined that § 1346 was appropriately applied to

appellant-defendants' scheme because the "use of wires in the United States ... was integral to

the transmission of the bribes [at] issue" based on sufficient trial evidence showing the bribe

payments were "generated by wire transfers originating in the United States" and received in U.S.

bank accounts. Id. at 181.

The Second Circuit then turned to the question of whether § 1346 was unconstitutionally

vague as applied to the appellant-defendants, who contended that there was a lack of "fair notice'

that the fiduciary duty they, as foreign employees, owed to their foreign employers, FIFA and

CONMEBOL, could qualify as a 'source of the fiduciary obligation," whose breach ... would

constitute honest services wire fraud." Id. at 181 (internal citation omitted). The Circuit did not
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resolve the question on the merits, but rather only reviewed the issue for plain error because the

appellants had not presented their vagueness challenge below. Id. at 181-83.

To analyze clear error, the Circuit had to determine if appellants-defendant' operative legal

question was "settled" enough for an erroneous application of the law to be "clean" See id. at 183

("Our decision here is determined by application of plain error's second requirement: that 'for an

error to be plain, it must, at a minimum, be clear under current law,' which means that 'we typically

will not find such error where the operative legal question is unsettled, including where there is no

binding precedent from the Supreme Court or this Court."') (brackets omitted) (quoting United

States v. Whab, 355 F.3d 155, 158 (2d Cir. 2004)). That is, the Circuit had to determine if there

was any Supreme Court or Second Circuit precedent that clearly answered the question: does §

1346 encompass foreign commercial bribery? The Second Circuit concluded that there was not.

Indeed, the panel expressly found that "whether a foreign employee's duty to his foreign employer

qualifies as an actionable element under § 1346 is a question that remains unsettled, at best." Id.

at 184 (emphasis added), see also id. at 183 ("There are undoubtedly 'lingering ambiguities in §

1346,' ... including questions as to what may serve as 'the source of the fiduciary obligation' that

can sustain a conviction under the statute." (quoting Skilling, 561 U.S. at 417 (Scalier, J.,

concurring))), id. at 184 (explaining that neither the panel nor the appellants had found any

"authority directly supporting their position"). 18 Accordingly, the Napout panel held that "because

18 Although not relevant to the Court's analysis of Defendants' Rule 29 motions, the Court
notes the paradoxical outcome when plain error review is applied to previously unraised vagueness
challenges. The practical effect appears to be that courts of appeals can avoid analyzing whether
a law is unconstitutionally vague precisely because that law is too vague to review for clear error.

35



Case: 23-7183, 01/02/2024, DktEntry: 36.1, Page 139 of 160

SGA36
Case 1:15-Cr-00252-PKC Document 2023 Filed 09/01/23 Page 36 of 55 PagelD #: 35992

it is not 'clear under current law,' that § 1346 is unconstitutionally vague as applied to the

appellants, the district court did not commit plain error in concluding that it is not.7919 Id. at 184.

The late Second Circuit Judge Peter W. Hall, who was on the Napout panel, concurred to

add that he would "hold that § 1346 encompasses the duty that existed between the [appellant-

defendants] and their employers, FIFA and CONMEBOL" because "'the heart of the fiduciary

relationship [is] reliance, and de facto control and dominance[,]"' id. at 191 (quoting United States

v. Halloran,821 F.3d 321, 338 (Zd Cir. 2016)), and such "characteristics are obviously inherent in

employer-employee relationships including the relationships in this case." Id. (Hall, J.,

concurring). In response, the maj rarity explicitly noted that "[t]he filing of the concurrence should

not be construed as disagreement by the other panel members with the analysis contained therein,

but rather reflects their view that the issue need not be addressed under the plain error review in

which we engage." Id. at 184 11.19. Thus, the Second Circuit did not address the merits of whether

§ 1346 encompasses foreign commercial bribery in Napout.

6. Ciminelli and Percoco (2023)

On May 11, 2023, after Defendants' opening Rule 29 briefs had been filed-but before the

Government's opposition-the Supreme Court issued Ciminelli and Percoco,both stemming from

Second Circuit affirmances of wire fraud convictions and both addressing the scope of the federal

wire fraud statutes. The Supreme Court reversed and remanded in both cases. See Ciminelli, 598

U.S. at 317,Percoco, 598 U.S. at 333.

19 The Court notes that the panel's reference to the Court "concluding" that § 1346 was not
unconstitutionally vague is a bit of a misnomer, since that issue was not before the Court in the
trial proceedings below. See Napout, 963 F.3d at 182 (panel agreeing with Government that
"Napout did not raise his vagueness challenge in the district court").
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a. Ciminelli rejects the longstanding "right-to-control" theory under §

1343.

In Ciminelli, the Supreme Court struck down "the Second Circuit's longstanding 'right to

control' theory of fraud," in which "'a defendant is guilty of wire fraud if he schemes to deprive

the victim of 'potentially valuable economic information' 'necessary to make discretionary

economic decisions." 598 U.S. at 30809 (quoting United States v. Percoco, 13 F.4th 158, 170

(2d Cir. 2021)). In the underlying case, the defendant, Louis Ciminelli ("Ciminelli"), paid an

associate of former New York Governor Andrew Cuomo hundreds of thousands of dollars

annually to obtain state-funded contracts for Ciminelli's construction company, LPCiminelli. Id.

at 309-10. As a result of the scheme, the nonprofit that was administering Cuomo's "Buffalo

Billions" initiative, Fort Schuyler Management Corporation, awarded LPCiminelli "the marquee

$750 million 'Riverbend project' in Buffalo." Id. at 310. Ultimately, Ciminelli and several others

were indicted by a federal grand jury on 18 counts, including wire fraud in violation of 18 U.S.C.

§ 1343 and conspiracy to commit wire fraud in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1349. Id. The district

court instructed the jury, pursuant to the right-to-control theory, that "the term 'property' in § 1343

'includes intangible interests such as the right to control the use of one's assets."' Id. at 311

(internal citation omitted). That is, the 'jury could ... find that [Ciminelli] harmed Fort Schuyler's

right to control its assets if Fort Schuyler was 'deprived of potentially valuable economic

information that it would consider valuable in deciding how to use its assets."' Id. (citation

omitted). The jury found Ciminelli guilty of wire fraud and conspiracy to commit wire fraud, and

the Second Circuit affirmed relying solely on the right-to-control theory. Id.

On review, the Supreme Court reversed the conviction, holding that "[the] so-called 'right

to control' is not an interest that has 'long been recognized as property' when the wire fraud statute

[§ 1343] was enacted." Id. at 314 (quoting Carpenter v. United States, 484 U.S. 19, 26 (1987))
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The Court further criticized the theory for "vastly expand[ing] federal jurisdiction without

statutory authorization." Id. at 315. In its rebuke, the Court repeatedly underscored its previous

"admonition that '[f]ederal prosecutors may not use property fraud statutes to set standards of

disclosure and good government for state and local officials" and further cautioned against

"criminaliz[ing] traditionally civil matters and federaliz[ing] traditionally state matters." Id. at 316

(quoting Kelly, 140 S. Ct. at 1574), see also id. at 315-16 ("The theory thus makes a federal crime

of an almost limitless variety of deceptive actions traditionally left to state contract and tort law-

in flat contradiction with our caution that, 'absent a clear statement by Congress,' courts should

'not read the mail and wire fraud statutes to place under federal superintendence a vast array of

conduct traditionally policed by the States."' (brackets omitted) (quoting Cleveland, 531 U.S. at

27)), id. at 312 ("[T]he fraud statutes do not vest a general power in 'the Federal Government

to enforce (its view of) integrity in broad swaths of state and local policymaking." (quoting Kelly,

140 s. Ct. at 1574)).

b. Percoco instructs that a "smattering" of pre-McNally cases is

insufficient to validate an honest services fraud theory.

On the same day, the Supreme Court issued its decision in Percoco, addressing "whether

a private citizen with influence over government decision-making can be convicted for [honest

services] wire fraud on the theory that he or she deprived the public of its 'intangible right of honest

services."' 598 U.S. at 322 (citing 18 U.S.C. §§ 1343, 1346). In the underlying case, Joseph

Percoco ("Percoco"), former-Governor Cuomo's longtime Executive Deputy Secretary, was

charged with, inter alia, two counts of conspiring to commit honest services wire fraud in

connection with actions he took during an eight-month "hiatus" from his government position. See

id. at 322-23. The scheme began in July 2014, when Empire State Development ("ESD"), a state

agency, informed Steven Aiello that his real-estate company was required to enter an expensive
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"Labor Peace Agreement" with local unions in order to receive state funding for a lucrative project.

Id. at 323. "Aiello reached out to Percoco through an intermediary so that Percoco could 'help

[him] with the] issue[.]"' Id. (citation omitted). Percoco agreed to help and Aiello's company

paid him $35,000 between August and October 2014. Id. On December 3, 2014, "mere days"

before rejoining Governor Cuomo's office, Percoco "called a senior official at ESD and urged him

to drop the labor-peace requirement." Id. The very next day, ESD dropped the requirement and

informed Aiello that the labor-peace agreement was no longer necessary. Id.

At Percoco's trial, the jury was instructed that Percoco could be found guilty of depriving

the public of the honest services of its officials if the jury concluded that Percoco "dominated and

controlled any governmental business" and that "people working in the government actually relied

on him because of a special relationship he had with the government." Id. at 32425 (citation

omitted). The jury convicted Percoco of the honest services wire fraud charges and the Second

Circuit affirmed on appeal, explaining that "the 'fiduciary-duty [jury] instruction' given by the

trial judge 'fig] comfortably' with, and in fact restated, the understanding of honest-services fraud

that the Second Circuit had adopted many years earlier in United States v. Margiotta, 688 F.2d

108 (1982)"~ a pre-McNally case. Id. at 325 (citing Percoco, 13 F.4th at 194).

In Percoco's petition to the Supreme Court, he argued that "a private citizen cannot be

convicted of depriving the public of honest services." Id. at 329. But the Supreme Court declined

to adopt such a broad, per se rule, reasoning that a private individual can "enter into agreements

that make them agents of the government," who would then "owe[] a fiduciary obligation to the

principal[.]" Id. at 329-30. Nevertheless, the Court reversed Percoco's conviction, finding that

the Margiotta standard and thus the trial court's jury instructions were unconstitutionally vague.

See id. at 330 ("Percoco challenges the Margiotta theory that underlay the jury instructions in this
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case, and we must therefore decide whether those instructions are correct. We hold that they are

not."). As discussed, Margiotta, and consequently the Percoco jury instructions, defined the test

for when a private individual owes a fiduciary duty to the public as follows: Percoco "owed a duty

of honest services to the public if (1) he 'dominated and controlled any governmental business'

and (2) 'people working in the government actually relied on him because of a special relationship

he had with the government." Id. (citing 2 App. 511, Margiotta, 688 F.2d at 122).

To reach this conclusion, the Court analyzed whether the Second Circuit was correct in

finding that Congress had "effectively reinstated" Margiotta when enacting § 1346. See id. at 328.

The Supreme Court relied on Skilling to guide that analysis:

Skilling's teaching is clear. "[T]he intangible right of honest services" must be
defined with the clarity typical of criminal statutes and should not be held to reach
an ill-defined category of circumstances simply because of a smattering of pre-
McNally cases. With this lesson in mind, we tum to the question whether the
[Margiotta] theory endorsed by the lower courts in this case gave § 1346 an
uncertain breadth that raises "the due process concerns underlying the vagueness
doctrine."

Id. at 328-29 (emphasis added) (citing Skilling,561 U.S. at 408). Applying Skilling, the Supreme

Court ruled that "Margiotta ' s standard is too vague" and that the Second Circuit had erred in

concluding Margiotta was still good law after McNally. Id. at 330, see also id. at 328 ("Skilling's

approach informs our decision in this case. Here, the Second Circuit concluded that 'Congress

effectively reinstated the Margiotta-theory cases ...' [b]ut Skilling was careful to avoid giving

§ 1346 an indeterminate breadth that would sweep in any conception of 'intangible rights of honest

services' recognized by some courts prior to McNally." (emphasis added) (citation omitted)).

Indeed, the Court pointed out that Skilling itself was a case rejecting § 1346'5 application to

"undisclosed self-dealing" schemes because "the pre-McNally lower court decisions involving

such conduct were 'inconsistent][.]"' Id. (quoting Skilling,561 U.S. at410). Therefore, the lower

courts could not anchor their endorsement of the Margiotta theory on the basis that Margiotta was
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in the safe harbor of pre-McNally, honest services cases.2° Rather, the Court cautioned, "'the

intangible right of honest services' must be defined with the clarity typical of criminal statutes and

should not be held to reach an ill-defined category of circumstances simply because of a smattering

of pre-McNally decisions." Id. at 328-29 (emphasis added). Applying this standard, the Court

held that "Margiotta does not (and thus the jury instructions did not) define 'the intangible right

of honest services' 'with sufficient definiteness that ordinary people can understand what conduct

is prohibited,' or 'in a manner that does not encourage arbitrary and discriminatory enforcement.9 as

Id. at 331 (internal quotation marks omitted) (ultimately quoting Skilling,561 U.S. at 40203).

In his concurrence, Justice Gorsuch agreed with the majority's finding that the Percoco

jury instructions were too vague to pass constitutional muster, but wrote separately to caution that

"the problem runs deeper than that because no set of instructions could have made things any

better[,]" and "[t]o this day, no one knows what 'honest-services fraud' encompasses." Id. at 333

(Gorsuch, J., concurring), see also id. at 337 ("80 years after lower courts began experimenting

with the honest-services-fraud theory no one can say what sort of fiduciary relationship is enough

to sustain a federal felony conviction and decades in federal prison." (Gorsuch, J., concurring)).

He blamed Congress for the uncertainty, but also criticized the courts and prosecutors for

exacerbating the statute's uneven application:

Under our system of separated powers, the Legislative Branch must do the hard
work of writing federal criminal laws. Congress cannot give the Judiciary uncut
marble with instructions to chip away all that does not resemble David.... The
Legislature must identify the conduct it wishes to prohibit. And its prohibition must
be knowable in advance-not a lesson to be learned by individuals only when the
prosecutor comes calling or the judge debuts a novel charging instruction. Perhaps

20 See Percoco, 13 F.4th at 195-96 (noting Second Circuit's approval of Margiotta and
reasoning that because"McNally directly overruled a Sixth Circuit case ... that leaned heavily on
Margiotta's reliance-and-control theory ..., it stands to reason that Congress effectively reinstated
the Margiotta-theory cases by adopting statutory language that covered the theory" when it enacted
§ 1346).
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Congress will someday set things right by revising § 1346 to provide the clarity it
desperately needs. Until then, this Court should decline further invitations to invent
rather than interpret this law.

Id. at 337-38 (Gorsuch, J., concurring) (citations omitted). Reminiscent of Justice Scalier's

concurrence in 5/a11mg,21 Justice Gorsuch lamented the Supreme Court's efforts to define honest

services wire fraud, including the majority's decision in Percoco:

In the end, we may now know a little bit more about when a duty of honest services
does not arise, but we still have no idea when it does. It's a situation that leaves
prosecutors and lower courts in a bind. They must continue guessing what kind of
fiduciary relationships this Supreme Court will find sufficient to give rise to a duty
of honest services.

Id. at 336 (Gorsuch, J., concurring).

Today, this Court finds itself in just such a bind.

B. After Ciminelli and Percoco, § 1346 Cannot Be Construed to Encompass

Foreign Commercial Bribery

1. The Court's Parsing of the § 1346 Jurisprudence

The Court pauses to explain its understanding of the landscape of § 1346 case law from

pre-McNally through Percoco. As reflected in the earlier discussion (see supra Discussion Section

LA), decisions interpreting § 1346 have variously, and sometimes confusingly, parsed honest

services fraud with respect to four different issues: (1) the defendant 's identify, see Babel, 662 F.3d

at 632 (rejecting defense argument that honest services fraud "is effectively limited to the identity

of the actors prosecuted in the pre-McNally caselaw," and finding that "fraud actionable under

Section 1346 is limited to the nature of the offenses prosecuted in the pre-McNally cases (i.e.,

bribery and kickback schemes) not the identity of the actors involved in those cases."), (2) the

21 See Skilling, 561 U.S. at 421 (cautioning that merely clarifying "what acts constitute a
breach of the 'honest services' obligation under the pre-McNally law" does not "solve the most
fundamental indeterminacy: the character of the 'fiduciary capacity' to which the bribery and
kickback restriction applies" (Scalia, J., concurring) (emphasis added)).
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type of conduct that can give rise to honest services fraud, see Skilling, 561 U.S. at 409-12

(rejecting government's theory that "undisclosed self-dealing by a public official or private

employee" constituted honest services fraud under § 1346, and finding that bribes and kickbacks

are at the "core" of honest services fraud), (3) the source of thefiduciary duly that was breached

(or sought to be breached) by the fraud scheme, see Percoco, 598 U.S. at 330 ("'[T]he intangible

right of honest services' codified in § 1346 plainly does not extend a duty to the public to all

private persons[.]"), and (4) the location of the bribery scheme, see G'en,326 F. Supp. 2d at 506

(finding that "Congress did not intend that the intangible right to honest services encompass

bribery of foreign officials in foreign countries"), Babel, 662 F.3d at 632 (rejecting defense's

reliance on Gwen because the fraud in Babel was perpetrated against the United Nations, located

in New York).

The Court finds these distinctions useful to explain why Skilling's proclamation, that "it

has always been 'as plain as a pikestaff that' bribes and kickbacks constitute honest-services

fraud," 561 U.S. at 412 (citation omitted), does not save the § 1346 prosecution in this case.

Although Skilling clarified the type of conduct that can give rise to a § 1346 prosecution (category

two above), it did not address the source of thefduciary duty that, if breached, gives rise to such

prosecution (category three above). That is what Percoeo has now done.

22 The Court makes a related note with respect to these distinctions. Defendants previously

argued in their motions to dismiss, relying on Gwen, that § 1346 did not extend to bribery of
"foreign officials in foreign countries," Gwen,326 F. Supp. 2d at 506-which the Court construed
as an argument about the location of the alleged wire fraud conspiracy (category four above). The
Court rejected that argument, to the extent that it challenged § 1346 as being applied
extraterritorially, Full Play Gap., S.A., 2021 WL 5038765, at *8 n.5, and still does so now.
However, Percoco would seem to support Gwen's finding that the "absence of ... precedent
supporting the Government's overseas application of the intangible rights theory," Gwen, 326 F.
Supp. 2d. at 505, doomed the § 1346 prosecution because a foreign official's duty to his
government cannot be the source of the fiduciary duty for an honest services wire fraud
prosecution.
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The Court notes that earlier this week, the Second Circuit considered for the first time, in

United States v. Avenatti, whether Ciminelli and Percoco required the vacating of a Section 1346

conviction. 2023 WL 5597835, at *18 n.27. In that case, the defendant, Michael Avenatti, argued

that (1) "Ciminelli rejected a theory of liability that, like the one pursued here, 'criminalizes

traditionally civil matters and federalizes traditionally state matters[,]"' and that (2)"Pereoco ...

reaffirm[ed] that § 1346 cannot reach what was alleged here 'undisclosed self-dealing by . . .  a

private employee[.]"' Appellant's May 16, 2023 28(j) Letter at 2, United States v. Avenatti, No.

21-1778, 2023 WL 5597835 (2d Cir. Aug. 30, 2023) (internal citations omitted). Finding Ciminelli

and Percoco distinguishable, the Second Circuit rejected both arguments. As to Ciminelli, the

panel found that the case had "no bearing on Avenatti's sufficiency challenge to his conviction for

honest-services fraud" because Ciminelli was a "rejection of a 'right-to-control theory' of

'property' for purposes of satisfying the loss-of-property element of traditional fraud[.]" Avenatti,

2023 WL 5597835, at *18 n.27 (emphasis added).23

As to Percoco, the panel distinguished it on two grounds: first, that the defendant "does

not-and cannot-argue that he lacked notice that ... he owed a fiduciary duty to his client [as an

attorney,]" see supra pp. 4243 (source of fiduciary duty)24, and second, that the defendant was

23 As discussed, despite Defendants having been convicted of honest services fraud rather
than traditional fraud, the Court finds Ciminelli to be relevant-albeit not controlling-to the
Court's analysis of the issues for the reasons explained above. See supra note 3 (noting that the
Government charges Defendants under § 1343, not § 1346), see infra note 27 ("Although Ciminelli

did not involve honest services wire fraud under § 1346, the Court finds the decision relevant
because of its criticisms of prosecutions under § 1343 (which § 1346 augments)[.]").

24 Although the panel did not rely on pre-McNally precedent or cite to any honest services
cases involving a fiduciary duty between a lawyer and his client, see Avenatti, 2023 WL 5597835,
at *18 n.27 (citing United States v. Chestman, 947 F.2d 551, 568 (2d Cir. 1991) (finding that a
husband did not have a fiduciary duty to his wife in the context of a securities fraud prosecution-
which relied in part on language from Margiotta, which Percoco expressly overruled)), such pre-
McNally authority exists, albeit not specifically in the context of wire fraud prosecutions. See,

e.g., Chestman, 947 F.2d at 568 (securities fraud decision noting that "[t]he common law has
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charged and convicted under a bribery scheme not an "undisclosed self-dealing" scheme, see id.

(type of conduct). Avenatti, 2023 WL 5597835, at *18 n.27 (emphasis added) (internal citations

omitted). The Avenatti panel then went on to analyze the defendant's sufficiency challenge, which

focused on whether the type of conduct (category two) that Avenatti had engaged in satisfied the

quid pro quo and "intent to defraud" elements of honest services wire fraud. See id. at *18-21.

Thus, in Avenatti, the defendant argued that the type of conduct he engaged in did not constitute

honest services wire fraud under Percoco,and the panel rejected his argument because "solicit[ing]

a bribe from Nike" clearly fell within the type of conduct proscribed by Percoco and Skilling, i.e.,

bribery and/or kickback schemes. Id. at *17, 18 n.27, 21.

Here, by contrast, Defendants have specifically argued that the source ofthefiduciary duty,

see supra pp. 4243 (category three), that they were convicted of conspiring to breach cannot give

rise to honest services wire fraud. (Full Play Mot., Dkt. 1946-1, at 8, Lopez Mot., Dkt. 1987-1, at

9.) Moreover, in contrast to the Circuit's conclusion in Avenatti that an attorney-client relationship

is a "hornbook" fiduciary duty under § 1346, see 2023 WL 5597835, at *18 n.27,25 as discussed,

recognized that some associations are inherently fiduciary" including "those existing between
attorney and client, executor and heir ...."), Hafted v. Farkas, 498 F.2d 587, 589 (2d Cir. 1974)
(in an attorney disciplinary matter, noting that "[w]e start with a few basic premises. In New York,
as elsewhere, in addition to his other duties and obligations, a lawyer is bound to conduct himself
as a fiduciary or trustee occupying the highest position of trust and confidence ...."), Spector v.
Mermelstein, 485 F.2d 474, 479 (2d Cir. 1973) (in a negligence and violation of fiduciary duty
case, upholding judgment that the defendant attorney breached his fiduciary duty to his client
because it is a "basic principle" that such a breach occurs when an attorney "negligently or willfully
withholds from his[/her] client information material to the client's decision"), of United States v.
Scanlon, 753 F. Supp. 2d 23, 28 (D.D.C. 2010) (post-Skilling case finding "support for the
existence of a fiduciary relationship between [the attorney defendant] and his clients in both the
facts and the law" in an honest services wire fraud prosecution).

25 The Avenatti panel noted that in Skilling, the Supreme Court "concluded that persons
engaged in [fraudulent] schemes [to deprive another of honest services through bribes or kickbacks
supplied by a third party who had not been deceived] had sufficient notice of the unlawliilness of
their conduct to avoid constitutional vagueness concerns." 2023 WL 5597835, at *17 n.26. To
the extent this observation suggests a view that whenever bribery or kickbacks are involved, a
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the Circuit has expressly held that whether a foreign employer-employee relationship is a source

for a fiduciary duty under § 1346 "is a question that remains unsettled, at best[,]" Napout,963 F.3d

at 184.26 Thus, the Court finds that the Avenatti panel did not address the issues raised in this case,

and like Ciminelli, is relevant-but not authoritative in guiding its analysis of the present issues.

Application

In light of the Supreme Court's guidance in Ciminelli" and Percoco, this Court is

2.

fiduciary duty is necessarily breached, this Court believes that Percoco rebuts that reading.
Instead, Percoco requires that the fiduciary duty's existence (source of the duty) be established
separately from the bribery or kickbacks scheme (type of conduct), and moreover, that the
existence of the fiduciary duty must be established by more than a "smattering" of pre-McNally
cases. Percoco,598 U.S. at 328-29, see also id. at 330 ("' [T]he intangible right of honest services'
codified in § 1346 plainly does not extend a duty to the public to all private persons, and whether
the correct test was applied in this case returns us to Margiotta.").

26 Based on Avenatti, the Court anticipates that the Second Circuit may view Percoco as
merely clarifying who qualifies as a public official (and thus owes a duty to the public) for the
purposes off 1346. See Avenatti, 2023 WL 5597835, at *18 n.27 (describing Percoco as ruling
that trial court's § 1346 jury instruction "was unconstitutionally vague in stating the standard for
determining when a private person owes a fiduciary duty to the public" and distinguishing
Avenatti's case because "[n]o fiduciary duty to the public is at issue in this case") (emphasis
added). But this Court views Percoco as holding more broadly that whether a fiduciary duty exists,
regardless of it being to the public or a private entity, depends on whether the duty was recognized
pre-McNally-which is not the case with foreign commercial bribery. See Napout, 963 F.3d at
184 (opining that "whether a foreign employee's duty to his foreign employer qualifies as an
actionable element under § 1346 is a question that remains unsettled, at best").

27Although Ciminelli did not involve honest services wire fraud under § 1346, the Court
finds the decision relevant because of its criticisms of prosecutions under § 1343 (which § 1346
augments), that "vastly expand[] federal jurisdiction without statutory authorization," 598 U.S. at
315, and which "use property fraud statutes to set standards of disclosure and good government
for state and local officials," id. at 316 (quoting Kelly, 140 S. Ct. at 1574), and cautions against
applying § 1343 to "criminalize] traditionally civil matters and federa1iz[e] traditionally state
matters[,]" id. See also id. at 315-16 ("The theory makes a federal crime of an almost limitless
variety of deceptive actions traditionally left to state contract and tort law-in flat contradiction
with our caution that, absent a clear statement by Congress,' courts should 'not read the mail and
wire fraud statutes to place under federal superintendence a vast array of conduct traditionally
policed by the States."' (brackets omitted) (quoting Cleveland,531 U.S. at 27)), id. at 312 ("[T]he
fraud statutes do not vest a general power in 'the Federal Government ... to enforce (its view of)
integrity in broad swaths of state and local policymaking."" (quoting Kelly, 140 S. Ct. at 1574)).
This Court also finds that the Supreme Court's issuance of Ciminelli in tandem with Percoco
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compelled to reverse its previous ruling regarding § l346's scope,28 and find that the honest

services wire fraud statute does not encompass foreign commercial bribery as charged against

Defendants. While the Court recognizes that, in creating § 1346, Congress may have intended to

criminalize conduct that deprives foreign organizations of their employees' honest services, the

question before this Court is whether such conduct violates § 1346 as interpreted by the Supreme

Court in Skilling and now as further clarified in Percoco.

In Percoco, the Supreme Court was focused on the nature and source of the fiduciary duty

that could or could not give rise to a § 1346 honest services wire fraud charge. The Court held

that the Second Circuit had erroneously affirmed a jury instruction advising that the defendant

could be found to have a duty to provide honest services to the public while not serving as a public

official, if he had "dominated and controlled any government business" and if "the government

actually relied on him because of a special relationship he had with the government." Percoco,

598 U.S. at 324-25. In rejecting the Second Circuit's reasoning that "'Congress effectively

reinstated the Margiotta-theory cases by adopting statutory language [in § 1346] that covered the

theory[,]" id. at 328, the Court issued an emphatic directive:

Skilling's teaching is clear. "[T]he intangible right of honest services" must be
defined with the clarity typical of criminal statutes and should not be held to reach
an ill-defined category of circumstances simply because of a smattering of pre-
McNally decisions.

strongly suggests the Court's view that the scope of wire fraud offenses under both statutes must
be narrowed and more clearly defined to avoid unconstitutional vagueness.

28 See Full Play Grp., SA., 2021 WL 5038765, at *7 ("[T]he Court rejects the argument
that the alleged breaches of fiduciary duties in this case are as a matter of law incognizable under
§ 1346, even if the alleged duties may arise from relationships between foreign private employees
and their foreign private employers.").
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Id. at 32849.29

Here, there is not even a "smattering of pre-MeNaIIy decisions" (nor post-McNally

decisions, for that matter) that support the application of § 1346 to foreign commercial bribery.

Neither the parties nor the Court have been able to identify a single pre-McNally case applying

honest services wire fraud to foreign commercial bribery, i.e., bribery of foreign employees of

foreign non-government employers. (See Lopez Reply, Dkt. 2002, at 3 ("We are not aware of any

prior prosecution, either pre- or post-McNally ... for honest services fraud in which the scheme to

defraud involved depriving a foreign non-government employer of the honest services of its

foreign employee(s)."), Govt. Opp'n, Dkt. 1999, at 44 n.6 (noting that, "[t]o date, no Court of

Appeals or Supreme Court opinion has suggested that the fraudulent scheme as opposed to the

wire use must be domestic").) Indeed, as discussed, the Second Circuit in reviewing the Napout

convictions concluded that "whether a foreign employee's duty to his foreign employer qualifies

as an actionable element under § 1346 is a question that remains unsettled, at best." See Napout,

963 F.3d at 184, see also id. (acknowledging that neither the appellants nor the Circuit could find

any "authority directly supporting" the idea that foreign commercial bribery fell outside the scope

of § 1346). This absence of authority, when viewed in light of the Supreme Court's strongly

worded rebukes in Percoco and Ciminelli against expanding the federal wire fraud statutes,

compels this Court to find that § 1346 does not apply to foreign commercial bribery. See Skilling,

The Court further cautioned that "the pre-McNally record ... is clearest when the
Government seeks to prosecute actual public officials." Id. at 329, see also id. ("Most of the pre-
McNally honest-services prosecutions, including what appears to be the first case to adopt that
theory, involved actual public officials."), of United States v. McGee/tan, 584 F.3d 560, 569 (3d
Cir. 2009) ("Although the literal language of § 1346 extends to private sector schemes,
enforcement of an intangible right to honest services in the private sector arguably has a weaker
justification because relationships in the private sector generally rest upon concerns and
expectations less ethereal and more economic than the abstract satisfaction of receiving 'honest
services' for their own sake." (internal citations and quotation marks omitted)).

29
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561 U.S. at 410 ("Further dispelling doubt on this point is the familiar principle that 'ambiguity

concerning the ambit of criminal statutes should be resolved in favor of lenity."' (citing Cleveland,

531 U.S. at 25)). Indeed, Defendants' convictions are the casualties of the "fundamental

indeterminacy' in honest-services-fraud theory," despite decades of jurisprudence that has

struggled to "explain[] what kinds of fiduciary relationships are sufficient to trigger a duty of

honest services in the first place." Percoco,598 U.S. at 335 (Gorsuch, J., concurring), see also id.

at 334 ("Nothing in [§ 1346] attempted to resolve when the duty of honest services arises, what

sources of law create that duty, or what amounts to a breach of it." (Gorsuch, J., concurring)).

c. The Government's Objections Fail to Address Percoco, Ciminelli, and the

Absence of Pre-McNally Cases

The Government's opposition is largely grounded in arguments about why § 1346 is not

unconstitutionally vague as applied to Defendants (see generally Govt. Opp'n, Dkt. 1999, at 38-

53), which the Court will not analyze here because the issue is procedurally improper at this stage.

See Kelly,609 F. Supp. at 138. Nonetheless, the Court addresses the Government's anti-vagueness

arguments as they relate to the issue of § 1346's scope and explain why they do not overcome the

Supreme Court's directives in Percoco and Ciminelli,and the Second Circuit's holding in Napout.

First, the Government erroneously claims that Defendants are trying to relitigate the

extraterritorial reach of the wire fraud statutes. (See Govt. Opp'n, Dkt. 1999, at 44 ("Vagueness

claims are not a device by which [] Defendants may relitigate their unsuccessful arguments about

the extraterritorial reach of wire fraud statutes.").) But the Government appears to conflate the

issue of where the conduct occurred with what fiduciary duty existed. Indeed, in Napout, the

Second Circuit analyzed the two questions separately ruling that where the scheme occurred was

not an issue as long as the use of the domestic wires was "essential" and "integral" to the scheme,

Napout, 963 F.3d at 180-81, and separately examining and finding that "whether a foreign
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employee's duty to his foreign employer qualities as an actionable element under § 1346 [was] a

question that [was] unsettled, at best" (id. at 184). See also id. at 184 n.19 (explaining the

majority's "view that the issue [of § 1346's application to foreign commercial bribery] need not

be addressed under ... plain error review").

Second, the Government argues that the Court should reject any distinction between

foreign and domestic commercial bribery, claiming that "the wrongfulness of commercial bribery

is self-evident" (Gov 't Opp'n, Dkt. 1999, at 49), and relies on various bodies of law supporting an

employer-employee fiduciary relationship. (See, et., id. at 49 n.10 ("Private-sector bribery is

obviously fraudulent as a civil matter.... Separately, criminal private-sector bribery bans exist

around the world." (citations omitted)), id. at 50 (citing common law sources regarding an agent's

fiduciary duty to his/her principal), id. at 52 ("Any common-sense, common-law understanding of

corporate structures and governance leads to the conclusion that a president shall not take bribes."),

id. ("Leaving aside the cormnon-law authorities, a reasonable person in the Defendants' position

could glean the relevant duties from the ethical codes promulgated by the soccer organizations.").)

However, none of the Government's appeals to common law, state law, civil law, foreign law, or

codes of conduct, overcome the basic fact that there is no precedential authority to support the

application of this federal criminal statute, § 1346, to foreign commercial bribery, which the

Supreme Court has now made clear in Percoco is required. See Percoco, 598 U.S. at 328-29

("' [T]he intangible right of honest services' ... should not be held to reach an ill-defined category

of circumstances simply because of a smattering of pre-McNally decisions." (citation omitted)),

Ciminelli, 398 U.S. at 316 (striking down the Second Circuit's "right-to-control theory," in part,

because it "criminalizes traditionally civil matters and federalizes traditionally state matters"), id.

at 315-16 ("The theory thus makes a federal crime of an almost limitless variety of deceptive
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actions traditionally left to state contract and tort law ...."' (quoting Cleveland,531 U.S. at 27)),

of Kelly, 140 S. Ct. at 1571 (finding that defendants did not commit property fraud because "[t]he

upshot" of Skilling's limit of § 1346 to bribery and kickback schemes "is that federal fraud law

leaves much public conception to the States (or their electorates) to rectify").30 Absent this

precedent, the Court interprets Percoco as precluding the application of § 1346 to foreign

commercial bribery.

Lastly, the Government's repeated appeals to the late Judge Hall's Napout concu1*rence31

are unavailing for several reasons. First and foremost, this Court cannot rely on Judge Hall's

concurrence as guiding precedent for the scope of § 1346 when the Napout majority expressly

chose not to rule on the issue. See Napout,963 F.3d at 184, see also id. at 183-84 (explaining that

Rybicki's holding regarding § 1346's application to domestic employer-employee fiduciary duties

"[a]lthough not necessarily dispositive of the appellants' argument ... provides possible guidance"

(emphasis added) (citing United States v. Rybicki, 354 F.3d 124 (2d Cir. 2003))). Furthermore,

Judge Hall's concurrence was written before the Supreme Court's Percoco opinion. Judge Hall

principally based his finding that § 1346 encompassed foreign commercial bribery on the

assumption that foreign employment relationships, like domestic employment relationships, must

30 The Court notes that the Government's opposition brief does not address CimineIIi' s
application to Defendants' motions.

31 See, e.g., Gov 't Opp'n, Dkt. 1999, at 45 ("Whatever concerns a different prosecution
may present, fiduciary duties protected by 18 U.S.C. § 1346 are 'obviously inherent in employer-
employee relationships including the relationships in this case."' (citing Judge Hall's
concurrence)), id. at 51 ("As Judge Hall noted, a heartland example of such a source is the
'employment relationship' set forth between the soccer presidents, [sic] 'FIFA and
CONMEBOL."').
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include "reliance, and de facto control and dominance." Id. at 191 (Hall, J., concurring).

Specifically, he reasoned:

Defendants-Appellants' argument that the statute does not apply to foreign
employment relationships fares no better under our more recent precedent. "At the
heart of the fiduciary relationship lies reliance, and de facto control and
dominance." .... These characteristics are obviously inherent in employer-
employee relationships-including the relationships in this case.

Id. (Hall, J., concurring) (emphasis added) (quoting Halloran, 821 F.3d at 338). However, the

Supreme Court rejected the Percoco jury instructions precisely because a fiduciary-duty test rooted

in "dominance", "control", and "reliance" is "too vague." See Percoco,598 U.S. at 330 ("[T]he

[Percoco] trial judge told the jury that Percoco owed a duty of honest services to the public if (1)

he 'dominated and controlled any governmental business' and (2) 'people working in the

government actually relied on him because of a special relationship he had with the government.9

.... But [this] standard is too vague." (emphasis added)). Thus, although the Second Circuit may

choose to adopt Judge Hall's reasoning when it reaches the merits of this issue, their analysis will

possibly be impacted by Percoco. Moreover, regardless of the Second Circuit's eventual ruling,

at this moment, the Court has no precedential authority to rely on to hold that § 1346 covers foreign

employment relationships.32

To the extent the Court relied heavily on Babel in denying Defendants' motions to
dismiss, the Court does not believe that Babel is implicitly overruled byPercoco,because the facts
of Babel are distinguishable. In Babel, the defendant had a fiduciary duty to his U.S.-
headquartered employer, the United Nations. 662 F.3d at 632. Even assuming that the United
Nations is a commercial (versus public) entity, "more than a smattering" of pre-McNally precedent
supports the application of § 1346 to the "domestic" bribery scheme charged in that case. See,
et., id. at 633 (citing United States v. Hasenstab, 575 F.2d 1035 (2d Cir. 1978), to support the
conclusion that "Bahel's conduct falls firmly within the ambit of the type of conduct that violates
the right to honest services").

32

52



Case: 23-7183, 01/02/2024, DktEntry: 36.1, Page 156 of 160

SGA53
Case 1:15-Cr-00252-PKC Document 2023 Filed 09/01/23 Page 53 of 55 PagelD #: 36009

* * *

In sum, the Court concludes that in light of Percoco, the evidence at trial was insufficient

to sustain Defendants' honest services wire fraud convictions under § 1346 because the statute

does not apply to foreign commercial bribery schemes. As a result, Defendants' convictions for

money laundering, predicated on their honest services wire fraud convictions, also cannot be

sustained. The Court therefore grants Defendants' motions to acquit on all counts of conviction."

II. Lopez's Conditional Request for New Trial is Denied

In the event that the Court's judgment of acquittal is later vacated or reversed, Lopez asks

the Court to conditionally grant his motion for a new trial pursuant to Rule 29(d)(1). (Lopez Mot.,

Dkt. 1987-1, at 18.) Rule 29(d)(1) provides, in relevant part:

(1) Motion for a New Trial. If the court enters a judgment of acquittal after a guilty
verdict, the court must also conditionally determine whether any motion for a new
trial should be granted if the judgment of acquittal is later vacated or reversed. The
court must specify the reasons for that determination.

Fed. R. Crim. P. 29(d)(1). Rule 29(d)(3l additionally provides:

(A) Grant of a Motion for a New Trial. If the court conditionally grants a motion
for a new trial and an appellate court later reverses the judgment of acquittal, the
trial court must proceed with the new trial unless the appellate court orders
otherwise.

(B) Denial of a Motion for a New Trial. If the court conditionally denies a motion
for a new trial, an appellate may assert that the denial was erroneous. If the appellate

court later reverses the judgment of acquittal, the trial court must proceed as the
appellate court directs.

Fed. R. Crim. P. 29(d)(3).

33 The Court notes that it is premature to opine on this Memorandum and Order's effect on
the convictions of defendants in this case who have previously pled guilty or been convicted under
§ 1346. However, the Court stays all upcoming sentencings in this case until appellate review, if
any, is concluded.
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The same standard that governs whether to grant a new trial under Rule 33 applies to

determining whether to conditionally grant a new trial under Rule 29(d). See, e.g., United States

v. Finnerty, 474 F. Supp. 2d 530, 545 (S.D.N.Y. 2007) (applying Rule 33 standard in conditional

granting of new trial under Rule 29(d)(1)), United States v. Davis, No. 13-CR-923 (LAP), 2017

WL 3328240, at *24 (S.D.N.Y. Aug. 3, 2017) (same). Under Rule 33, the Court may "vacate any

judgment and grant a new trial if the interest of justice so requires." Fed. R. Crim. P. 33(a).

Here, if the Court's judgment of acquittal is reversed or vacated by the Second Circuit, it

would presumably be on the ground that § 1346 does encompass foreign commercial bribery, at

which point, the Circuit would either review de novo Lopez's other arguments in support of his

Rule 29 motion, or remand to this Court to do SO. If the Circuit rejects on de novo review all of

Lopez's other Rule 29 arguments thereby affirming his conviction no new trial would be

warranted. If, on the other hand, the Circuit were to remand to this Court to review Lopez's other

arguments and the Court were to find the evidence sufficient, no new trial would occur.

Conversely, if the Court were to find the evidence insufficient (and Lopez thereby acquitted) on

remand, it would be the Government, not Lopez, who would potentially seek a new trial. Thus, at

this stage, the Court will not conditionally grant a new trial because there is no circumstance under

which it would be in Lopez's interest, or in the interest of justice, for a new trial to automatically

occur in the event that the Circuit reverses or vacate the Court's acquittal of Defendants'

convictions .
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CONCLUSION

For the above reasons, Full Play's and Lopez's motion for a judgment of acquittal is granted

but Lopez's request for a new trial, in the event this judgment is vacated or reversed, is denied.

SO ORDERED.

Is/Pamela K. Chen

Pamela K. Chen
United States District Judge

Dated: September 1, 2023
Brooklyn, New York
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18 USC 1343: Fraud by wire, radio, or television

Text contains those laws in effect on January 1, 2024

From Title 18-CRIMES AND CRIMINAL PROCEDURE

PART I-CRIMES
CHAPTER 63-MAIL FRAUDAND OTHER FRAUD OFFENSES

Jump To:
Source Credit
Miscellaneous
Amendments

§1343. Fraud by wire, radio, or television
Whoever, having devised or intending to devise any scheme or artifice to defraud, or for obtaining money or property by means of false or fraudulent pretenses,

representations, or promises, transmits or causes to be transmitted by means of wire, radio, or television communication in interstate or foreign commerce, any writings, signs,
signals, pictures, or sounds for the purpose of executing such scheme or artifice, shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than 20 years, or both. If the violation
occurs in relation to, or involving any benefit authorized, transported, transmitted, transferred, disbursed, or paid in connection with, a presidentially declared major disaster or
emergency (as those terms are defined in section 102 of the Robert T. Stafford Disaster Relief and Emergency Assistance Act (42 U.S.C. 5122)), or affects a financial
institution, such person shall be fined not more than $1,000,000 or imprisoned not more than 30 years, or both.

(Added July 16, 1952, oh. 879, §18(3)l 66 Stat. 722 1 amended July 11, 1956, oh. 561, 70 Stat. 523 1 Pub. L. 101-73, title IX, §961(i)I Aug. 9, 1989, 103 Stat. 500 1 Pub. L.
101-647, title XXV, §2504(i), Nov. 29, 1990, 104 Stat. 4861 1 Pub. L. 103-322, title Xxxlll, §330016(1)(H), Sept. 13, 1994, 108 Stat. 2147 1 Pub. L. 107-204, title lx, §903(b),
July 30, 2002, 116 Stat. 805 1 Pub. L. 110-179, §3, Jan. 7, 2008, 121 Stat. 2557 .)

EDITORIAL NOTES

AM ENDM ENTS

2008-Pub. L. 110-179 inserted "occurs in relation to, or involving any benefit authorized, transported, transmitted, transferred, disbursed, or paid in
connection with, a presidentially declared major disaster or emergency (as those terms are defined in section 102 of the Robert T. Stafford Disaster Relief
and Emergency Assistance Act (42 U.S.C. 5122)), or" after "If the violation".

2002-Pub. L. 107-204 substituted "20 years" for "five years".
1994-Pub. L. 103-322 substituted "fined under this title" for "fined not more than $1,000".
1990-Pub. L. 101-647 substituted "30" for "20" before "years"-
19B9-Pub. L. 101-73 inserted at end "If the violation affects a financial institution, such person shall be fined not more than $1 ,000,000 or imprisoned not

more than 20 years, or both."
1956-Act July 11, 1956, substituted "transmitted by means of wire, radio, or television communication in interstate or foreign commerce" for "transmitted

by means of interstate wire, radio, or television communication".
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18 USC 1346: Definition of "scheme or artifice to defraud"
Text contains those laws in effect on January 1, 2024

From Title 18-CRIMES AND CRIMINAL PROCEDURE
PART I-CRIMES
CHAPTER 63-MAIL FRAUD AND OTHER FRAUD OFFENSES

Jump To:
Source Credit

§1346. Definition of "scheme or artifice to defraud"
For the purposes of this chapter, the term "scheme or artifice to defraud" includes a scheme or artifice to deprive another of the intangible right of honest services.

(Added Pub. L. 100-690, title vii, §7603(a), Nov. 18, 1988, 102 Stat. 4508 .)


